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401 South Carson Street
Carson City, Nevada, 89701

Advisory:  The east entrance to the Legislative Building in Carson City is now open. All persons attending the meeting in
Carson City must enter the building through the east entrance. All other entrances are closed to the public.

To provide public comment or testimony telephonically, dial (888) 475-4499 on the date of the meeting. When prompted,
provide Meeting ID 860 6895 0013, and then press #. When prompted for a Participant ID, press #.

Additionally, this meeting can be listened to or viewed live over the Internet. The address for the Nevada Legislature’s
website is https://www.leg.state.nv.us. Click on the link: “Scheduled Meetings.”

We are pleased to provide reasonable accommodation for members of the public with a disability. If accommodations for
the meeting are necessary, please notify the Fiscal Analysis Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau, in writing, at
Fiscal@Icb.state.nv.us, or call the Fiscal Analysis Division at (775) 684-6821, as soon as possible.

Please provide the meeting secretary with electronic or written copies of testimony and visual presentations if you
wish to have complete versions included as exhibits with the minutes. Copies of testimony and visual presentations
may also be emailed to REVinterim@Icb.state.nv.us; mailed to the Fiscal Analysis Division, 401 South Carson St.,
Carson City, NV 89701; or faxed to (775) 684-6475.

Items on this agenda may be taken in a different order than listed. Two or more agenda items may be combined for
consideration. An item may be removed from this agenda or discussion relating to an item on this agenda may be
delayed at any time.
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VI.

VILI.

VIII.

ROLL CALL.
OPENING REMARKS.
PUBLIC COMMENT.

Public testimony under this agenda item may be presented in person, by phone, or by written comment.

Because of time considerations, each person offering testimony during this period of public comment
will be limited to not more than 3 minutes. To call in to provide testimony during this period of
public comment in the meeting any time after 8:30 a.m. on Tuesday, August 27, 2024, dial
(888) 475-4499. When prompted to provide the Meeting ID, please enter 860 6895 0013 and then
press #. When prompted for a Participant ID, please press #. To resolve any issues related to dialing
in to provide public comment for this meeting, please call (775) 684-6990.

A person may also have comments added to the minutes of the meeting by submitting them in writing
either in addition to testifying or in lieu of testifying. Written comments may be submitted electronically
before, during, or after the meeting by email to REVInterim@lcb.state.nv.us. You may also mail written
documents to the Fiscal Analysis Division, 401 South Carson St., Carson City, NV 89701, or fax them
to (775) 684-6475.

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 28, 2024, MEETING.

OVERVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF THE TAXATION OF DIGITAL GOODS.
Eric Syverson, Senior Policy Specialist, Fiscal Affairs Program, National
Conference of State Legislatures

OVERVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF HEATED TOBACCO PRODUCTS.

Eddie Ableser, Chief Executive Officer, Tri-Strategies, Ltd.

Chris Newbry, Director of Fiscal Affairs U.S., Philip Morris International (PMI)
Global Services, Inc.

Brian Erkkila, Ph.D., Director of Scientific Engagement U.S., PMI Global
Services, Inc.

Alexandra Wich, Senior Manager, State Regulatory and Public Policy, PMI
Global Services, Inc.

STATUS REPORT ON THE BUDGET STRESS TEST REQUIRED TO BE
PERFORMED DURING EACH EVEN-NUMBERED YEAR PURSUANT TO
NRS 218F.600(2)(f).

WORK SESSION — DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON
RECOMMENDATIONS RELATING TO:

A. Workforce Development

B. Economic Development

C. Use of Artificial Intelligence by the Department of Taxation

REPORT AND DISCUSSION OF FY 2024 YEAR-TO-DATE ACTUAL
COLLECTIONS COMPARED TO THE ECONOMIC FORUM MAY 1, 2023,

FORECAST, ADJUSTED FOR LEGISLATIVE ACTIONS APPROVED
DURING THE 2023 SESSION AND THE 34™ AND 35™ SPECIAL SESSIONS.
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XI.

PUBLIC COMMENT.

Public testimony under this agenda item may be presented in person, by phone, or by written comment.

Because of time considerations, each person offering testimony during this period of public comment
will be limited to not more than 3 minutes. To provide public testimony by telephone during this period
of public comment, members of the public may call any time after the Chair announces this second
period of public comment on Tuesday, August 27, 2024. To call in, dial (888) 475-4499. When
prompted to provide the Meeting ID, please enter 860 6895 0013 and then press #. When prompted
for a Participant ID, please press #. To resolve any issues related to dialing in to provide
public comment for this meeting, please call (775) 684-6990.

A person may also have comments added to the minutes of the meeting by submitting them in writing
either in addition to testifying or in lieu of testifying. Written comments may be submitted electronically
before, during, or after the meeting by email to REVInterim@lcb.state.nv.us. You may also mail written
documents to the Fiscal Analysis Division, 401 South Carson St., Carson City, NV 89701, or fax them
to (775) 684-6475.

ADJOURNMENT.

Notice of this meeting was posted at the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, NV 89701 ; at the Nevada Legislature

Office Building, 7230 Amigo Street, Las Vegas, NV _89119; and on the Internet through the Nevada Legislature’s website at

www.leg.state.nv.us.

Supporting public material provided to Committee members for this meeting may be requested from Maria Montes or Bronwyn Johnson,
Fiscal Secretary, Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative Counsel Bureau, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, NV 89701, at (775) 684-6821
or by email at REVInterim@Icb.state.nv.us. Supporting public material for this meeting is/will also be available through the Nevada

Legislature’s website at www.leg.state.nv.us. Click on the link “Scheduled Meetings” followed by “Joint Interim Standing Committee on

Revenue.”
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MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 28, 2024,
MEETING OF THE
JOINT INTERIM STANDING COMMITTEE ON REVENUE

Chair Shea Backus called a meeting of the Joint Interim Standing Committee on Revenue
to order at 9:05 a.m. on February 28, 2024, in Room 4401 of the Grant Sawyer Building,
555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada. The meeting was videoconferenced
to Room 4100 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:
Assemblywoman Shea Backus, Chair
Senator Dina Neal, Vice Chair
Senator Fabian Dohate

Senator Heidi Seevers Gansert
Assemblywoman Venicia Considine
Assemblyman Gregory T. Hafen, Il
Assemblyman David Orentlicher
Assemblyman Toby Yurek

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU STAFF PRESENT:

Michael Nakamoto, Chief Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division
Susanna Powers, Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division

Christian Thauer, Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division

Joe Steigmeyer, Senior Deputy Legislative Counsel, Legal Division

Bryan Fernley, Chief Deputy Legislative Counsel, Legal Division

Tom Weber, Committee Secretary, Fiscal Analysis Division

Maria Montes, Committee Secretary, Fiscal Analysis Division

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A: Meeting Packet
Exhibit B: Public Comment—Austin Osborne, Storey County Commissioners’ Office
Exhibit C:  Agenda Item V—Las Vegas Global Economic Alliance Revised Presentation

l. ROLL CALL.

MARIA MONTES (Committee Secretary, Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative Counsel
Bureau [LCB]) called the roll. All the members were present.

Il OPENING REMARKS.
CHAIR BACKUs made housekeeping remarks.
. PUBLIC COMMENT.

AUSTIN OsSBORNE (County Manager, Storey County Commissioners’ Office) provided
public comment for the record (Exhibit B):



Senate Bill (S.B.) 1 of the 28™ (2014) Special Session accelerated Nevada’s position in
becoming a world leader in advanced manufacturing, technology development, and
economic sustainability. Storey County is home to three projects that are incentivized by
S.B. 1 and has experienced benefits as well as challenges with the projects.
Two companies receiving S.B. 1 abatements have brought to the Reno-Sparks area and
to the State of Nevada billions of dollars’ worth of economic activity, over $100 million in
tax revenue, and economic diversification, urban renewal, and sustainable careers that
will last for generations. Storey County anticipates about $15 million return-on-investment
in 2025 following 10 years of 100% property tax abatements. These revenues may
enable the county to upgrade its 19" century infrastructure, repair dilapidated facilities,
and pay off debt.

However, S.B. 1 programs also bring challenges to counties, fire districts, and other host
jurisdictions, such as:

e For 10 years, host jurisdictions must provide potentially underfunded services.
e Decisions to approve abatements do not include the host jurisdictions.

e Hostjurisdictions may only participate during public comment of meetings considering
abatements.

e Host jurisdictions have little to no authority to decline a project approved by the state
regardless of the situation that it finds itself in.

Senate Bill 1 should be evaluated to: enable host jurisdictions to be treated as
stakeholders in the decision-making process, allow host jurisdictions to require contracts
defraying costs of public services, and authorize host jurisdictions to have the final
decision authority in accepting or denying a project.

Storey County respectfully requests an opportunity to share with this Committee its
experiences, good and bad, over the past decade with the S.B. 1 programs.

Iv. OVERVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF STATEWIDE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMS AND INCENTIVES ADMINISTERED BY THE GOVERNOR’S
OFFICE OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT.

Tom BURNS (Executive Director, Governor’s Office of Economic Development [GOED]):

A history regarding what has been going on in the last year relating to economic
development begins on page 5 of the meeting packet (Exhibit A). GOED was founded by
the 76" (2011) Legislature in response to the devastating outcomes of the
Great Recession of 2007, with the outcomes then being reinforced again by the
COVID-19 pandemic crisis. Nevada is concentrating on long-term and consistent efforts
to diversify the hospitality industry that has served the state so well; however, the industry
is susceptible to economic downturns.

The mission of GOED (page 8, Exhibit A) is to provide a diverse, innovative, sustainable,
and resilient economy. GOED’s new mission was launched this month along with its new
branding program and user-friendly website. These steps are a significant milestone in
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GOED'’s journey, showcasing its critical involvement in developing Nevada as a champion
for good jobs today and better jobs tomorrow through the engine of economic
development. The brand and website reflect the portrait of Nevada'’s thriving business
and economy. There are also strategic tools designed to support companies in their
relocation process.

BoB PoTTs (Deputy Director, GOED):

This presentation is set up so that GOED can explain where Nevada has been
economically, where it is going, and how GOED plans to get there. This will be a team
effort and having the support of the Committee is important to GOED.

The top section of page 10, (Exhibit A) refers to what happened during the downturn
brought by the COVID-19 pandemic. In April 2020, Nevada lost over 330,000 jobs and
the statewide unemployment rate was 28.5%; however, these numbers were not the
same across all the state’s industries, as different regions of Nevada experienced different
impacts because of the downturn and efforts to keep people safe. The highest
unemployment rate on record across the United States was in Las Vegas at 34.0%. In
Reno, the unemployment rate went up to 20.3%. It took 11 months for the Las Vegas
metropolitan statistical area (MSA) and 4 months for the Reno MSA to get to single-digit
unemployment rates, and it took 43 months for the Las Vegas MSA to reach full
employment. From an economist’s perspective, the Las Vegas MSA has not gotten back
to full employment, as it must have an unemployment rate at or below 5.0% to be
classified as such. The Reno MSA went down to a 3.9% unemployment rate in less than
a year. The measures on the bottom section of page 10 are the undeniable success
outcomes of a strategic economic development and diversification strategy.

Looking at the procyclical nature of Nevada’s economy (page 11, Exhibit A), Nevada has
higher highs and lower lows than the national average regarding its business cycle. As
shown on page 11, Nevada lost 186,000 jobs during the Great Recession, reaching a
trough of 1,112,400 jobs in September 2010. It took 10 years for Nevada to gain the
332,000 jobs it had during its pre-pandemic peak, but in a matter of six weeks, the state
lost all these jobs due to the COVID-19 pandemic. It was not until June 2022 that Nevada
got back to its pre-pandemic peak number of jobs; currently, the state is about
139,000 jobs above that peak. While the chart on page 11 captures aggregate jobs, the
structural differences between industries matter. Industries recovered jobs and grew
differently, which was largely driven by the changes and downturns that occurred because
of the pandemic.

The slide on page 12 (Exhibit A) is an index of national and state jobs. Again, this shows
how Nevada has higher highs and lower lows than the national average. For example,
look at the fewer number of jobs Nevada had during the Great Recession compared to
the U.S. Now, Nevada is at a high spot, and it has been for some time, but cycles happen.
GOED considers how Nevada would fare going through another inevitable economic
downturn and wants to create a sustainable and resilient economy to address that.



While it is great to be able to measure Nevada against itself over time and see the
changes and successes it has had, it is also important to compare Nevada to its peer
regions. The map on page 13 (Exhibit A) displays the Hachman Index scores for each
state, which measures the degree of a state’s economic diversification. If the
Hachman Index equals 100%, it means all slices of a state’s industry pie are the same
size. Compared to the same target industries for states that Nevada competes with,
Arizona is at 96.4%, Colorado is at 93.8%, and Utah is at 95.6%. Nevada, on the other
hand, is at 74.5%, which means it is lopsided. When an industry is very procyclical, it is
good when things are good, but it is tough when things are tough.

The information on page 14 (Exhibit A) is from a Southern Nevada regional industrial
study done by Brookings Mountain West and the Center for Business and Economic
Research of the University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV); it is a publication GOED plans
to release soon. On the Hachman Index, the Las Vegas MSA is at 69% compared to
adjacent MSAs from Denver, Colorado; Phoenix, Arizona; and Salt Lake City, Utah, which
are in the 90" percentile. In terms of job growth, change in gross domestic product, and
young firm growth, the Las Vegas MSA ranks 23 out of 56 MSAs with populations of at
least one million residents from 2011 to 2021. Salt Lake City ranks 5™, Denver ranks 6™,
and Phoenix ranks 13". Regarding the prosperity index, which is the change in productivity,
wages, and standard of living, the Las Vegas MSA ranks 50". Again, this is why it is
important to compare Nevada against peer regions to see how competitive it truly is.

The chart on page 15 (Exhibit A) is an index of the industry diversity in Nevada counties.
As mentioned previously, this explains how the Reno MSA bounced back faster during
the COVID-19 downturn because of its industry mix. As shown, Washoe County has an
industry diversity index of 89.4%. Even though over 70% of the economy is in
Southern Nevada and one would expect it to have more diversity, the industry diversity
index for Clark County is 64.2%. All the rest of the Nevada counties are lower than that,
especially the rural counties who have a large mining influence; the rural counties have
“all their eggs in one basket.”

The chart on page 16 (Exhibit A) is the location quotient over time, and it shows the
relative concentration of workers in an industry compared to the national average. If a
sector is above the horizontal line, there are more workers in that industry than the
national average. If a sector is below the horizontal line, there are less workers in that
industry than the national average. Any sector to the left of the vertical line means that
industry is growing slower than the nation. Any sector to the right of the vertical line
means that industry is growing faster than the nation.

Hospitality, tourism, sports, and creative industries are mature industries. While Nevada
is two times larger than the national average for workers in those industries, it is falling
behind due to different offshore gaming locations in places such as Singapore and Macau,
China. Nevada has one star industry which is mining, which is almost three times larger
than the national average. Mining is a great industry that is amazing for Nevada; however,
it is only 15,000 jobs. GOED has been focusing on the emerging industries, such as
advanced manufacturing, information and technology, logistics and operations, and
natural resources and technology. Education and health care are also included because
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they are community development target sectors and are needed for economic development
target sectors.

If GOED were to do a chart like this for Southern Nevada, it would look similar because
Southern Nevada encompasses 70% of Nevada’s economy. If GOED were to do a chart
like this for Northern Nevada, the star industries would be advanced manufacturing,
logistics and operations, and natural resources and technology.

It is important to talk about the structural change that happened because of the pandemic,
which created natural diversification in a way that economic development would not have
done on its own. On the chart on page 17 (Exhibit A), the red bars reflect the number of
jobs that were lost between February 2020 and May 2020. The blue bars reflect the
number of jobs that have been regained since May 2020—if a blue bar is longer than a
red bar, there is a green label on the left axis of the chart.

As shown, there are only three sectors that still have less jobs than they did before the
pandemic. For example, accommodation and food services are down 300 jobs. Looking
at just the accommodation portion, it is down 20,000 jobs. Those are jobs that were lost
because the accommodation and food industries reinvented themselves by using
automation or self-service. However, the number of jobs has grown in other industries
such as construction, manufacturing, professional and business services, and
transportation, warehousing, and utilities. A lot of that has to do with how consumers
spend their dollars, such as towards online shopping. Nevada is located next to the
fifth largest economy in the world (California), and it has the opportunity to intercept those
dollars.

MR. BURNS:

About a year ago, GOED produced a new state plan (page 15, Exhibit A) to identify the
opportunities for Nevada that primarily centered around five sections: (1) population and
talent, (2) diversification, (3) innovation, (4) infrastructure and quality of life, and
(5) Nevada’s economic geography. GOED aims to showcase high-paying jobs and
growing industries, such as advanced manufacturing, information technology, natural
resources, tourism and creative industries, and transportation and logistics.
SRI International performed a strength, weakness, opportunities, and threats (SWOT)
analysis to identify the opportunities in emerging industries and diversification within
mature industries, create a strategy action plan to help GOED move forward, and
establish a leadership plan for inclusion and growth.

The outcome of the SWOT analysis focused on realizing Nevada’s electric, innovative,
and connected future, and its plan to move forward over the last year (page 20, Exhibit A).
Now, GOED has dedicated positions within its office working on building an infrastructure
necessary for a connected Nevada, such as supporting development of multimodal inland
ports, identifying investment in freight rail, supporting planned airport-related infrastructure
developments, and supporting the expansion of broadband and 5G infrastructure. In the
electric space, GOED works closely with the Governor’'s Office of Energy, and the
two agencies will soon be housed within the same building. GOED staff is appointed to
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the Regional Transmission Coordination Task Force and the Nevada Clean Energy Fund
Board. Electric vehicles and innovation are the highlights of last year.

Last year demonstrated the imperative role that the state-funded Knowledge Fund
(page 21, Exhibit A) played in assisting research institutions in securing major federal
funding and designations. GOED is excited to have received two grants from the
National Science Foundation (NSF) as well as a Regional Technology and Innovation
Hubs (Tech Hubs) Designation from the U.S. Economic Development Administration (EDA).

The Tech Hubs Designation (page 22, Exhibit A) was awarded to the University of
Nevada, Reno (UNR). It was selected as 1 of only 31 out of 400 designations. The tech
hub will cover 16 Nevada counties and will follow the Innovation Based Economic
Development approach that is supported by the Knowledge Fund. The second application
for a Tech Hubs Designation will be submitted for $75 million over the next five years.
Karsten Heise, Senior Director of Strategic Programs and Innovation at GOED, has been
a great advocate for Nevada and has been working diligently on that application.

GOED has had success in the NSF Engines awards (page 23, Exhibit A). The NSF has
two types of awards: the development award (Type 1) and the NSF Regional Innovation
Engines award (Type 2). The Type 1 award was awarded to UNR in May 2023, which
lays the groundwork for its proposal to launch a full-scale engine. In January 2024, UNLV
and the Desert Research Institute, in partnership with Arizona and Utah, were awarded
$15 million for the next two years for the first ever NSF Regional Innovation Engines
award, which has the potential to receive up to $160 million over the next decade. The
Knowledge Fund has been critical in receiving both awards, especially in securing funding
for the Type 2 applications.

In 2023, UNLV secured two Build to Scale grants from the EDA (page 24, Exhibit A). The
Knowledge Fund was able to match $500,000 in funding for the grants. Build to Scale
grants are designed to increase regional capacity to strengthen ecosystems that equitably
and inclusively support diverse technology innovators, entrepreneurs, and startups. The
Economic Development Authority of Western Nevada (EDAWN), GOED, UNLV, and UNR
are part of the public/private economic development partnership, which annually provides
instruction and mentorship to 55 high tech innovation startups and investments to 25 new
startups. GOED’s State Small Business Credit Initiative (SSBCI) State Sponsored
Venture Capital Program will co-invest in some of those deals.

The SSBCI (page 25, Exhibit A) is not a grant. It provides and facilitates equitable access
to credit for small businesses. GOED worked with Senator Neal to provide outreach to
small businesses in North Las Vegas and with Assemblywoman Angie Taylor on a similar
program. States have flexibility in designing most programs but transactions for small
businesses must include private sector financing, co-lending, and investment of at least
1:1 at all times and a 10:1 leverage goal for the entire state program and its duration.

The slide on page 26 (Exhibit A) displays how Nevada has moved forward since
World War Il and the various stages of the GOED programs on the maturity scale today.



GOED has several economic development tools it uses on an ongoing basis. The tax
incentives listed under the Business Development Tools category (page 28, Exhibit A)
are the tools most often utilized by GOED when collaborating with the eight regional
development authorities (RDAs) across the state. Though those tools are the ones most
often used, they are not the only tools utilized. There are several programs that bring
federal funds into Nevada which GOED uses to help the RDAs operate innovation and
small businesses in the state’s rural communities.

Nevada tax incentives (page 30, Exhibit A) are part of the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS)
and are partial abatements. Taxes are still paid during the process and tax incentives are
required to sunset after a specific period. Once the tax incentives are done, the company
will pay the same taxes as all other Nevada businesses. Tax incentives are only for
companies that meet eligibility standards under NRS. Companies are audited by the
Department of Taxation on a two- and five-year basis. Should the company be deemed
to be non-compliant, the abated taxes are recaptured by the department. As of 2022,
Nevada has a 97% recapture rate—there was one Boulder City company that declared
bankruptcy a few years ago, or else the recapture rate would be at 100%. Companies
are vetted for positive impact return on investment, meaning those companies do not
have an impact on the economy and bring in jobs and ancillary effects. Companies apply
through the RDAs prior to presenting to GOED for approval.

Tax incentives are not a complete break from taxes (page 31, Exhibit A) and are not
checks written directly to companies. GOED does not negotiate abatements, as tax
incentives are described within the NRS, and it does not provide abatements in perpetuity.

Since GOED’s standard abatement process accounts for 91.4% of the abatements used
in Nevada, | would like to provide a brief overview (page 32, Exhibit A). There are three taxes
included in GOED’s standard abatement incentive package: (1) the State 2.0% Sales and
Use Tax, which can go as low as 2% for two years; (2) the Modified Business Tax (MBT),
which is half of the 1.17% rate on quarterly wages exceeding $50,000 for the duration of
four years; and (3) the Personal Property Tax, which is not to exceed 50% of abatement
for the period of ten years.

To be eligible for abatements in Nevada (page 33, Exhibit A), companies must be paying
full-time wages. The weighted average wage must meet the statewide average hourly
wage provided by the Department of Employment, Training and Rehabilitation (DETR).
GOED wants to encourage businesses to locate into counties experiencing extreme
economic duress, which is defined as a 7% unemployment rate. When that happens,
GOED offers a full abatement package at 85% to 99% of the state hourly wage so that it
also enhances the reduced abatement as well. County unemployment rates are
calculated on a 12-month moving average to account for normal seasonal swings.

Companies must also meet either the applicable employment or capital investment
requirements. Those requirements differ based on rural or urban areas and on whether
the company is new or expanding. Companies must offer health benefits that cover 65%
or more of the premium costs and the plan must be compliant with the Affordable Care
Act (ACA). Moreover, companies should generate more than 50% of revenue from the
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project outside of the state because GOED wants them to bring dollars into the state.
Looking back 13 years ago, towards the end of the Great Recession, Nevada looked to
other states to fund jobs in the state. The idea is that if companies export the money, it
will flow into Nevada, be spent locally, and engage Nevada’s economy. Lastly, companies
are required to be in business in Nevada for at least five years.

As | mentioned, there are two different employment and capital investment requirements
based on rural or urban areas and on whether the company is new or expanding (page 34,
Exhibit A). Clark and Washoe Counties are urban areas, and all other counties fall under
the rural category. A new company in a rural area must provide at least ten employees
and have an investment of no less than $1 million. Urban areas must provide at least
50 employees and have an investment of at least $5 million.

While 91.4% of the abatements GOED has provided are standard abatements, there are
some additional abatement programs (page 35, Exhibit A). As shown, there has been
some opportunity and activity in the data centers. There are 8 data centers—4 in
Clark County and 4 in Storey County—that provide about 284 jobs and 573 construction
jobs with an hourly wage of $29, which is the current state average.

There are three transferable tax credit options (page 37, Exhibit A). GOED can offer
certificates of eligibility for qualifying film productions, general economic development,
qualifying projects with a capital investment of at least $1 billion (commonly known as the
Faraday Future program), and the $3.5 billion investment whose lifecycle ended on
June 30, 2022, which was taken by Tesla, Inc.

| am going to briefly provide an overview of the specific investments the state has made,
particularly regarding Tesla. The total abatements for 2022 for the Tesla Gigafactory were
$50.2 million (page 39, Exhibit A). The tax credits for the entire life of the program were
$195 million. Through that program, Nevada has received a net revenue of $1.9 billion
and a capital investment of over $6.5 billion. There are 9,200 jobs at Tesla with an
average hourly wage of $42.35. Construction jobs have generated $1.5 billion in salaries
and wages for the construction period of the gigafactory. As it relates to robotics, Tesla
has made an investment in K-12 science, technology, engineering, arts, mathematics,
and robotics education; reached 130,000 students; and trained more than 1,300 teachers
in Nevada. Tesla has partnered with 50 nonprofits and community organizations throughout
the state, advancing its education and workforce development initiatives.

The abatement program that was signed on January 12, 2024, for the Tesla Semi truck
and battery factory will commence once the Department of Taxation has put it in its new
system. The first annual report, which is a third-party audit, will provide outcomes for
Fiscal Year (FY) 2024. To provide some project highlights (page 40, Exhibit A):

e Itis a $3.6 billion high-volume electric semitruck and battery manufacturing facility.

e Itis a 100-gigawatt hour 4680 battery cell manufacturing plant that will service over
1.5 million vehicles per year.

e The facility is 4 million square feet and 3 stories high.



e There are 3,000 jobs being added at a wage of $33.50.

e With construction being over $40 billion, 89% of the economic activity in Storey and
Washoe Counties will be supporting a population of over 12,000 people in that process.

Redwood Materials is a company formed in Carson City (page 43, Exhibit A). It is a
recycling and technology manufacturing processing company with a capital investment of
over $1 billion. Redwood Materials has partnered with Western Nevada College in
piloting a program for battery disassembly. It is one of the great treasures of the state in
its ability to educate and train our populace to improve its economic outcome.

Page 41 (Exhibit A) displays the impact of GOED’s tax incentive programs on local
economies.

Looking at Storey County (page 42, Exhibit A), GOED’s tax incentive programs were
responsible for 0.4% of statewide gross domestic product (GDP) in 2012; by 2021, it had
grown to 1.4%. While nationwide GDP grew at a rate of 23.5%, Storey County’s GDP
grew 294% in that same period. In 2003, manufacturing represented 10.2% of
Storey County's GDP and by 2020, it was almost 66%. In other terms, manufacturing
went from being one-tenth of GDP to two-thirds of GDP. While Storey County’s overall
GDP grew by 294%, manufacturing in the country grew by a total of 2,400%.

Based on page 45 (Exhibit A), the overall net advantage for the taxpayer has improved
the economy each year. The slide on page 46 (Exhibit A) shows the economic impact on
Nevada and how tax incentives have contributed to the overall General Fund.

The slide on page 47 (Exhibit A) displays the number of jobs, the average hourly wage,
and investments from FY 2012 through FY 2024 year to date (YTD). Of note, there is a
significant rise in the average hourly wage for abated companies at $36.12.

Of the 73 companies approved for abatements in FY 2022 through FY 2024 YTD
(page 48, Exhibit A), 43 are in Clark County, 13 are in Storey County, 6 are in Washoe
County, and 11 are in other rural counties. To reiterate, the average wage in Nevada has
grown significantly and the total number of employees affected by incentivized companies
is significant.

GOED would like to thank the Committee for its support over the last few years. | will
highlight some successes (page 51, Exhibit A). The Workforce Innovation for a New
Nevada (WINN) fund provides critical strategic investments with $5.8 million helping to
operate ten programs. GOED has significant relationships with Nevada community
colleges, which is a great success for the whole of the state, allowing the ability to train
and provide people with the resources, tools, and talents necessary to move to a better
spot in life.

In Winnemucca, a new accredited curriculum on instrumentation technology is scheduled
to launch at the Great Basin College (GBC) with a qualified instructor. The program will
have the capacity for 16 students. On April 9, 2024, the Panasonic Advance
Manufacturing Training Center of the Truckee Meadows Community College (TMCC) will
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have its grand opening and ribbon cutting in Northern Nevada. In the last three months,
the TMCC Dean and the Vice President of Academic Affairs have met with Nevada gold
mines to discuss training for incumbent workers and a work-based learning pipeline in
employment. The Dean is also writing an expansion for the diesel program into an EDA
Tech Hubs fund project. The workforce development has included the training program
in the list of curriculum assets as part of the asset mapping program through the NSF
engine Type 1 grant for which the TMCC Dean is a copilot. The most recent retention
numbers available show that the fall-to-spring retention of students in the transportation
department is at 79% compared to 75% in other programs collegewide. The fall-to-fall
retention is at 76% versus 61% collegewide.

The Nevada Main Street program provides funding for rural and small towns throughout
the state to provide them with the ability to spruce up their downtown and make it an area
where people can congregate and support local businesses. Nevada Main Street has
conducted 2 strategic planning opportunities in 5 different towns and 19 different
participating communities. Starting in April 2024, Frederick Steinmann at UNR will start
regular quarterly check-ins with all participants to keep track of their progress and ability
to get competitive grants.

Assembly Bill (A.B.) 77 of the 82" (2023) Legislative Session created the Office of
Entrepreneurship. There are no countries with higher levels of entrepreneurship and
lower levels of growth. More businesses correlate to higher incomes and lower income
equality. Every 1% increase in entrepreneurial activity in a state correlates to a
2% decline in poverty. That information comes from Right to Start. The Office of
Entrepreneurship was created with a vision that every Nevadan has a fundamental right
to start and grow their own business. Its mission is to expand entrepreneurial opportunity
and economic growth in Nevada through streamlining processes and reducing or
eliminating barriers to starting and growing new businesses. In 2024, the office will review
prohibited processes and permitting, capture statewide aspirations, assess available
tracking data, and conduct case studies locally.

There is also statewide funding through the Emerging Small Business program (page 52,
Exhibit A), which is administered through the Nevada APEX Accelerator at GOED. The
Nevada APEX Accelerator helps local and small businesses start to do business with
local, state, and federal funding. It has been an outstanding help in directing federal funds
through the State of Nevada. The Nevada APEX Accelerator provides statewide
procurement and technical assistance to establish non-profit businesses, especially small
businesses, in their pursuit of local, state, and federal government contracting jobs.

There has been some money available through the Office of the Attorney General
(page 53, Exhibit A). GOED has provided:

e $6 million through the settlement funds for the Access Community Capital program to
support its application for Community Development Financial Institution designation
via Access’ Nevada Women and Minority Business Expansion Fund.
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e $4 million to UNLV ($2.6 million) and UNR ($1.4 million) for the Talent Retention
Program to place women and minority engineering and science students into
Nevada’s technology companies.

e $1.5 million to the “Reaching the Unreachable” program that goes out to rural Nevada
and other economically disadvantaged locations to provide training.

Regarding legislation discussions (page 56, Exhibit A), GOED has deadlines to meet with
the Office of the Governor. GOED seeks to discuss legislation relating to incentivizing
medical facilities to come to Nevada and the concept of import substitution. For example,
most of the dynamite that is used in Nevada mines is produced in Utah. If the company
moved to Nevada, that would be money that would stay in state and provide jobs to
Nevadans. If Nevada can attract businesses as they come in, the state could reconcile
those abatement and tax incentive processes. GOED has been working hard with
EDAWN, the Las Vegas Global Economic Alliance (LVGEA), and the Northern Nevada
Development Authority (NNDA). GOED will keep the Committee apprised as it moves
forward with these discussions.

ASSEMBLYMAN HAFEN:

GOED oversees many important programs. | want to note that the GBC in Pahrump has
applied for the WINN fund, and | have submitted a letter of support. | am also excited
about some of the new manufacturing that GOED has brought into Nye County. There
should be an increase in jobs and pay scale out there because of it. Lastly, | look forward
to the work of the Nevada Main Street program in Nye County.

The slide on page 33 (Exhibit A) states that to be eligible for abatements in Nevada,
companies must offer a health insurance plan and cover 65% or more of the premium
costs. Is that just for the employee’s portion or is that for employee and spouse or
employee and family?

MR. BURNS:
That is for the employee-only portion and falls in line with other ACA requirements.
ASSEMBLYMAN HAFEN:

Page 33 (Exhibit A) also states that to be eligible for abatements in Nevada, companies
must maintain the business in Nevada for five years. | know there are a lot of businesses
that create hundreds or thousands of short-term construction jobs, but their overall
long-term jobs are only a handful. Does the construction project have to go on for
five years to qualify?

MR. BURNS:

No, that applies to the operation of the business itself. The demarcation date is from the
time the business starts producing revenue or products.
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SENATOR SEEVERS GANSERT:

It seems like the universities are exceeding expectations through the Knowledge Fund.
Innovation is growing and job growth is supported. Could you speak more on that?

MR. BURNS:

The Knowledge Fund was able to support the NSF engines as well as the Tech Hubs,
which will significantly impact Nevada economically. For example, looking at the
investment Utah made 22 years ago as it relates to the Salt Lake City economy and the
University of Utah, it led to an explosion of its economy and has attracted many
businesses. GOED will be coming forward to ask the Legislature for additional funding
for the Knowledge Fund. This is a unique window towards Nevada’s economic future. A
lot of money that has been distributed through stimulus packages provided by the
Biden-Harris Administration with the CHIPS and Science Act of 2022 has led to great
activity in business and has allowed businesses to relocate closer to resources; there has
also been a boom regarding alternative energy. My concern is that this is a fleeting
opportunity. Once businesses have settled elsewhere, there will not be sufficient time to
start this process up again in Nevada. Investing in the Knowledge Fund is critical.

Nevada’s investment in partnerships with community colleges is one of the best stories
GOED can tell. GOED has had great leaders in the workforce development space.
Twelve years ago, there were few people that had advanced manufacturing skills. When
Tesla’s Semi truck manufacturing facility is completed, there will be 14,000 jobs in
advanced manufacturing at a $42 per hour wage. The partnership with community
colleges allows people, who perhaps only have a high school education and earn a
$20 per hour wage, to further their education and opportunities. That is life-changing for
some and is why | am so bullish about GOED’s partnerships with the community colleges.

SENATOR SEEVERS GANSERT:

It is great that the state is enriching its higher education system at the same time it is
doing workforce training and creating more innovation.

ASSEMBLYMAN ORENTLICHER:

On page 16 (Exhibit A), GOED highlighted the emerging industries such as health care
and education as important industries that Nevada should grow. | am glad that you
mentioned that one of GOED’s interests going forward is medical facilities. In the past
few years, it seems incentive programs at the Legislature have been weighted toward the
hospitality, tourism, sports, and creative industries. Should Nevada be doing more with
medical residencies to address the physician shortage and with medical facilities so that
it does more to grow its health sector?

MR. BURNS:

One of the critical needs within Nevada is more medical residencies. Touro University
Nevada now provides a medical degree, as does UNLV, yet Nevada does not have a
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greater number of residencies available. In a way, Nevada is training doctors only for
them to leave the state and possibly not come back. GOED will be working with the
Department of Health and Human Services as well as the Nevada System of Higher
Education (NSHE) to work on that issue.

It does not seem appropriate to take the taxes that a general practice hospital is paying
and incentivize a competitor to come into the marketplace and compete with it. However,
Nevada does want certain specialty hospitals. For example, the Cleveland Clinic Lou
Ruvo Center for Brain Health in Las Vegas has been a great success. There is desire to
acquire or inspire other practices like that to come to Nevada. From a community confidence
standpoint, this would provide Nevadans pride. Also, this would be money that does not
have to be exported for services Nevadans need.

MR. POTTS:

The chart on page 16 (Exhibit A) displays what is going on in Nevada’s economy and the
changes that have happened over time. One must think about economic development in
terms of the flow of money. Health care and education are considered secondary
industries because they mostly depend on the dollars that are in the region. Hospitals,
doctors’ offices, and dental offices depend on the residents that live in the region. GOED
is trying to work with industries like Tesla or Redwood Materials where much of the goods
and services that are produced are sold to customers outside of the region and the money
flows back into the region. These industries create an export base. That is how Nevada
can grow its economic capacity.

As shown in GOED'’s state strategic plan, GOED is focused on logistics and operations,
connectivity, advanced manufacturing, and the mining industry. Studying the last
ten years, 49% of the companies that Nevada assisted, whether abated or not, were
manufacturers. Mines, like casinos, cannot be abated per the NRS. It is strategically
important for Nevada to use abatement tools to be competitive with the states previously
mentioned.

The bubbles on the emerging quadrant of the chart are the industries Nevada needs to
continue to support. Growing those industries will create a diverse portfolio and bring
money into the state from outside the region. The wages associated with those industries
will grow Nevada’s economic capacity.

ASSEMBLYMAN ORENTLICHER:

| appreciate the idea of growing industries that bring in money from out of the state.
However, my understanding is that part of the reason Nevada is struggling to attract
people to move here is because it does not have a strong K-12 education system. That
discourages doctors and other professionals who might contemplate moving to Nevada.
Is Nevada not paying enough attention to basic needs like education and health?
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MR. PoOTTS:

When GOED was created during the 76" (2011) Legislature, it created industry specialists
for different target sectors. Currently, GOED has two industry specialists and one of them
specializes in the health care industry. GOED has made a very concerted effort to try to
build out Nevada’s health care industry and its ties to higher education, both secondary
and postsecondary. You are right in that Nevada cannot work on economic development
without considering community development. In many regards, Nevada’'s communities
are trying to catch up with the economies. Although everybody wins, it does not
necessarily happen at the same pace. GOED is involved and engaged to help with health
care and education sectors, which is why the sectors are included in the chart.

ASSEMBLYMAN YUREK:

In looking at other factors that may potentially have an impact on Nevada’s attempts to
diversify the economy, the slide on page 17 (Exhibit A) depicts one of the three sectors
GOED mentioned that still has not recuperated the number of jobs it lost during pandemic,
which is local government. | know public safety remains a big part of local governments’
budgets. Public safety is also a major consideration for businesses contemplating
relocating to Nevada. How many of the 900 jobs that were lost during the pandemic are
public safety positions? Does this have an impact regarding a business considering
relocating to Nevada?

MR. BURNS:

As a whole, public safety does not come up a lot in discussions with businesses
considering relocating to Nevada; however, | do think it is something people consider.
The Las Vegas area attracts a lot of attention. When something happens here, it makes
the news. Looking at the connection it has with the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security and all the successful events, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department
has a pretty good reputation. While there are the occasional troublemakers, generally
there have not been many problems.

MR. POTTS:

| do not have the quantitative information readily available, but GOED can certainly get
that to you. Another thing to note is that local and state governments recover at different
paces. ltis similar when it comes to infrastructure support for communities. For example,
commercial development lags residential development by about 18 months. If a housing
development is built, it takes about 18 months before gas stations and grocery stores
show up. It is the same situation with the public sector. One must go through a lot of
processes and bureaucracies. Currently, about 20% of the positions at Nevada’s
Department of Administration are open. It is a challenge for state employees because if
you have five people in a unit and one of them leaves, the other four acquire another
25% of workload if they are to maintain the same level of service. Thankfully, the
department and the Legislature have taken steps to address that.
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ASSEMBLYWOMAN CONSIDINE:

Concerning abatement eligibility, the slide on page 33 (Exhibit A) states a company must
maintain its business in Nevada for five years. Does that include maintaining a
minimal employment level, or does the company simply have to maintain the business?

MR. BURNS:

The number of jobs is audited on Year 2 and Year 5 of the process. At those points,
GOED determines if the company is compliant with the abatements they have been given,
and the abatements will be balanced so that the amount of employment and the amount
of taxes the company is paying are congruent with what the company’s participation is.
For example, if a company were to plan to have 100 employees but for whatever reason
were to only have 60 employees instead, their abatements would reflect that employment
level. The company’s MBT would be balanced as well.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN CONSIDINE:

Regarding the employment requirements for rural and urban areas (page 34, Exhibit A),
what do the parentheticals next to each quantity mean? For rural areas, the slide shows
ten employees but then in parenthesis it states, “less than six are ineligible.” For urban
areas, the slide shows 50 employees but then in parenthesis it states, “less than 10 are
ineligible.”

MR. BURNS:

In times of high unemployment rates, GOED will alter the abatement requirements to
attract companies hoping that they will grow. The unemployment rate would be more
than 7% on a rolling 12-month average.

SENATOR NEAL:

Looking at NRS 231.1596, there is supposed to be a certain number of commercial
applications that are developed and some outreach and engagement from the university
to entrepreneurs to commercialize. How much activity has happened? Can the revenue
that has come from those commercialization projects be identified? That statute has been
in place for a long time.

MR. POTTS:

That information is available; however, | do not have it readily available. | will get together
with Mr. Heise and get that information for you.

SENATOR NEAL:

The slide on page 15 (Exhibit A) provides a chart about the industry diversity index. | have
been particularly interested in how Nevada’s rural counties are affected by the industry
categories. In your opinion, do you believe the industry categories that have been
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selected for the state have a direct impact on the rural communities that may or may not
benefit from those industries? If so, is that impact negative or positive?

MR. BURNS:

The identified industries are to take advantage of the state’s assets as best possible.
There is a significant upcoming project in Lincoln County that will provide over 300 jobs,
which is substantial for a county that currently has a population of about 4,500 people. It
is also a significant project from the standpoint of innovation and alternative energy. Itis
a great asset to Nevada. The project entails harvesting pinyon-juniper woodlands to turn
into hydrogen. Pinyon-juniper woodlands are trees that are almost like weeds. Currently,
Nevada must pay the Department of Wildlife and the State Department of Conservation
and Natural Resources, Division of Forestry to have pinyon-juniper thinned on a regular
basis. With the project, somebody else will be doing that work which will provide jobs.
Also, it should be mentioned that new businesses do not have to fall into those categories
to be abated. If there is a company that falls outside of those industries but meets other
criteria, they can still be abated.

SENATOR NEAL:

Rural communities cannot necessarily handle abatements and tax removals because
their tax bases are so small. How can Nevada advance the rural communities in a
different way with a different set of tools to promote their growth, elevate existing
long-standing businesses and grow them in a different way, and advance young
entrepreneurs to grow into the communities they are already in. Additionally, how can
Nevada figure out how to create a new economic foundation with the younger generation
in Mineral and Pershing Counties?

At the end of the day, Nevada is growing in the south, Washoe County, and Storey County,
but the other lower-end communities are suffering economically and losing people. There
needs to be a deeper discussion about how to include those rural communities. How can
these tools be tweaked to fit smaller communities? The current tools are fit for urban
communities. They are not fit for the smaller, and more creative and innovative needs of
a rural community.

MR. BURNS:
| have made it out to most all the RDAs and had those conversations.
MR. POTTS:

The chart speaks to the degree of diversity in each county, not the prosperity or number
of jobs. Mining has been so strong in a lot of the rural communities, keeping their
economies propped up. What has made a difference for these rural communities is what
is going on in the critical mineral space. That cannot be understated. Whether it is
Rhyolite Ridge or Lithium Americas, the critical mining space has created exponential
opportunities for many rural communities.
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GOED'’s state plan, abatements, and target sectors are going to hit most of the urban
counties, but the RDAs are not held to that. EDAWN, LVGEA, and NNDA have their target
sectors that are based on the unique characteristics of their communities. For most rural
communities, it is not just economic development, but it is also community development.
The rural communities deal with issues with housing, recreational pools, and
infrastructure. That is where projects like the Nevada Main Street program and the
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program have such an important role.
There is a huge effort and rollout from GOED to support these communities. The
Nevada Main Street program started with around 3 projects 5 years ago and now there
are about 25 projects in different stages of completion. The challenges of rural communities
are not unique to Nevada. Every state in the United States deals with that challenge.
While Nevada still needs to work on that issue, it has some strong assets in place to help
support the rural communities.

SENATOR NEAL:

How will Nevada advance rural communities through a creative lens of economic
development? | feel like those communities are being lost in the conversation. When the
discussion of abatements is brought up at the Legislature, the rural communities are the
first to oppose but no conversations are had. How can the Legislature help economically
change the position of rural communities through new tools, lenses, and ideas? Although
there are programs like Nevada Main Street and the CDBG Program, there needs to be
more tools. Before the 83™ (2025) Legislature, | would like to reach an understanding as
to what new tools can be implemented in the rural communities. This is similar to the
conversation regarding how to grow and advance minority communities.

| would also like to discuss whether the industry sectors align with graduates leaving
NSHE institutions. When | saw the list of graduates in each degree program, | noticed a
lot of those degree programs fall out of Nevada’s sector focus. Nevada’s students need
to be able to find a job within the state. There needs to be alignment with the degrees
being offered and the industries that the state is courting.

MR. BURNS:

This conversation is ever-changing. As the state evolves and its populace changes, it is
important to recognize what Nevada’s assets are. The opportunities being presented in
the lithium space are similar to what Nevada experienced during the Comstock Lode in
the 1860s. There are parallels in the discovery of a natural resource. GOED is working
hard to take advantage of that resource and build around it. During the Comstock Lode,
the silver was mined in Nevada, but the money was used to build San Francisco. | do not
want that to happen again. | want the jobs and wealth to stay in Nevada to help it grow.
| think this is a very healthy conversation.

CHAIR BACKUS:

Some of the slides mention a “net new tax revenue.” For example, the slide on page 39
(Exhibit A) states that the Tesla Gigafactory’s net new tax revenue is $1.9 billion. Is that
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just limited to the company and does not include all the indirect tax revenue that Nevada
may ascertain from bringing in the new jobs and buying more materials?

MR. BURNS:

Correct. The net new tax revenue is attributable to the Tesla Gigafactory and does not
include property or sales taxes paid by employees.

CHAIR BACKUS:

The slide on page 51 (Exhibit A) mentions the Office of Entrepreneurship. Has GOED
had any success stories regarding that yet or is the office still too new?

MR. BURNS:

The office is still very new. GOED received the funding for that office in July 2023.
Kyeema Peart filled the role of Director for the office in early October 2023 and she
received her support staff for the office last month. Ms. Peart has done a great job of
touring the state, meeting with stakeholders, and finding out what the needs are moving
forward.

CHAIR BACKUS:

Regarding the slide on page 33 (Exhibit A), the 35" (2023) Special Session passed
S.B. 1, which required new or expanding businesses to provide certain paid family and
medical leave to employees in order to qualify for abatements. Is this something
companies that have 50 or more employees already provide?

MR. BURNS:

Nevada has experienced some headwinds related to that portion of legislation. | may
redefine larger companies as those with 500 employees or more. Nevada has
experienced some cases where it lost headquarters because the company had
employees in multiple states and was not willing to provide a benefit to one set of
employees in one state versus other states. While the company kept its operation here,
it elected to move its headquarters elsewhere.

CHAIR BACKUS:

Are there other factors or incentives that headquarters look for that may be offered in
other states?

MR. BURNS:

Nevada has an additional requirement layered on top of the fact that its financial
incentives are sometimes not as competitive as some of its peer states, which can
become troublesome.
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CHAIR BACKUS:

Nevada also does not have income taxes or the kinds of things that other states are able
to utilize to their advantage.

MR. BURNS:

| think Nevada’'s RDAs as well as Melanie Sheldon, Senior Director of Business
Development at GOED, and her team do an exemplary job of highlighting Nevada’s
business climate. In some cases, Nevada’s peer states are very aggressive about what
they are willing to provide.

CHAIR BACKUS:

The slide on page 53 (Exhibit A) discusses Office of the Attorney General settlement
funds. | realize Nevada wants to grow its own talent. | really like the Talent Retention
Program to place women and minority engineering and science students with Nevada’s
technology companies and startups to retain Nevada’s homegrown talent. Has this
investment been around long enough to see whether those students who graduated have
stayed in the state?

MR. BURNS:

There is no data at this point, but GOED will certainly track that. Additionally, GOED
worked in conjunction with the gaming industry to retain women and people of color in
positions of leadership and to provide training. GOED worked with DETR to provide
funding for that program, championed by former Las Vegas Mayor Jan Jones Blackhurst.
| think that will be successful as well.

SENATOR DONATE:

Every year, the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of Analytics releases
a report of Nevada Medicaid recipients employed by employers with 50 or more
employees. Two of the companies that Nevada has approved abatements for are on the
list of the top 20 employers by number of employees and dependents on Medicaid.
Amazon is number 1 and Tesla is number 11. It is coming off like the state is bankrolling
these companies and not just giving them tax abatements but also paying for the benefits
of their employees through Medicaid or the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program.
Are there any clawback provisions or is GOED having any discussion with these
employers about the promises they made to their full-time employees?

| am thankful that these companies have chosen Nevada and | think the state should do
everything possible to make sure more companies come here; however, if the premise is
that the state is approving tax abatements and the companies are providing good paying
jobs, then that premise should be met. Is GOED able to explain why certain employees
from large companies are still enrolled in Nevada Medicaid? Does the NRS need to be
restructured to ensure that full-time employees of companies receiving abatements are
not enrolled in Medicaid?
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The public comment letter submitted by the Storey County Commissioners’ Office
(Exhibit B) states there was some difficulty and push back in terms of making sure that
local jurisdictions were included in the conversation so that they can prepare for the
increase of spending that they would have to provide in government services. Does there
need to be further robust conversations as to how to restructure the approval process and
incorporate local jurisdictions as part of that decision making process rather than
subsequently directing them to public comment?

MR. BURNS:

To provide some background information, | used to be a partner at Cragin and Pike for
25 years and provided health insurance. | still have my insurance license. The ACA
requires that the employer cover 50% of the health insurance premium costs. In NRS,
employers are required to cover 65% or more of the premium costs, which is appropriate
if the business is receiving incentives from the state. While the provisions of the ACA still
exist, there are no penalties, so it essentially has no teeth. Many employees do not end
up getting health insurance because they must pay the other 35% of the premium costs.
| know when | was younger, | would rather have beer money than pay for health insurance.
While the employer is required to offer the health insurance and to document that they
offered it, it is not required for the employee to take it. Those employees then still fall
under the Medicaid provisions.

Regarding your second question, there does need to be a conversation about local
jurisdictions. Last year, GOED worked closely with the RDAs and municipalities in
discussing the ability to open the communication lines. Historically, the nondisclosures
that were signed sometimes restricted who was allowed in those conversations. | am not
discounting the trials that Storey County endured, but | do not think anybody could have
anticipated the amount of growth that happened at the Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center and
its total impact. It was not done in malice, but it was tremendous growth. Certainly, the
conversation of including local jurisdictions needs to be had going forward.

SENATOR DONATE:

There is a national trend of companies offering their employees 100% health care
coverage. With the rising cost of inflation, Nevada employees are finding themselves in
a position where they are under a certain threshold of income and qualify for Medicaid.
The employer is not paying them a fair wage. The employees would rather enroll in
Medicaid than pay whatever premium is being offered through the employer. During the
abatement approval process, is there any requirement for the companies to provide
100% of the health care coverage for their employees? What can be done so that
employees are not put in a position to choose between paying for their health insurance
premium or using that money to support their families. This is not a situation where
employees are not choosing the health insurance offered by the company because they
would rather have a small amount of disposable income. The employees are not
choosing the health insurance offered by the company because the premium cost is too
expensive, and they have insufficient means. To what extent is Nevada requiring
companies to cover their employees’ health insurance? Health care coverage is the basic
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principle of being an employee. Are those conversations had with the companies during
the abatement approval process?

MR. BURNS:

Again, NRS only requires employers to cover 65% or more of the premium costs. In my
experience in the insurance industry, | did not experience a lot of employers paying
100% of their employees’ health insurance premiums.

ASSEMBLYMAN HAFEN:
| would like to follow up with Senator Neal offline on some of her ideas.

There is a biofuel project in Lincoln County utilizing the pinyon pine and western juniper.
| am curious to know whether tamarisk or salt cedar could be utilized in a similar process.
The invasive weed is a problem seen throughout Pahrump and along the Colorado River.
If the invasive weed could also be utilized like pinyon pine and western juniper, it could
serve for both growing the biofuel industry and reducing and conserving Nevada’s water
resources.

MR. POTTS:

Yes, it can be done. Anything that is carbon can be converted into advanced materials.
GOED has had discussions with landfills. Lincoln County has been working with the
country of Denmark. Denmark’s landfills are only 3% of waste treatment for all waste;
everything else gets converted. GOED can connect you to some people who can discuss
that further with you.

There was no further discussion on this agenda item.

V. OVERVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF THE PROMOTION OF ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT IN NEVADA BY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITIES.

TAYLOR ADAMS (President and Chief Executive Officer [CEO], EDAWN):

Because many of the slides that GOED presented today pertain to Northern Nevada and
to provide information efficiently, | will offer remarks and reference some of the GOED
slides in lieu of a separate presentation.

In reference to the slide on page 21 (Exhibit A), EDAWN is grateful to the Governor,
GOED, UNR, and the Interim Finance Committee for their support of the EDA Tech Hub.
This program is a critical driver of the future of our economy, and it would not be in play
without your support. EDAWN is honored to be part of the NSF Engines initiatives and
has three employees serving in various capacities on the delivery of the project. Finally,
EDAWN'’s entrepreneurial development team is actively engaged in the execution of
one of the Build to Scale grants. EDAWN is encouraged by the activity it is creating in
Northern Nevada.
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Regarding the incentives and abatements discussed on pages 39, 40, and 43 (Exhibit A),
EDAWN thanks the Committee for supporting industrial growth in Northern Nevada. The
Committee’s leadership on the delivery of these projects has changed the employment
landscape in Nevada. Not that long ago, many young people felt they had to leave
Northern Nevada to have the career they sought. Now, thanks to the Committee’s
support, this is no longer the case. Nevada now has a diverse and robust economy that
offers real opportunity as well as economic mobility.

While there is no denying that the investments in Nevada, as shown on page 48
(Exhibit A), are among the largest made to date, it should be noted that Storey and
Washoe Counties account for only 26% of the companies that received support FY 2022
through FY 2024 YTD. EDAWN made many more industrial announcements during that
time. EDAWN alone assisted 34 companies that added 6,086 jobs to Nevada’s economy
and $4.8 billion in new capital expenditure. EDAWN’s Entrepreneurial Development team
reported more than 25 new startups that brought Western Nevada another 135 jobs.
The average wage reported for attraction, business expansion, and entrepreneurial
development jobs was $40.30 per hour. It should also be noted that NNDA has additional
announcements that can be added to those totals.

Tesla and Redwood Materials represent the capital investment in most of those jobs.
What is significant about the remainder of companies that did not receive abatements is
that many came here because of those two major announcements. Regarding market
value, those companies either were suppliers that needed to be close to the larger
investment or viewed the community differently because of the location of Tesla and/or
Redwood Materials. In short, the major investments were a catalyst that induced
additional investment to go well beyond the projected return on investments associated
with the initial abatement.

Looking forward through the end of FY 2024 and into FY 2025, there is an opportunity to
examine Nevada’s competitive position in the market compared to states with similar tax
structures. GOED mentioned Nevada’s direct peer regions, but Florida, Tennessee, and
Texas also do not have a state income tax. EDAWN is incredibly grateful for the present
programs; however, Nevada does not offer the incentives and abatements that are
generally consistent with national market leaders in the same space. That is not to
suggest that Nevada’s incentives and abatements should change. With current market
dynamics related to interest rates, construction costs, and real property costs, companies
are far more sensitive and aware of state and local investment levels when making
decisions. With time, Nevada will be able to respond to challenges that may arise in the
current environment, but its outcomes will likely be affected in the short term.

| think everyone in economic development considers it an honor to be able to work in this
state. | am new here, but | am in awe of the benefits that Nevada offers to businesses.
| am encouraged by the quality of the businesses participating in statewide economic
development efforts. | am so impressed by the work of Mr. Burns, Mr. Potts, Tina Quigley
from LVGEA, and Jeff Sutich from NNDA.
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CHAIR BACKUS:

The 82" (2023) Legislature passed some bills to help the RDAs. Is there anything that
the Legislature should consider for policy to assess EDAWN?

MR. ADAMS:

When discussing abatements, it is the large megaprojects that often get the bulk of the
attention because most are once-in-a-generation investments. It is important for this
Committee to know that, in any given year, there may be five of those projects that either
originate in the U.S. or come to the U.S. by way of foreign direct investment. There are
dozens more smaller projects that also offer real opportunity for economic growth and
diversity within Nevada’s communities. | welcome the opportunity to be more aggressive
in that space with tools that would give Nevada greater ability to strategically incentivize
startup activity. | do not want to speak for other parts of the state, but | think you will find
that is true across the economic development community. Startups are the “stickiest”
businesses. They are of Nevadans, by Nevadans, and, as they grow, will stay with Nevada.

The other consideration is employers that, in a best-case scenario, have fewer than
200 employees. Those are investments that are generally going to be between $15 million
and $50 million. Those companies have a better chance of locating corporate
headquarters and making Nevada their home.

SENATOR NEAL:

If you could define a tool for Western Nevada for businesses that have 200 employees or
less, what would it be?

MR. ADAMS:

Looking at examples across the country, there is a real part of the market relating to the
cost of capital and the cost of construction. Any robust set of tools that would close gaps
specifically for those potential employers would allow Nevada to be more competitive with
other parts of the country. However, if that were to be a full program, the money would
have to come from somewhere.

SENATOR NEAL:

Does EDAWN use funds from the CDBG Program? Which tools does EDAWN rely on
for Western Nevada? Does EDAWN use any portion of the Knowledge Fund through any
other institutions in Western Nevada?

MR. ADAMS:

Yes, EDAWN is a consortium member in the Tech Hub application. Additionally, there are
three full-time employees, including me, who are actively involved in the shaping of the
NSF Engines. EDAWN is absolutely using the Knowledge Fund but, in the interest of
time, | will not go into detail as to how it is working within the fund to build out a broader
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venture investment system in Norther Nevada. It is a tremendous resource and EDAWN
is grateful to have it.

The CDBG Program is utilized by some of the public agencies in Northern Nevada;
however, that is not something that EDAWN has accessed yet. | will blame that on the
fact that | am still new to this job and have not gotten to that portion of the work plan yet,
but there is certainly value to it.

MicHAEL NAKAMOTO (Chief Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division):

Before the next presentation, it should be noted that LVGEA’s original presentation was
included in the meeting packet (page 59, Exhibit A); however, the alliance submitted a
revised presentation after the meeting packet went to print. Committee members and the
public should reference the separate handout (Exhibit C).

TINAQUIGLEY (President and CEO, LVGEA):

Before | get started with the presentation, | would like to publicly commend EDAWN for
having selected Mr. Adams as its leader. Mr. Adams comes to Nevada with a resume of
experience in economic development across a plethora of states. He is a mentor and
advisor to me, and | am learning so much from him. | am glad to have him in Nevada.

The Committee asked the alliance to report on its region served, activity during 2021
through 2023, 2024 metrics, and challenges and opportunities. This presentation
(Exhibit C) has been tailored to specifically address those topics.

As you look at page 2 (Exhibit C) you will inevitably recognize some of the faces. The
alliance is an Internal Revenue Code 501(c)(6) nonprofit organization made up of regional
business leaders and elected officials. It is rooted in 75 years of existence. The LVGEA
is one of eight RDAs in Nevada. Regarding attracting and growing businesses, the
primary tool the alliance uses is Nevada’s tax abatement program, commonly referred to
as “a temporary discount on taxes.”

| assure you that the members of the Board of Directors for LVGEA, known as LVGEA 50,
are very engaged and are some of the most influential voices in Nevada. The board has
60 members. For the first time ever, there is a waiting list to join the board, which signals
that Nevada has a business community that is very excited and wants to engage in how
their voice is received throughout the state. The board members are opinionated, but that
is appreciated. The alliance would much rather have an engaged board who cares than
one with members that just show up to meetings whenever they can or have to. The
board gives the LVGEA direction, and the LVGEA works to execute that direction.
Currently, the direction given to the LVGEA is that it should target the industries and
businesses that Nevada is attracting. For that, the tax abatement program is a very
important tool.

The community that LVGEA serves has a population of 2.3 million (page 3, Exhibit C).
That is on par with other regions such as Austin, Texas; Cincinnati, Ohio; Kansas City,
Missouri; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and Sacramento, California. The community has a
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labor force of 1.12 million people, of which one-third are in hospitality and gaming. That
is why one of the alliance’s primary missions is to not just grow economic development,
but also diversify the economy.

The LVGEA partners with all different regions and agencies in Southern Nevada, as
shown on page 4 (Exhibit C), such as the City of Boulder City, City of Henderson, City of
Las Vegas, City of Mesquite, City of North Las Vegas, and the Office of Community and
Economic Development of Clark County. The alliance works with these entities to make
sure that its efforts and time are aligned towards targeting, attracting, and growing
Nevada’s businesses. To do so, LVGEA hosts monthly meetings with the economic
development directors and staff from each one of the entities. Additionally, it convenes
and coordinates public and private partner councils so that the private sector is included
in the discussion of target industries and goals.

The primary purpose of tax incentives is to keep Nevada competitive (page 5, Exhibit C).
Tax incentives also allow Nevada to be intentional in economic development pursuits.
Currently, Nevada’s tax abatement program precludes anything that is related to
hospitality or gaming, which is important because it focuses on diversifying the economy.

To be eligible, companies must:

e Import money, with at least 51% of their revenue coming from outside of the region.
e Have 50 or more employees.

e Pay at least the average wage in Nevada.

e Have certain capital expenditure requirements.

e Cover at least 65% of the insurance premium for their employees.

Tax incentives help create community prosperity through tax generation and quality
careers. Because of the companies that Nevada attracted last year, the state has over
700 jobs that were brought in because of the tax incentive program. The average wage
was $36 an hour, which is well above the state’s average wage. Nevada’s incentive
package is working to create prosperity.

Alittle over a year ago, LVGEA contracted with a research firm to conduct a regional study
to outline Nevada’s competitiveness in the incentive space. While it is not an exact
comparison, it is clear that Nevada is woefully behind some of its peer states. Nevada is
behind Arizona, California, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, and several other states that do not
have income taxes, which Mr. Adams mentioned during his presentation. The LVGEA
shared a report with the Committee a year ago in preparation for session. Please let me
know if you would like another copy of that report; it is also on record with GOED.

Moving forward, it will be important to pay attention to how competitive Nevada is
compared to other states. In Southern Nevada, large parcels of land for projects, such
as clean energy or manufacturing projects, are dwindling significantly. There are about
6,000 acres of developable land that is available for those types of uses. There was a
time when Nevada had the lowest operational rates in the region. That is not the case
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anymore. However, the federal interest rates are currently high. The LVGEA is hoping to
see the rates decrease because they have inhibited a lot of companies’ decisions to grow
or relocate.

The cost of construction has escalated to the point where Nevada no longer has the
lowest cost of construction. Las Vegas is now ahead of Phoenix as it relates to high
construction costs. While Las Vegas has in-migration populations, so do Nevada’s other
primary competitor markets. The competitors have a larger pool for non-hospitality
careers. It is going to take more than a no-income tax tactic to attract desirable
companies. As previously mentioned, Florida, Tennessee, Texas, and Washington do not
have income taxes and are preparing tax incentive packages and programs that
outcompete Nevada.

For example, in December of 2023, LVGEA was in talks to finalize the relocation of a very
large tech company. To start, the company would have created over 150 high-wage jobs.
Employees would earn $100,000 a year. Eventually, the company planned to grow to
500 employees. The company was attracted to Southern Nevada because of its proximity
to the Southern California Basin. Right before the holidays, the conversations with the
company sort of paused. The alliance was not alarmed as it is typical for things to slow
down around the holidays; however, after the holidays the company informed the LVGEA
that Texas had contacted them and offered to not only go above and beyond the
abatement program but also to provide 20 acres of land. If Texas wants a company, Texas
is going to get the company, especially if it is only competing with Nevada.

| would also like to share the impacts related to the new requirement of the Family and
Medical Leave Act (FMLA). The new provision for businesses going through the
tax incentive application approval process is beyond not only federal standards but also
California standards which makes it tough to encourage California companies to leave.
The LVGEA is starting to see the impacts of that. The deadline to turn in an application
and avoid the new requirement was October 2023. There were several companies who
submitted applications prior to the deadline but now the application requests are starting
to dwindle.

Historically, companies that applied to move to Nevada or have moved to Nevada were
oriented towards logistics, operations, or transportation. Those companies met the
requirements of having 50 or more employees, certain capital expenditures, 51% of
revenue coming from out of state, and the average wage. Page 6 (Exhibit C) displays the
companies that had GOED applications in 2023. Of them, six were manufacturing
companies, Arvato was the only logistics company, Elite Sales Solution was a fintech
company, Indigo was a biotech company, and Skillz was a headquarters relocation. The
aggregate average hourly wage of these companies was $36.56, which is equivalent to
$76,000 a year. Skillz was paying $54.83 per hour or $114,000 a year, on average. Skillz
is starting with 176 jobs and will be building out to 280 jobs in the next 5 years. There is
an opportunity to start to move away from lower-wage companies and move towards
higher-wage companies that are interested in leaving their current location or that see
Nevada’s workforce as one that is trainable.
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Pages 7 through 9 (Exhibit C) show the activity during 2021 through 2023. Over the past
3 years, LVGEA has assisted 62 new and expanding companies. The total annual payroll
for the past three years was $338 million. The first year of new taxes is $46 million. In
2021, there were 39 new and expanding companies in Southern Nevada. In 2022, there
were 11. Some of that has to do with a backlog of companies due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Regardless, in 2023 there were only 12 new and expanding companies in
Southern Nevada, so there is not that much difference between 2022 and 2023.

In 2021, there were 3,259 new career opportunities created. In 2022, there were
1,357 new career opportunities, which is less than half of the opportunities in 2021. In
2023, there was a further decrease to 727 new career opportunities.

In 2021, there was $1.2 billion in new capital investment in the region. In 2022, that
dropped significantly to $514 million. In 2023, there were some interest rate issues and
there was $82 million in new capital investment, so there is a trend.

| would like to talk about the average hourly wage over the last three years because it is
a topic that is important to LVGEA and one that Nevada needs to capitalize on
increasingly. In 2021, all the new career opportunities that came into Nevada paid an
average hourly wage of $27.96, which is about $40,000 a year. In 2022, even though the
number of new companies and career opportunities dropped, the average wage went up
to $32.13. In 2023, the average hourly wage increased to $36.56. There is a trend that
is happening. There are less companies and less capital expenditure, but there are higher
wages. Wages that are significantly higher than the state’s average wage of $29 per hour.

The LVGEA board has made it clear that Nevada is at a point where “fish are no longer
jumping in the boat.” That is to say that the transportation and logistics companies that
would move into Nevada for the sake of its geographic location and to get out of California
are no longer doing so. It is time for Nevada to become very strategic and targeted and
to go “spearfishing” for the companies and industries that are wanted to help develop the
community. The alliance has been working with state economists, including Applied Analysis,
RCG Economics, and UNLV. Additionally, LVGEA has been working with municipalities
and its board to do research to target what makes most sense for Las Vegas.

The targeted industries (page 10, Exhibit C) have been narrowed down to:

e Advanced manufacturing, particularly as it relates to clean energy technologies like
electric vehicle battery manufacturing.

e Financial technology, which covers the industries of payments, cybersecurity, and
blockchain.

e Health technology companies, which include biotech, life sciences, research and
development pharmaceutical, and clinical trials.

e Sports technology and creative industries, which include digital media production, and
those that are ancillary and can build on Nevada’s organic growth related to sports.

The LVGEA's 2024 action plan and metrics on page 11 (Exhibit C) may look conservative,
but as the trends show, the goals are going to be challenging to meet. For that reason,
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LVGEA is going to be aggressively outward bound. In 2023, LVGEA attracted and
expanded 12 companies. For 2024, LVGEA wants to keep its goal for attracting and
expanding companies to 12, which will be aggressive. It may sound like it will be the
same amount of work, but it is going to be aggressive. The stretch goal is 18 companies.

How does LVGEA plan to do so? What do you do when the fish are not jumping in the
boat? You go spearfishing. The LVGEA is in the process of shifting from having been a
mostly inbound sales organization to becoming an outward-bound organization. As
shown on the calendar on page 12 (Exhibit C), the LVGEA team will be out almost every
month going to conferences or conventions. The alliance will meet with specific
companies to invite them to come to Southern Nevada so that they can see what it is like
to do business beyond the Las Vegas Strip.

Page 13 (Exhibit C) showcases LVGEA's program LOCATE Las Vegas. Thanks to
LVGEA's private and public sector partners and municipalities who raised funds, the
alliance was able to host 16 CEOs for 3 days prior to the Super Bowl. The CEOs had
itineraries curated to their specific industries so that they could get to know the Las Vegas
community beyond the Las Vegas Strip. A lot of people are astounded to learn not only
that there is life outside of the Las Vegas Strip, but that Las Vegas is a tight-knit
community. Compared to other regions, Las Vegas has great partnerships with other
business communities and municipalities. The LVGEA met every day at different
locations such as the Black Fire Innovation at UNLV, Kirk Kerkorian School of Medicine
at UNLV, Las Vegas Aces Headquarters, and the Smith Center for the Performing Arts.
The LVGEA also invited other CEOs who currently live in Las Vegas so that they could
develop relationships. The great experiment of this program was successful. | was
hoping that 3 or 4 of these companies would decide to either locate or expand into
Las Vegas but | would be surprised if in 12 months there are not at least 6 to 9 of those
companies here. That is how successful | think the program is. Now, if Nevada also had
abatements and incentive packages that were comparable to some of its peers, that
would be a win.

ASSEMBLYMAN YUREK:

| like that the LVGEA has set some good goals and stretches for 2024 in its action plan
on page 11 (Exhibit C). It looks like the alliance has increased everything just a little bit
higher. However, the two-year average wage for 2022—2023 was about $71,000, yet the
LVGEA's two-year average wage goal for 2024 is $67,228. That seems a bit conservative.
Can you explain why?

Ms. QUIGLEY:

There was a lot of internal conversation about that. First, | must note that those metrics
are for the jobs that are eligible for GOED applications. Of the 16 companies from the
LOCATE Las Vegas program, not all are necessarily going to be eligible for GOED
applications because, although they will meet the wage requirement, they will probably
not meet the number of employees requirement. Economists agree that LVGEA should
spearfish the higher-skill, higher-wage jobs; however, those are probably going to end up
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in other states; particularly in Arizona or Texas. The LVGEA convened, collaborated, and
negotiated what the goal should be and ultimately this is what it came up with. However,
| agree with you that the goal should be higher.

CHAIR BACKUS:

With respect to higher-skill companies that might not fit Nevada’s economic development
model for incentives and may instead take their business to another state, do policies
need to be reviewed to keep those companies here? Nevada has fine programs in UNLYV,
UNR, and its community colleges. On top of losing those companies to other states, | do
not want to lose graduating students to out-of-state jobs as well. Does the Committee
need to look at policy that captures smaller companies as well?

Ms. QUIGLEY:

Absolutely. That is something that is discussed at LVGEA. The conversation is, if the
LVGEA were to have a wish list of things to update related to Nevada’s tax incentive
program, what would that wish list look like? Nevada is at a point where there are a lot
of opportunities for it to attract some of the smaller companies that are more suited as a
good fit for Las Vegas.

SENATOR NEAL:

While you were “spearfishing” for certain companies, did those companies align with the
student degrees that are coming out of NSHE or UNLV?

AMBER STIDHAM (Senior Vice President, Chief Strategy Officer, LVGEA):

Essentially, the answer is yes. The LVGEA does work primarily with the state’s higher
education partners in the region and with the regional workforce agency to discuss what
the focus is moving forward and how to support that focus. A challenge that LVGEA is
working to address is bridging the gap. While there are a lot of great things happening in
higher education and training, Nevada needs to also match the types of jobs that are
being created. The education might be the same or sometimes a little bit different than
the career opportunities that are currently being offered in the community. The alliance’s
responsibility is to bring business to Las Vegas, but it does believe education should be
part of the conversation. About a week ago, the LVGEA established a talent pipeline
council with local university presidents and the Clark County School District in their
career and technical education areas to discuss what the future of economic development
looks like and any gaps in two-year or four-year degree certification and training
programs.

Ms. QUIGLEY:

There are four university presidents who are very interested in wanting to align with
whatever the target is for Las Vegas. The LVGEA must be very specific in sharing with
them what the goals are.
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SENATOR NEAL:

For the CEOs that were invited for the Super Bowl event, did you ensure the focus was
around NSHE graduates?

Ms. QUIGLEY:

Yes. The LVGEA had one full day dedicated towards workforce opportunities, time to
spend with university presidents, and Workforce Connections.

SENATOR NEAL:

In talking about a diverse industry, how many of the industries that have come into the
region are not spinoffs or directly related to some supply chain of gaming?

Ms. STIDHAM:

The companies on page 6 (Exhibit C) are the projects from 2023 that came to Las Vegas
through the GOED application process through the LVGEA. Most of these organizations
are not spinoffs of gaming at all. Most are advanced manufacturing, financial
technologies, distribution and logistics, and some additional financial support services.
However, in the history of the LVGEA, there are businesses that come to the region that
support the travel and tourism hospitality arena that find it beneficial to be physically
located in this market. There are some organizations that work in the convention and
conference space for setting up materials and display booths and staffing in those types
of arenas, but they also do plenty of work internationally or nationally for other markets.
That creates a flow of money in which most of the services or products are sold outside
of the market thereby generating new revenue that Nevada can spend.

SENATOR NEAL:

If you had to define and create a tool to move forward, what would that tool do? Keeping
in mind cities that are sometimes not necessarily in alignment with the goals, how would
you make that tool more conducive to have a more aligned development strategy to what
the LVGEA is considering?

Ms. QUIGLEY:

When it comes to the target industries, there is universal agreement, alignment, and
support with the state and with GOED. Whether you are targeting the biotech industry,
the clean energy industry, the health care industry, or the health tech industry,
| recommend specifically incentivizing the targeted industry. | also recommend looking at
Nevada’s peer states who are also trying to incentivize those industries and see what can
be done to get close to what they are offering. Lastly, | recommend considering a closing
deal, which is some type of additional incentive that is allowed for negotiating purposes.
That could help Nevada when it is competing against other states.
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SENATOR NEAL:
Would Nevada raise or lower the investment threshold that is currently in statute?
Ms. QUIGLEY:

| recommend reducing the capital expenditure requirement, because some of the
companies will not have significant capital expenditure.

SENATOR NEAL:

Do you have a suggested window?
Ms. QUIGLEY:

No. | am not qualified to answer that.
CHAIR BACKUS:

In talking about the activity in 2021, you mentioned a backlog of companies due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Was there any activity in 20207?

Ms. QUIGLEY:
Yes. There were eight new and expanding companies in Southern Nevada in 2020.
CHAIR BACKUS:

The Committee has had presentations on earnings and wages looking at inflation. The
average hourly wage increased from 2021 to 2023. Has the LVGEA reviewed the impact
of inflation and demand for higher wages?

Ms. STIDHAM:
No, but that is something that the LVGEA should consider.
CHAIR BACKUS:

| was just curious because, as a business owner, | know hiring has been a struggle over
the last few years. Business owners have had to adjust and increase wages to recruit
new employees. However, the 2023 LVGEA company assists on page 6 (Exhibit C) tend
to yield higher wages. | was just trying to correlate the two.

JEFF SUTICH (Executive Director, NNDA):

An overview of the NNDA begins on page 73 (Exhibit A). The NNDA is one of eight RDAs
in Nevada. It works closely with counterpart organizations such as EDAWN and LVGEA,

as well as rural organizations like Northeastern Nevada Regional Development Authority.
The NNDA was established in 1981.
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The NNDA is the designated RDA for the Sierra Region (page 75, Exhibit A), which
includes Carson City, Douglas County, Lyon County, Mineral County, and Storey County.
The Sierra Region is a land mass area of roughly 7,000 square miles.

The Sierra Region has a population of 182,000 people (page 76, Exhibit A), which is
projected to increase 9.5% by 2028. Within the region, the average earnings per job is
almost $79,000. There are 5,200 businesses in the region with an unemployment rate
of 5%.

The NNDA was asked to highlight some main regional issues as well as opportunities.
After doing a survey and communicating with county and city partners, NNDA identified
four main regional issues (page 77, Exhibit A). The first main issue pertains to population
and its effect on water treatment, education, health care and emergency services, and
homelessness. The second issue is land use management, including federal land
ownership, available residential housing, available industrial and commercial space, and
flood management. Another issue is transportation, infrastructure, and technology, such
as planning for roads and road management, utility infrastructure deficiency, and
investment in broadband to help connect and provide connectivity to rural communities.
The last issue is environmental conservation.

Some of the reported regional opportunities (page 78, Exhibit A) are a result of lands bills
and redevelopment. There are over 12,000 acres of land currently being evaluated by
Congress for industrial, commercial, and residential development. There are large sites
zoned for industrial and commercial development throughout the region, but the
constraint is getting infrastructure to those sites; those efforts are currently underway.
Another opportunity is through the revitalization of distressed or underdeveloped areas.
There are a lot of federal dollars available to support infrastructure projects. For example,
there is $5.8 billion available for the Investing in America agenda to support infrastructure
upgrades for drinking water, wastewater, and stormwater. Additionally, NV Energy is
working on some large transmission-level voltage infrastructure projects to connect the
state and bring capacity throughout the state through the initiative called Greenlink.
Further, there are some initiatives for broadband infrastructure upgrades to help provide
connectivity to rural regions. The last regional opportunity is through housing development.
Counties are doing housing development assessments and zoning changes to help
encourage housing development and there are efforts to issue more building permits.

As an RDA, the NNDA's goal is to grow and strengthen the region’s economic development
(page 79, Exhibit A). This is done on two levels, through business development and
community development.

Through business development (page 80, Exhibit A), operational activities include the
NNDA assisting with the site selection process by helping companies land in areas and
expand. The NNDA is a business-to-business resource to be the “one-stop shop” and
assist with any needs of the business. The NNDA also assists with workforce
development and training by working with partners within workforce development to
support those efforts. As for regulatory activities, the NNDA is the mediator between the
private sector and the public sector to help solve issues and promote additional growth.
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The NNDA also helps companies navigate federal, state, and local government regulatory
requirements to speed up the process. For financial activities, NNDA guides companies
through the state business incentives process, helps find federal grants and loans for
assistance, and supports international trade and exporting assistance to help companies
diversify their revenue streams into other markets.

For community development, there are three main programs: (1) NNDA Certified Sites
Program, (2) the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Brownfields Program, and (3) the
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Rural Partners Network.

The NNDA was also asked to provide a high-level business activity report (page 82,
Exhibit A). Over the last couple of years, the NNDA has assisted 102 companies. Of
those, ten companies received abatements. Of those ten companies, nine received
standard tax abatements and one received a data center tax abatement.

Page 83 (Exhibit A) provides more information about the community development
programs. The NNDA Certified Sites Program is managed by the NNDA Construction and
Design Committee. The committee does a due diligence process of a site that qualifies
for the Certified Sites Program so that all data is readily available to help speed up the
process for encouraging businesses to settle in the region. The NNDA has received
four EPA Brownfields Program grants since 2014, which has provided a direct investment
of $2.3 million into the region. The grant allows for an environmental review of sites to
see if they need any cleanup of hazardous waste. If there is hazardous waste, the grant
allows for a plan to get those sites cleaned up so that additional development
opportunities can occur. The third community development program is a newer one. Itis
with the USDA's Rural Partners Network, which is an all-government program that helps
rural communities find resources and funding to create jobs, build infrastructure, and
support long-term economic stability.

The other program is through the UNR Tech Hubs grant (page 84, Exhibit A). The
application for Phase 2 is due on February 29, 2024. The NNDA has worked diligently
with UNR to help support this project. If Phase 2 is awarded, it would be $75 million over
five years through the U.S. Department of Commerce. The NNDA is leading in the supply
chain enhancement area, which is one of the six project areas. This portion will focus on
onshoring and bringing companies into the state to help fill in the pipelines that are
targeted throughout the program.

| would like to showcase some success stories in the business development pipeline over
the last couple of years (page 85, Exhibit A):

e Western Ceramics Company, LLC, is a subsidiary of Lilac Solutions, Inc., and it
manufactures ceramic beads that go into wet lithium deposits. Western Ceramics
have an environmentally friendly way of extracting lithium from those deposits without
evaporating the water, which is the traditional method. Its average wage is $40 an
hour and the company is engaged in supporting local areas and nonprofit
organizations, such as the Boys and Girls Club and Friends In Service Helping.
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e AVK Elastomer Technology, Inc., is a company that landed in Minden, located in
Douglas County, and is from Denmark. The company manufactures and sells
products outside of the state as well as to a sister company that also landed in Minden
from Denmark about ten years ago called American AVK. American AVK is another
success story regarding expansion as it is building a foundry to support efforts so that
it no longer imports products from China.

o Symbia Fulfilment Services of Nevada, LLC, is a family-owned third-party logistics
company, which expanded into Storey County. It is very active in environmental and
sustainable initiatives, planting over 1,500 trees and doing a significant amount of
recycling of cardboard, metal, office waste, plastic film, and wood.

e Agru America, Inc., is a company in Fernley, located in Lyon County. It expanded its
manufacturing operation and is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of cover
systems in landfill applications, protective liners and fittings, and piping systems. The
company is very environmentally conscious and ensures that any production waste is
recycled or reused.

As for community development (page 86, Exhibit A), there is a total of 157 projects that
are supported through the Brownfields Program grant. One of those is an 8-acre site that
was redeveloped into a 160-unit multifamily affordable housing complex in Carson City.
Another project was an environmental study for Redwood Materials, a battery recycling
company, on 14.5 acres also in Carson City. Redwood Materials has since done an
expansion into Storey County. Then, in Mineral County there was a cleanup plan created.
Once that area is cleaned up, it will provide a location for approximately eight acres of
commercial development for the Babbitt Commercial Subdivision. There are also a total
of ten certified sites. The largest site is a 4,300-acre industrial development in Fernley
located in Lyon County for Victory Logistics District.

Regarding tax abatements, the incentives and programs that NNDA utilizes the most are
standard tax abatements and data center tax abatements (page 87, Exhibit A). Lately,
there have been a lot of inquiries about the $1 billion investment packet. For workforce
and training, NNDA gets the most inquiries from the Silver State Works program
through DETR. The NNDA works collaboratively with EmployNV, Nevadaworks, and
Western Nevada College. For commercial/industrial real estate, the NNDA Certified Sites
Program and the Brownfields Program grant are used for Phase 1 and Phase 2 analysis.
For energy and utilities, the most inquiries NNDA receives are regarding NV Energy’s
power efficiency services which is handled by NV Energy’s Business Energy Services
program. Lastly, for regulatory environment, the most inquiries NNDA received are
regarding the speed of resolving permitting issues, resolving transportation and permitting
issues between states, and state business licenses.

Concerning suggested changes for provisions of statute to support economic
development, the first change has to do with A.B. 400 of the 80" (2019) Legislature
(page 88, Exhibit A). Currently, a company in Nevada can expand one time. The NNDA
would like to have an analysis done to see what it would look like if companies were
allowed to expand more than one time. Initially, | was thinking about allowing companies
to expand in perpetuity, but other conversations have transpired, and | am not sure if that
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would make sense. The analysis would reveal what makes the most sense for the state
as well as for its rural regions. Especially in the rural regions, the NNDA wants to help
encourage companies to stay and expand and reduce the risk of another state trying to
convince those companies to leave and move elsewhere.

The next suggested change is regarding the criteria to qualify for standard tax abatements
(page 89, Exhibit A). One of the requirements is for companies to generate more than
50% of revenue from outside the state. The NNDA would like to have an analysis done
to determine whether that percentage should be lowered. Within rural Nevada, the
diversification is small because a lot of these communities are reliant on a few select
industries. Some are robust and profitable industries, such as mining. The idea is to
lower the requirement and help encourage value-added industries to come to rural
regions and create the expansion for those diversified value-added subsectors. That
could grow and bring in additional subindustries. By lowering the revenue requirement,
it would allow for those opportunities. An example can be seen by a company whose
majority of revenue is derived from selling to a mine or to a manufacturer. Perhaps 60% or
70% of the company’s revenue comes from the entity that is already in Nevada. That
company would not qualify for those standard tax abatements. Therefore, discussion and
analysis are needed.

Another suggested change pertains to Section 39 of S.B. 1 of the 35" (2023) Special
Session (page 90, Exhibit A), which requires companies that receive standard tax
abatements who have 50 or more employees to follow the FMLA of 1993. The NNDA
would like to have a detailed discussion and analysis done to clarify what the goals are
of the FMLA, what the benefits are to the state, what the ramifications are to the standard
tax abatement program, and how it will affect growth for companies in rural Nevada.

The final suggested change is regarding the capital investment of at least $1 billion or
$3.5 billion (page 91, Exhibit A). Currently, as these larger tax abatements come to
fruition, the governing body of the county, the board of trustees of the school district, and
the governing body of the city or town are notified at least 30 days before any public
meeting. The NNDA suggests developing a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) process in
which the local government and the state can sign an NDA and the local government can
join the conversation from the beginning so it can understand the fiscal ramifications of
the abatements on its communities and be able to communicate what fits best.

SENATOR SEEVERS GANSERT:

| appreciate that you provided the recommended changes in writing. | understand that
the smaller communities have different needs. Earlier in the meeting, Ms. Quigley
suggested having a closing deal. Nevada had that before, and it worked to ensure the
state landed some of the good deals. | believe that money was eventually used up but
perhaps the Legislature could seek resources to reestablish that.

35

39



40

SENATOR NEAL:

Regarding the main regional issues on page 77 (Exhibit A), planning for roads and roads
management is listed under transportation, infrastructure, and technology. The
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) provided significant money to the
Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT). Included in that was money for roads,
which has been used for the special Tropicana experience that no one likes. Those funds
may apply to NNDA's issue. Does NNDA need to get in contact with someone at NDOT?

MR. SUTICH:

Yes, | would like an introduction to better understand how much funding is available, what
the funds can be used for, whether communities can apply for those funds directly, and
what the process looks like. There is definitely a need.

SENATOR NEAL:

Investment in information technology and connectivity was also listed under transportation,
infrastructure, and technology on page 77 (Exhibit A). Of the IIJA, $416 million was given
to the Office of the Governor’s Office of Science, Innovation, and Technology. | would
reach out to the office because that is a significant amount of money. The NNDA should
try to remedy some of these issues with those funds. That $416 million was specifically
for broadband investment.

Regarding A.B. 400 on page 88 (Exhibit A), the Legislature limited the expansion
packages because the packages were being abused. There were companies that barely
fell under the umbrella and there was expansion after expansion. The Legislature was
not seeing what the impact was to revenue that was being abated, yet there were
three companies falling under that umbrella. In the application for rural communities, it
might be a tool used in a different way. What if there was a wholesale change that would
give NNDA what it needed for a rural community that has less than 100,000 people or
20,000 people in a town? That would be a very different conversation about what
expansion looks like and what the investment threshold looks like. If the NNDA could
describe an alternative to A.B. 400 that would give it the expansion tool needed for smaller
businesses, what would that alternative look like?

MR. SUTICH:

That is a good question and an interesting point. That is something | would like to learn
more about and understand the data. The NNDA is very data driven, so | would like to
review the analysis, examine what happened before to make sure those mistakes are not
made again, and explore whether it makes sense for the state to support expansions.
Each community is a little bit different, meaning each of the needs are a little bit different.
It would make sense for the NNDA to sit down with rural development authority
counterparts as well as different city and county managers to discuss the needs within
each area. Perhaps an incentive program could be implemented at a microlevel to figure
out the needs for each community and what those numbers look like.
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TATJIANA VUKOVIC (Deputy Director, NNDA):

An analysis needs to be done to set certain criteria. The NNDA would also like to work
with the economist at GOED to examine the specific type of industries and businesses
that are coming into Nevada. Certain types of businesses might bring a higher number
of jobs, but lower wages, and others bring a lower number of jobs but higher wages. What
would the capital investment be? Advanced manufacturing and the information technology
industry are going to bring higher paying jobs; however, some industries like
transportation and logistics might bring more jobs but the wages might be lower.
Therefore, an analysis needs to be done within rural communities to determine what type
of businesses, industries, and occupations should be encouraged to grow there.

SENATOR NEAL:

On page 91 (Exhibit A), you mentioned NRS 360.890, which pertains to a historical
conversation about having a seat at the table before the deal is finalized. | agree with
that. Since you mentioned lower investment thresholds, do you have any ideas on how
to create more options and reduce the $1 billion? | know there was a lot of conversation
by the 82" (2023) Legislature about this. For future reference, is there anything that
NNDA would adjust that would benefit the rural areas? | do not think these thresholds
make sense for the rural communities because of the population and workforce issues.
The fact that there is an aging population and some of Nevada’s essential workers are
between 18 to 24 years old should be considered. What are the criteria for a company
that is going to come and stay long term and going to have a long-term investment,
expand, and give more supply chain opportunity to younger entrepreneurs that might
grow out of the ecosystem?

MR. SUTICH:

That is something | would like to see an analysis done to really dive into what the benefits
would be. When this legislation was created, Nevada had just gone through the Great
Recession, and it needed jobs, help, and support, and the legislation provided that.
Things, dynamics, and economies change. | am open to helping examine this legislation
to see whether it needs to be revised and, if so, how to change it to support rural areas.
It would be interesting to look for what a community needs specifically, whether it be
medical resources or child care. What would create unique opportunities to help expand
those industries? Perhaps something could be put in place to help those community
needs for a timeframe of five or ten years, then it could be reexamined to see whether it
worked. How can we change that legislation so that it is better?

Regarding current programs that are in place to help alter the situation, there is a small
project created by Sheldon Mudd, Executive Director of the Northeastern Nevada
Regional Development Authority called Launch Rural Nevada. It is an event in which
students and adults pitch their business idea, get coaching on that idea, go through the
business plan competition, and get money awarded to them to help start the business.
The NNDA is working with Mr. Mudd to try to bring that to the western side of the state. It
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is a neat initiative that, if it had more funding and support, could take off and support the
grassroots movement.

Additionally, the Tech Hubs project that NNDA is working on with UNR, if awarded, will
create huge opportunities for rural Nevada and throughout the state. That will help give
rural RDAs the resources to market and showcase their regions and provide the
opportunity to recruit companies. It will also provide the funds to perform an analysis to
find the gaps within each region.

SENATOR NEAL:

There are a couple of programs that already exist that just need to be tweaked towards
rural communities. If NNDA were to change the statutes to also support the rural areas,
what would that look like? If NNDA were to scale the programs that GOED presented for
rural issues, what would that look like? | am asking this because even though | would
like to raise revenue, Nevada is in a framework that will not allow for that for a couple of
years. | want to experiment on how to grow Nevada within that framework with a targeted
and structured economic development strategy that can be reevaluated five years from
now. | think it is possible to see an expanded rural community with entrepreneurs, family
businesses, and startups who were able to expand their supply chain and become a
30-year or generational business.

Sometimes rural communities are viewed as if they have aging infrastructures but there
is a prime opportunity to try to keep some of those people there. Some of these places
are losing people because they are aging out but there are young people who might want
to stay if they were given the creative tools and the opportunity to advance. There are
programmatic structures that can support programs like Mr. Mudd’s to share resources
across the state towards those kinds of initiatives. It may be a large task, but it is doable
because the set of information can be reworked.

MR. SUTICH:

| appreciate and agree with your comments, Senator Neal. The NNDA will work on
answering those questions and let you know what ideas or solutions it comes up with.

ASSEMBLYMAN YUREK:

It is interesting to see what is going on in Northern Nevada and how some of it coincides
with what is occurring in Southern Nevada as well. Earlier, the LVGEA mentioned that
there were some unintended consequences because of S.B. 1 and there was a decline
in the number of applications for some of the standard tax abatement programs. Have
you observed anything like that?

MR. SUTICH:

That new law went into effect in October 2023 and, since then, | cannot say that there
have been any companies directly say they will not be coming into Nevada because of it.
However, the NNDA has not had any companies come to Northern Nevada since October.
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Last year, NNDA had three companies come through the standard tax abatement process
and one of them was a data center. There was a pipeline of companies coming and a lot
of interest, but this has stopped. The NNDA is still talking to companies about expansions
and looking at the different areas, but | think there is risk.

That is why | would like a more in-depth analysis of what the ramifications of S.B. 1 are.
If there is a company that wants to expand and it expands into that 50-employee range,
that company then will have to abide by this new law in perpetuity. The benefit of that
expansion and getting the tax abatement will eventually fall off and it will cost the company
money. The goal and the benefit of that law need to be examined to make sure Nevada
is meeting that goal as well as ensuring economic growth still occurs.

There was no further discussion on this agenda item.

VI. REPORT AND DISCUSSION OF FY 2024 YEAR-TO-DATE ACTUAL
COLLECTIONS COMPARED TO THE ECONOMIC FORUM MAY 1, 2023,
FORECAST, ADJUSTED FOR LEGISLATIVE ACTIONS APPROVED DURING
THE 2023 SESSION AND THE 34™ AND 35™ SPECIAL SESSIONS.

MicHAEL NAKAMOTO (Chief Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division):

| am going to review the YTD actual collections for the State General Fund compared to
the Economic Forum’s forecast and provide a high-level summary of each of the tables,
but | will mainly focus on the information on Table 2.

Table 1 on page 93 (Exhibit A) shows the State General Fund actual collections for
FY 2023 as well as the forecast for FY 2024. That is based on the May 1, 2023, forecast
that was approved by the Economic Forum for FY 2024 for actions that occurred during
the 82" (2023) Legislative Session. The green column displays each revenue source as
a percentage of the total General Fund for FY 2023 and FY 2024.

Table 2 on page 94 (Exhibit A) compares the YTD actuals for FY 2023 and FY 2024 as
well as the FY 2024 YTD forecast that has been calculated for each of the major revenue
sources as well as the non-major revenue sources and all other General Fund revenue
sources. The total General Fund revenues after Commerce Tax credits is at the bottom
of page 94.

Table 3 on page 95 (Exhibit A) is basically the difference between the YTD actuals and
the forecast to show how much revenue needs to be collected for the remainder of the
fiscal year to meet that forecast compared to the amount of revenue that was collected
for the same period in FY 2023.

Table 4 on page 96 (Exhibit A) is like Table 1 but is after the allocation of tax credits to
specific revenues. The revenues that are specifically relevant in this table are the
three highlighted in blue towards the top of the page: the Percentage Fees Tax, the
Insurance Premium Tax (IPT), and the Total MBT. The tax credits that affect the
State General Fund revenues affect those tax revenues specifically, so those are
accounted for separately.
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Table 5 on page 97 (Exhibit A) is like Table 2 but is after tax credits were allocated to
specific revenues. The information is similar to Table 2, but this table shows the impact
of the tax credits.

Table 6 on pages 98 and 99 (Exhibit A) is an itemization of each of the individual tax
credits. The table shows the revenue sources as well as the tax credit programs, each
itemized out. Those are the Film Transferable Tax Credits, the Economic Development
Transferable Tax Credits, the Catalyst Account Transferable Tax Credits, the
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits, the College Savings Plan Tax Credits, and the
Affordable Housing Transferable Tax Credits. The table shows how much of each of those
individual tax credit programs were used against each of the revenue sources for FY 2023
as well as FY 2024 YTD. On page 98 are the General Business/Nonfinancial MBT, the
MBT-Financial, and MBT-Mining components as well as the totals. As relevant
information to these tables, the percentage fees as well as the IPT are on page 99.

Pages 100, 101, and 102 (Exhibit A) are notes about some of the legislative actions from
the 82" (2023) Legislative Session that affected the State General Fund. Page 103
(Exhibit A) provides an overview of the tax credit programs.

Table 7 is on page 105 (Exhibit A) and compares the YTD revenues for the entire
State General Fund, including the State 2% Sales and Use Tax which is over $1.8 billion,
to some of the minor revenue sources that may bring in approximately $100. All YTD
collections are itemized.

Please note that the tables are YTD through January 31 of FY 2023 and FY 2024. A lot
of the information being presented today will change soon. The information that
the Fiscal Analysis Division receives from the Department of Taxation and the
Nevada Gaming Control Board is not available yet. The information from the
State Controller’'s system is pulled on the first day of the month. The Department of
Taxation and the Nevada Gaming Control Board are preparing their press releases and
should be releasing that information tomorrow. The Fiscal Analysis Division will take that
information and update these tables accordingly. Until then, these tables are through the
end of January so that the Committee can at least see what one month has done for the
General Fund.

Going back to Table 2 on page 94 (Exhibit A), | wanted to note a couple of typos relating
to some of the periods that are reported. For each of the major General Fund revenues,
there is a timeframe in parentheses showing the number of months or quarters that are
reflected in terms of what has been collected through the end of this period. For the
Sales and Use Tax, it should say five months rather than four months. The Department
of Taxation reported November collections for the Sales and Use Tax at the end of
January 2024. Formula 1 occurred in November 2023 so that is included in that
information. Looking at the dollar difference: actual less forecast, currently the actual
collections year-to-date are approximately $19.2 million below the forecast. That number
is slightly less negative than it was last month. It was -$19.6 million last month. The
difference is about $346,000. The month of November 2023 held the forecast, but the
Sales and Use Tax is still about 2.5% below forecast.
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The other typo is regarding the Percentage Fees Tax. The table says six months, but the
reporting is through seven months. Based on the way that the Nevada Gaming Control
Board reports information, December is considered the seventh month of the fiscal year.
The $45.9 million above the forecast is about $20 million higher than what was reported
to the Committee last month. December 2023 was one of the strongest months on record
for gaming win in the state, if not the strongest month. | believe the board said that it was
the 34" straight month of $1 billion of gaming win in Nevada, which is decidedly
unprecedented, and it was not accounted for in the Economic Forum forecasts.

Observing the Live Entertainment Tax (LET), the gaming portion is approximately
$5.7 million above the forecast. That number has decreased a little bit by about $300,000.
The nongaming portion is approximately $22.8 million above the forecast and is slightly
larger than what was reported in January by about $700,000. The total of the major
General Fund revenues is $58.8 million above the forecast and is a positive movement
of approximately $22 million over last month. That is primarily derived from the increase
in the percentage fees.

The select non-major General Fund revenues is approximately $7.6 million below the
forecast. That is lower than it was in January by about $1.8 million. The all other General
Fund revenues is approximately $46.3 million above the forecast and is about $400,000
less than it was in January.

The total General Fund revenues is currently about $95.6 million above the forecast and
is about $19.7 million higher than it was in January. As a reminder, the numbers are still
listed as $0 for the IPT and the MBT because there were reporting issues for both of those
taxes in the first quarter of FY 2023 that would have distorted the results for the
comparison between FY 2023 and FY 2024. There was revenue that was collected by
the Department of Taxation, but it was not actually recorded as revenue in that first quarter
because it did not have associated tax returns and there were other technical issues. The
revenue was reported in the second quarter of FY 2023 so it would be a fairer comparison
to take the first two quarters of FY 2024 against the first two quarters of FY 2023. The
Department of Taxation will report the first quarter for both the MBT and the IPT tomorrow
as part of the December report. When that information is available, there will be a clearer
picture of the revenue. The Fiscal Analysis Division is also waiting for information
regarding tax credits to better figure out the calculations.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN CONSIDINE:
Do the forecasts include the data from Formula 1?
MR. NAKAMOTO:

That depends on the revenue source. There was explicit discussion during the meetings
of the Economic Forum relating to Formula 1 and its possible effect on the LET. The
forecasters did take that into account as they presented their forecasts to the Economic
Forum. As one of the forecasters that presented its forecasts to the Economic Forum,
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the Fiscal Analysis Division did implicitly take the Formula 1 event into account for things
such as increased tourism counts when it presented its forecast.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN CONSIDINE:

| believe the Super Bowl was not exempt from the LET. Was that and the percentage of
people in Las Vegas considered in the forecast for the Liquor Tax, the LET-Gaming, and
others?

MR. NAKAMOTO:

Correct, the Super Bowl was not exempt from the LET. The LET was collected on the
tickets that were sold for that event. In the deliberations by the Economic Forum on the
LET-Nongaming forecast, there were explicit conversations about the effect of the Super
Bowl on that revenue source. With respect to other ancillary taxes such as the
Gaming Percentage Fee Tax, the Sales and Use Tax, and the Liquor Tax, the
Fiscal Analysis Division was mindful of the number of tourists that would be coming in
and other factors. Additionally, the division was mindful of the fact that the Super Bowl
was on the same weekend as the Lunar New Year, which is a strong driver of tourism for
Las Vegas. The division also had to consider whether factors such as room rates and
flight prices would be something that inhibited people who might have come to Las Vegas
for the Lunar New Year from coming because it might be too expensive for them. The
Department of Taxation will report the February numbers at the end of April. Further into
the spring, there will be a clearer picture on how the Super Bowl and Formula 1 affected
the state.

There was no further discussion on this item.
Vil. PUBLIC COMMENT.

There was no public comment.
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VIIl. ADJOURNMENT.

Chair Backus adjourned the meeting at 12:36 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Maria Montes, Committee Secretary

APPROVED:

Assemblywoman Shea Backus, Chair

Date
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Background

= Senate Bill 268 (2021 Legislative Session) added a budget stress testing requirement to the
Fiscal Analysis Division [NRS 218F.600(2)(f)].

= Budget stress tests to be conducted each even-numbered year to the extent of available
resources.

= No stress test was conducted in 2022 due to limited resources in the Division.

= Bill language was intentionally broad to allow the Fiscal Division to determine the most
appropriate methodologies and scenarios to use.
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Background

FISCAL ANALYSIS DIVISION

NRS 218F.600 Composition; general powers and duties.

1. The Fiscal Analysis Division consists of the Senate Fiscal Analyst, the Assembly Fiscal Analyst and such additional staff
as the performance of their duties may require.

2. The Fiscal Analysis Division shall:

(a) Thoroughly examine all agencies of the State with special regard to their activities and the duplication of efforts between
them.

(b) Recommend to the Legislature any suggested changes looking toward economy and the elimination of inefficiency in
government.

(c¢) Ascertain facts and make recommendations to the Legislature concerning the budget of the State and the estimates of the
expenditure requirements of the agencies of the State.

(d) Make projections of future public revenues for the use of the Legislature.
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What is a stress test?

= Following the bank failures of the Great Recession in 2007-2009, the federal government
began requiring large banks to undergo annual stress testing to determine how well the
banks could weather potential economic shocks in the future.

= According to the Federal Reserve:

“The test evaluates the resilience of large banks by estimating their capital levels, losses, revenue and
expenses under a single hypothetical recession and financial market shock... The individual results from the
stress test inform a bank's capital requirements to help ensure a bank could survive a severe recession and
financial market shock.” !

= Qver the past decade, states have begun to adopt this practice in order to study the risks to
their budgets in terms of lost revenue and, in some cases, increased expenditures (together
referred to as “revenue at risk”). States can then compare their revenue at risk to their
available rainy day funds, reserves, and other contingencies to assess the potential
resilience of the state’s financial system in the face of an economic shock.

1 https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20240626a.htm 5
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Which states conduct budget stress testing?

= As of the end of 2023, 13 states have
published at least one budget stress test.?

= Some states, such as Maine, Nebraska,
North Carolina, and Utah require budget
stress testing by law.

= Some states, such as California and New
Mexico, include a form of stress testing in
their official budget reports or revenue
estimates.

= All state budget stress tests include
estimates of lost revenue, but not all
include estimates of increased
expenditures due to recession (such as
on Medicaid, pensions, or education).

2 https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2023/11/tools-for-sustainable-state-budgeting g
Image reprinted with permission from The Pew Charitable Trusts




Stress Test vs. Long-Term Budget Assessment

= Pew identifies two separate tools states
can use to promote fiscal resilience: long-
term Igudget assessments and stress
tests.

= Long-term budget assessments can
identify structural deficits: when long-
term spending requirements outpace long-
term revenue projections.

= According to Pew, structural deficits are
often caused by factors outside of a state’s
control, such as economic, demographic,
or technological shifts that affect revenue
or spending.

= By contrast, stress tests estimate the risks
posed by temporary shortfalls resulting
from a recession or other economic shock.

65

3 https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2023/11/tools-for-sustainable-state-budgeting 7
Image reprinted with permission from The Pew Charitable Trusts
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Why conduct a budget stress test?

= States can compare the results of the stress test (in terms of decreased revenue and
increased expenditures) to budget reserves or other known buffers or contingencies in order
to better understand how revenues might respond to various shocks and how well the state is
positioned to weather such events overall.

= While introducing SB 268 in March 2021, Senator Dallas Harris stated:

“A budget stress test can help us evaluate various tax and spending decisions, set reserve goals,
consider our dependence on particularly volatile revenue streams, and ensure our critical state
programs are funded adequately.”

= SB 268 requires the Division to conduct a stress test for the state under various potential
economic conditions. It does not require a long-term budget assessment in the form of long-
term revenue and spending projections under baseline expectations.

4 https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/81st2021/Bill/7830/Exhibits g
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Pew's Leading Practices at a Glance

Examine multiple scenarios or a range of scenarios and estimate the likelihood of each.

Measure the effects of the scenarios on all major economically sensitive revenue sources
and spending categories.

Compare the effects of the scenarios to reasonable baseline expectations for revenue
collections and spending.

Project far enough into the future to account for the full multiyear effects of the scenarios on
the budget.

|dentify a broad list of contingencies to balance the budget in the event of stress.

Assess whether these contingencies would be sufficient to offset the measured effects and, if
not, present options to improve preparedness.
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Example: Structure of a budget stress test

Diagrams retrieved from: https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2023/11/tools-for-sustainable-state-budgeting 1o

Images reprinted with permission from The Pew Charitable Trusts
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Nevada 2024 Budget Stress Test Components

[Time Horizon
Two Biennia:
FY 2026 — FY 2029

State Funds|
General Fund;
State Education Fund

Revenues

All revenues into GF and SEF

Expenditures
K-12 Education; Medicaid

Baseline Forecasf]
Long-term trend

Recession Scenarios

Historical recessions:

- 2001 Mild Recession
- Great Recession

- Pandemic Recession

General Fund Revenues

Sales Tax (2%)

Gaming Percentage Fee
Modified Business Tax
Insurance Premium Tax
Commerce Tax

Real Property Transfer Tax
Live Entertainment Tax

All Other GF Revenues

State Education Fund
Sales Tax (LSST)
Property Tax (75 cent)
Room Tax (3%)

Net Proceeds of Minerals
Silver & Gold Mining Tax
GF Appropriation

All Other SEF Revenues

General Fund Expenditures

Medicaid
Appropriations to SEF

State Education Fund
Pupil-Centered Funding Plan
General Fund Appropriations

Potential Contingencies|

Rainy Day Account

Education Stabilization Account
Budget reserves

Cashflow management
Revenue enhancements
Budget reductions

Additional buffers

Results and conclusions on
the ability of the Nevada state
budget to weather three
different recession scenarios
based on estimated revenue
losses, expenditure
increases, and available
budget contingencies

Final Repo

To Governor
To Legislature
Posted on LCB Website
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Nevada 2024 Budget Stress Test Milestones

\/ Complete \/ Complete In Progress

The Fiscal Analysis Division intends to send the completed report to the Governor and the
Legislature before the commencement of the 83 (2025) Legislative Session.
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For any inquiries, please contact:

Michael Nakamoto

Chief Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst

Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative Counsel Bureau
Phone: (775) 684 — 6821

Email: mnakamoto@Icb.state.nv.us

Questions?
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TABLE 1
State General Fund Revenues: FY 2023 Actual and FY 2024 Forecast (BEFORE TAX CREDITS)

FY 2024 Forecast is the Economic Forum (EF) May 1, 2023, Forecast

FY 2023 Actual FY 2024 Forecast Percent of Total General Fund
EF May 2023 EF May 2023 | FY Forecast FY 2023 FY 2024
Fiscal FY FY Fiscal FY % Change Actual Percent Forecast Percent
Year Actual Forecast Year Forecast Based on of Total of Total
_ Revenue Source Actual % Change % Change Forecast % Change | FY 2023 Actual General Fund General Fund
Major General Fund Revenues
Sales and Use Tax [1.] $1,721,543,930 6.7% 8.3%] $1,843,322,000 5.5% 7.1%)| 29.3% 31.6%
Percentage Fees Tax [2.] $970,128,567 0.6% 0.1%]  $955,776,900 -1.0% -1.5% 16.5% 16.4%
Insurance Premium Tax [3.] $581,438,893 7.5% 6.0%) $606,509,000 5.7% 4.3% 9.9% 10.4%
Total Modified Business Tax (MBT) $919,644,080 12.8% 10.8%]  $784,905,000 -13.1% -14.7% 15.7% 13.4%
MBT-Nonfinancial $853,620,756 14.2% 12.1%]  $728,106,000 -13.1% -14.7% 14.5% 12.5%
MBT-Financial $44,035,096 -6.2% -7.5% $37,837,000 -12.8% -14.1% 0.7% 0.6%
MBT-Mining $21,988,228 5.3% 5.5% $18,962,000 -13.9% -13.8% 0.4% 0.3%
Total Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming and Non-Gaming) $201,288,644 44.6% 42.4% $200,603,000 1.2% -0.3% 3.4% 3.4%
Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming) $121,381,051 22.2% 25.7%]  $126,048,000 1.0% 3.8% 2.1% 2.2%
Live Entertainment Tax (Non-Gaming) $79,907,593 100.8% 84.1% $74,555,000 1.7% -6.7% 1.4% 1.3%
Real Property Transfer Tax [4.] $110,612,300 -37.8% -39.4%]  $110,489,000 2.5% -0.1% 1.9% 1.9%
Commerce Tax $302,294,190 7.2% 6.9%] $321,318,000 6.6% 6.3% 5.1% 5.5%
Total: Major General Fund Revenues $4,806,950,604 6.0%) 5.8%| $4,822,922,900 0.5%) 0.3%) 81.8% 82.6%
Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues
Transportation Connection Excise Tax $39,978,332 40.5% 40.0% $36,052,000 -9.6% -9.8% 0.7% 0.6%
Cigarette Tax $135,275,124 -6.1% -9.2%| $129,524,000 -1.0% -4.3% 2.3% 2.2%
Governmental Services Tax [5.] $27,035,866 2.3% 1.8% $0 -100.0% -100.0% 0.5% 0.0%
Business License Fee $118,270,353 -1.1% -0.5% $118,990,000 0.0% 0.6% 2.0% 2.0%
Liquor Tax $46,007,920 -8.7% -2.4% $49,886,000 1.4% 8.4% 0.8% 0.9%
Other Tobacco Tax [6.] $35,158,816 -1.7% -3.6% $33,797,000 -2.0% -3.9% 0.6% 0.6%
SOS Commercial Filings [7.] $85,644,772 -3.3% -1.9% $87,273,350 0.4% 1.9% 1.5% 1.5%
SOS Securities $36,480,299 4.0% 1.7% $36,209,000 1.5% -0.7% 0.6% 0.6%
Short-Term Car Rental Tax $81,417,029 9.2% 11.1%)| $86,061,000 3.9% 5.7%)| 1.4% 1.5%
Total: Select Non- Major General Fund Revenues $605,268,512 0.4% 0.5% $577,792,350 -4.6% -4.5% 10.3% 9.9%

Total: Tax Credit Programs -$49,958,212 -$52,360,550 -0.9% -0.9%)
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$5,876,534 -$8,500,000 -0.1% -0.1%
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 -$950,000 0.0% 0.0%
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 0.0% 0.0%
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$30,280,991 -$24,000,000 -0.5% -0.4%
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] -$10,800,296 -$8,910,000 -0.2% -0.2%
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] -$392 -$550 0.0% 0.0%
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] -$3,000,000 -$10,000,000 -0.1% -0.2%

Total: General Fund Revenues - After Tax Credits

5,762,480,775

5.1%

5,724,553,077
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TABLE 2

State General Fund Revenues: FY 2024 - Actual Compared to Forecast (BEFORE TAX CREDITS) [a.] [b-]

FY 2024 Forecast Year-to-Date Based on the Economic Forum FY 2023 Forecast Percent Change Based on FY 2023 Actual from Table 1

FY 2023 Actual Year-to-Date FY 2024 Actual Year-to-Date [c.] FY 2024 Forecast Year-to-Date
Fiscal | Fiscal YTD Fiscal | Fiscal YTD Fiscal | Fiscal YTD Dollar Percent
YTD as a % of YTD as a % of YTD as a % of Difference: Difference
Fiscal Actual | Fiscal Year Fiscal Actual Fiscal Year Fiscal Forecast | Fiscal Year Actual Relative
Revenue Source YTD % Actual YTD % Forecast YTD % Forecast less to
(Number of Periods Reported Fiscal YTD) Actual Change Total* Actual Change Total* Forecast Change Total* Forecast Forecast

Major General Fund Revenues
Sales and Use Tax (11 Months) [1] $1,571,040,881 7.1% 91.3%| $1,639,779,414 4.4% 89.0%| $1,682,172,711 7.1% 91.3% -$42,393,297 -2.5%
Percentage Fees Tax (12 Months) [2.] $970,128,567 0.6% 100.0%]  $999,947,104 3.1% 104.6%] $955,776,900 -1.5% 100.0%| $44,170,204 4.6%
Insurance Premium Tax (3 Quarters) [3.] $425,184,700 8.9% 73.1%] $469,766,347 10.5% 77.5%] $443,517,539 4.3% 73.1% $26,248,808 5.9%
Total Modified Business Tax (MBT) (3 Quarters) $693,534,804 14.1% 75.4%] $638,504,423 -7.9% 81.3%] $591,933,882 -14.6% 75.4% $46,570,541 7.9%

MBT-Nonfinancial $642,322,288 15.4% 75.2%| $592,423,281 -7.8% 81.4%| $547,876,453 -14.7% 75.2% $44,546,828 8.1%

MBT-Financial $34,165,487 -3.9% 77.6% $31,377,556 -8.2% 82.9% $29,356,573 -14.1% 77.6% $2,020,983 6.9%

MBT-Mining $17,047,029 9.7% 77.5% $14,703,586 -13.7% 77.5% $14,700,856 -13.8% 77.5% $2,730 0.0%)
Total Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming and Non-Gaming) $193,289,981 45.6% 96.0%|  $244,344,625 26.4% 121.8%] $193,140,125 -0.1% 96.3% $51,204,500 26.5%

Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming) (12 Months) $121,381,051 22.2% 100.0%] $126,959,093 4.6% 100.7%] $126,048,000 3.8% 100.0%)| $911,093 0.7%

Live Entertainment Tax (Non-Gaming) (11 Months) $71,908,929] 115.3% 90.0%] $117,385,532 63.2% 157.4%) $67,092,125 -6.7% 90.0% $50,293,407 75.0%
Real Property Transfer Tax (3 Quarters) [4.] $82,316,033] -37.5% 74.4% $78,031,312 -5.2% 70.6% $82,224,275 -0.1% 74.4% -$4,192,963 -5.1%
Commerce Tax $28,234,256 14.9% 9.3% $38,233,046 35.4% 11.9% $30,011,078 6.3% 9.3% $8,221,968 27.4%
Total: Major General Fund Revenues $3,963,729,222 6.6% 82.5%| $4,108,606,271 3.7% 85.2%| $3,978,776,510 0.4% 82.5% $129,829,761 3.3%
Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues
Transportation Connection Excise Tax (11 Months) $36,426,035] 43.1% 91.1% $36,474,634 0.1% 101.2%| $32,848,579 -9.8% 91.1% $3,626,055 11.0%)|
Cigarette Tax (11 Months) $122,922,840 -7.9% 90.9%] $111,377,563 -9.4% 86.0%] $117,696,864 -4.3% 90.9% -$6,319,300 -5.4%
Governmental Services Tax (12 Months) [5.] $26,847,707] 12.0% 99.3% $0| -100.0% $0| -100.0% $0
Business License Fee (12 Months) $118,249,146 -1.1% 100.0%]  $122,656,912 3.7% 103.1%] $118,968,664 0.6% 100.0%)| $3,688,248 3.1%
Liquor Tax (11 Months) $43,632,808 -5.0% 94.8% $44,935,335 3.0% 90.1% $47,310,686 8.4% 94.8% -$2,375,351 -5.0%
Other Tobacco Tax (11 Months) [6.] $32,205,947 -0.9% 91.6% $30,142,819 -6.4% 89.2% $30,958,505 -3.9% 91.6% -$815,686 -2.6%
SOS Commercial Filings (12 Months) [7.] $85,644,772 -3.3% 100.0% $89,170,782 4.1% 102.2% $87,273,350 1.9% 100.0%| $1,897,432 2.2%
SOS Securities (12 Months) $36,480,299 4.0% 100.0% $36,668,572 0.5% 101.3%| $36,209,000 -0.7% 100.0%| $459,572 1.3%
Short-Term Car Rental Tax (3 Quarters) $58,076,055 7.7% 71.3% $60,913,109 4.9% 70.8% $61,388,673 5.7% 71.3% -$475,564 -0.8%
Total: Select Non- Major General Fund Revenues $560,485,608 0.4% 92.6%| $532,339,727 -5.0% 92.1%| $532,654,322 -5.0% 92.2% -$314,595 -0.1%)

Total: General Fund Revenues - After Commerce Tax Credits

$4,795,290,695

5.6%

82.5%

$4,987,537,526

4.0%

86.6%

$4,764,028,728

-0.7%

82.5%

$223,508,798

4.7%

* Fiscal YTD as a % of Fiscal Year (Actual or Forecast) Total: Represents the fiscal year-to-date percentage for each revenue source compared to the fiscal year total for that revenue source.

[a.] The fiscal year amounts for the Major General Fund Revenues and Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues are based on the number of reporting periods identified in Table 2 as reported by the Department of Taxation,
Gaming Control Board or Secretary of State, as applicable (before the application of tax credits). The fiscal year-to-date amounts for the All Other General Fund Revenues represent figures obtained from the State Controller's
system through July 31, 2023 and July 31, 2024.

[b.] Due to the monthly and quarterly collection cycle of the individual State General Fund revenue sources, the actual fiscal year-to-date collections shown in Table 2 represent from eleven to twelve months for the monthly revenue
sources and three quarters for the quarterly revenue sources.

[c.] FY 2024 actual year-to-date reflects amounts obtained from the State Controller's system or reported by the agency responsible for administering the revenue source and may be subject to revision.
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TABLE 3
State General Fund Revenues: FY 2023 Remainder of Fiscal Year - Actual Compared to Forecast BEFORE TAX CREDITS)

FY 2024 Remainder of Fiscal Year Equals Fiscal Year Forecast less Fiscal YTD Actual

FY 2023 Actual Remainder of Fiscal Year

FY 2024 Forecast Remainder of Fiscal Year

Remainder | Remainder of Remainder Remainder of
Remainder of Fiscal Year Remainder of Fiscal Year
of Fiscal Year as a % of of Fiscal Year as a % of
Revenue Source Fiscal Year Actual Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Forecast Fiscal Year
(Number of Periods Remaining in Fiscal Year) Actual % Change | Actual Total* Forecast % Change Forecast Total*
Major General Fund Revenues
Sales and Use Tax (1 Month) [1.] $150,503,048 2.3% 8.7% $203,542,586 35.2% 11.0%
Percentage Fees Tax (0 Months) [2.] $0 0.0% -$44,170,204 -4.6%
Insurance Premium Tax (1 Quarter) [3.] $156,254,194 3.8% 26.9% $136,742,653 -12.5% 22.5%
Total Modified Business Tax (MBT) (1 Quarter) $226,109,276 8.9% 24.6% $146,400,577 -35.3% 18.7%
MBT-Nonfinancial $211,298,467| 10.7% 24.8% $135,682,719 -35.8% 18.6%
MBT-Financial $9,869,610 -13.2% 22.4% $6,459,444 -34.6% 17.1%
MBT-Mining $4,941,199 -7.5% 22.5% $4,258,414 -13.8% 22.5%
Total Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming and Non-Gaming) $7,998,664 25.0% 4.0% -$43,741,625 -646.9% -21.8%
Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming) (0 Months) $0 0.0% -$911,093 -0.7%
Live Entertainment Tax (Non-Gaming) (1 Month) $7,998,664 25.0% 10.0%| -$42,830,532 -635.5% -57.4%
Real Property Transfer Tax (1 Quarter) [4.] $28,296,267 -38.4% 25.6% $32,457,688 14.7% 29.4%
Commerce Tax $274,059,934 6.5% 90.7% $283,084,954 3.3% 88.1%
Total: Major General Fund Revenues $843,221,382 3.5% 17.5% $714,316,629 -15.3% 14.8%
Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues
Transportation Connection Excise Tax (1 Month) $3,552,297 18.3% 8.9% -$422,634 -111.9% -1.2%
Cigarette Tax (1 Month) $12,352,285 16.5% 9.1% $18,146,437 46.9% 14.0%
Governmental Services Tax (0 Months) [5.] $188,160 -92.4% 0.7% $0 -100.0%
Business License Fee (0 Months) $21,207 -6.5% 0.0% -$3,666,912 -17391.0% -3.1%
Liquor Tax (1 Month) $2,375,112 -46.7% 5.2% $4,950,665 108.4% 9.9%
Other Tobacco Tax (1 Month) [6.] $2,952,869 -9.1% 8.4% $3,654,181 23.8% 10.8%
SOS Commercial Filings (0 Months) [7.] $0 0.0%) -$1,897,432 -2.2%
SOS Securities (0 Months) $0 0.0% -$459,572 -1.3%
Short-Term Car Rental Tax (1 Quarter) $23,340,974 13.1% 28.7% $25,147,891 7.7% 29.2%
Total: Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues $44,782,903 0.8% 7.4% $45,452,623 1.5% 7.9%

Total: All Other General Fund Revenues [6.] $135,042,094 70.7% 20.2%|  $33,466,520 -75.2%

Total General Fund Revenues - Before Tax Credits

$1,023,046,380

9.0%

17.4%

$793,235,772

-22.5%

* Remainder of Fiscal Year as a % of Fiscal Year (Actual or Forecast) Total: Represents the percentage for each revenue source that remains to be collected during
each fiscal year compared to the fiscal year total for that revenue source.
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TABLE 4
State General Fund Revenues: FY 2023 Actual and FY 2024 Forecast (AFTER TAX CREDITS ALLOCATED TO SPECIFIC REVENUES)

FY 2024 Forecast is the Economic Forum (EF) May 1, 2023, Forecast

FY 2023 Actual FY 2024 Forecast Percent of Total General Fund
FY 2023 FY 2024
EF May 2023 EF May 2023 FY Forecast Actual Forecast
Fiscal FY FY Fiscal FY % Change Percent Percent
Year Actual Forecast Year Forecast Based on of Total of Total
_ Revenue Source Actual % Change % Change Forecast % Change FY 2023 Actual | General Fund | General Fund
Major General Fund Revenues
Sales and Use Tax [1.] $1,721,543,930 6.7%) 8.3%|] $1,843,322,000 5.5% 7.1% 29.9% 32.1%
Percentage Fees Tax [2.] $967,928,479 0.5% 0.2% $955,776,900 -1.0% -1.3% 16.8% 16.6%
Insurance Premium Tax [3.] $545,221,094 5.6%) 6.5% $582,509,000 6.0% 6.8% 9.5% 10.1%
Total Modified Business Tax (MBT) $846,579,642 12.0%)| 10.6% $716,957,450 -14.2% -15.3% 14.7% 12.5%
Total Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming and Non-Gaming) $201,288,644 44.6% 42.4% $200,603,000 1.2% -0.3% 3.5% 3.5%
Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming) $121,381,051 22.2% 25.7% $126,048,000 1.0% 3.8% 2.1% 2.2%
Live Entertainment Tax (Non-Gaming) $79,907,593 100.8%) 84.1% $74,555,000 1.7% -6.7% 1.4% 1.3%
Real Property Transfer Tax [4.] $110,612,300 -37.8% -39.4% $110,489,000 2.5% -0.1% 1.9% 1.9%
Commerce Tax $302,294,190 7.2% 6.9% $321,318,000 6.6% 6.3% 5.2% 5.6%
Total: Major General Fund Revenues $4,695,468,278 5.6% 5.8%| $4,730,975,350 0.5% 0.8% 81.5% 82.4%
Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues
Transportation Connection Excise Tax $39,978,332 40.5% 40.0% $36,052,000 -9.6% -9.8% 0.7% 0.6%
Cigarette Tax $135,275,124 -6.1% -9.2% $129,524,000 -1.0% -4.3% 2.3% 2.3%
Governmental Services Tax [5.] $27,035,866 2.3% 1.8% $0 -100.0% -100.0% 0.5% 0.0%
Business License Fee $118,270,353 -1.1% -0.5% $118,990,000 0.0% 0.6% 2.1% 2.1%
Liquor Tax $46,007,920 -8.7% -2.4% $49,886,000 1.4% 8.4% 0.8% 0.9%
Other Tobacco Tax [6.] $35,158,816) -1.7% -3.6% $33,797,000 -2.0% -3.9% 0.6% 0.6%
SOS Commercial Filings [7.] $85,644,772 -3.3% -1.9% $87,273,350 0.4% 1.9% 1.5% 1.5%
SOS Securities $36,480,299 4.0% 1.7% $36,209,000 1.5% -0.7% 0.6% 0.6%
Short-Term Car Rental Tax $81,417,029 9.2% 11.1%| $86,061,000] 3.9% 5.7% 1.4% 1.5%
Total: Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues $605,268,512 0.4%) 0.5%) $577,792,350 -4.6% -4.5% 10.5% 10.1%

[Total: Tax Credit Programs (Amount Not Allocated) | Programs (Amount Not Allocated) -$19,450,000 -0.3%)
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$8,500,000 -0.1%
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] -$950,000 0.0%
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 0.0%
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] $0 0.0%
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] $0 0.0%
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 0.0%
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] -$10,000,000 -0.2%

Total: General Fund Revenues - After Tax Credits

$5,762,480,775|

5.1%

$5,724,553,077

0.1%

-0.7%
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TABLE 5

State General Fund Revenues: FY 2024 - Actual Compared to Forecast (AFTER TAX CREDITS ALLOCATED TO SPECIFIC REVENUES) [a.] [b.]

FY 2024 Forecast Year-to-Date Based on the Economic Forum FY 2023 Forecast Percent Change Based on FY 2023 Actual from Table 4

FY 2023 Actual Year-to-Date

FY 2024 Actual Year-to-Date [c.]

FY 2024 Forecast Year-to-Date

Fiscal | Fiscal YTD Fiscal Fiscal YTD Fiscal | Fiscal YTD Dollar Percent
YTD as a % of YTD as a % of YTD as a % of Difference: Difference
Fiscal Actual | Fiscal Year Fiscal Actual | Fiscal Year Fiscal Forecast | Fiscal Year Actual Relative
Revenue Source YTD % Actual YTD % Forecast YTD % Forecast less to
(Number of Periods Reported Fiscal YTD) Actual Change Total* Actual Change Total* Forecast Change Total* Forecast Forecast
Major General Fund Revenues
Sales and Use Tax (11 Months) [1.] $1,571,040,881 7.1% 91.3%]) $1,639,779,414 4.4% 89.0%] $1,682,172,711 7.1% 91.3% -$42,393,297 -2.5%
Percentage Fees Tax (12 Months) [2.] $967,928,479 0.5% 100.0%] $998,104,622 3.1% 104.4% $953,934,418 -1.4% 99.8% $44,170,204 4.6%
Insurance Premium Tax (3 Quarters) [3.] $394,773,567 6.2% 72.4%| $449,803,524 13.9% 77.2% $423,554,716 7.3% 72.7% $26,248,808 6.2%
Total Modified Business Tax (MBT) (3 Quarters) $628,307,529] 13.7% 74.2%| $575,800,715 -8.4% 80.3% $529,230,174 -15.8% 73.8% $46,570,541 8.8%
MBT-Nonfinancial $577,792,985] 15.0% 73.9%] $530,229,680 -8.2% 72.8% $485,682,851 -15.9% 66.7% $44,546,828 9.2%
MBT-Financial $33,531,766] -3.5% 77.6% $30,957,361 -7.7% 81.8% $28,936,378 -13.7% 76.5% $2,020,983 7.0%
MBT-Mining $16,982,778 9.8% 77.5% $14,613,674 -14.0% 771% $14,610,944 -14.0% 771% $2,730 0.0%
Total Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming and Non-Gaming) $193,289,981| 45.6% 96.0%| $244,344,625 26.4% 121.8%) $193,140,125 -0.1% 96.3% $51,204,500 26.5%
Live Entertainment Tax (Gaming) (12 Months) $121,381,051] 22.2% 100.0%] $126,959,093 4.6% 100.7%| $126,048,000 3.8% 100.0%) $911,093 0.7%
Live Entertainment Tax (Non-Gaming) (11 Months) $71,908,929] 115.3% 90.0%] $117,385,532 63.2% 157.4%) $67,092,125 -6.7% 90.0% $50,293,407 75.0%
Real Property Transfer Tax (3 Quarters) [4.] $82,316,033] -37.5% 74.4% $78,031,312 -5.2% 70.6% $82,224,275 -0.1% 74.4% -$4,192,963 -5.1%
Commerce Tax $28,234,256] 14.9% 9.3% $38,233,046 35.4% 11.9% $30,011,078 6.3% 9.3% $8,221,968 27.4%
Total: Major General Fund Revenues $3,865,890,725| 6.1% 82.3%| $4,024,097,258 41% 85.1%| $3,894,267,497 0.7% 82.3% $129,829,761 3.3%)
Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues
Transportation Connection Excise Tax (11 Months) $36,426,035( 43.1% 91.1% $36,474,634 0.1% 101.2%) $32,848,579 -9.8% 91.1% $3,626,055 11.0%
Cigarette Tax (11 Months) $122,922,840| -7.9% 90.9%| $111,377,563 -9.4% 86.0% $117,696,864 -4.3% 90.9% -$6,319,300 -5.4%
Governmental Services Tax (12 Months) [5.] $26,847,707] 12.0% 99.3% $0| -100.0% $0| -100.0% $0
Business License Fee (12 Months) $118,249,146] -1.1% 100.0%] $122,656,912 3.7% 103.1% $118,968,664 0.6% 100.0% $3,688,248 3.1%
Liquor Tax (11 Months) $43,632,808] -5.0% 94.8% $44,935,335 3.0% 90.1% $47,310,686 8.4% 94.8% -$2,375,351 -5.0%
Other Tobacco Tax (11 Months) [6.] $32,205,947] -0.9% 91.6% $30,142,819 -6.4% 89.2% $30,958,505 -3.9% 91.6% -$815,686 -2.6%
SOS Commercial Filings (12 Months) [7.] $85,644,772] -3.3% 100.0%| $89,170,782 4.1% 102.2% $87,273,350 1.9% 100.0% $1,897,432 2.2%
SOS Securities (12 Months) $36,480,299 4.0% 100.0%| $36,668,572 0.5% 101.3% $36,209,000 -0.7% 100.0% $459,572 1.3%
Short-Term Car Rental Tax (3 Quarters) $58,076,055 7.7% 71.3% $60,913,109 4.9% 70.8% $61,388,673 5.7% 71.3% -$475,564 -0.8%
Total: Select Non- Major General Fund Revenues $560,485,608 0.4% 92.6%| $532,339,727 -5.0% 92.1% $532,654,322 -5.0% 92.2% -$314,595 -0.1%

Total: General Fund Revenues - After Tax Credits Allocated

$4,753,078,225

5.4%

82.5%

$4,958,205,842

4.3%

86.3%

$4,734,697,044

-0.4%

82.4%

* Fiscal YTD as a % of Fiscal Year (Actual or Forecast) Total: Represents the fiscal year-to-date percentage for each revenue source compared to the fiscal year total for that revenue source.

[a.] The fiscal year amounts for the Major General Fund Revenues and Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues are based on the number of reporting periods identified in Table 5 as reported by the Department of Taxation,

Gaming Control Board or Secretary of State, as applicable (after the application of tax credits).

obtained from the State Controller's system through July 31, 2023 and July 31, 2024.

The fiscal year-to-date amounts for the Governmental Services Tax and All Other General Fund Revenues represent figures

[b.] Due to the monthly and quarterly collection cycle of the individual State General Fund revenue sources, the actual fiscal year-to-date collections shown in Table 2 represent from eleven to twelve months for the monthly
revenue sources and three quarters for the quarterly revenue sources.

[c.] FY 2024 actual year-to-date reflects amounts obtained from the State Controller's system or reported by the agency responsible for administering the revenue source and may be subject to revision.
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TABLE 6

State General Fund Revenues: Tax Credit Programs
FY 2024 Actual Compared to Forecast for Each Revenue Source Impacted by Tax Credit Programs [a.]

FY 2023 Actual FY 2024 Forecast FY 2023 Actual YTD FY 2024 Actual YTD FY 2024 Forecast YTD
Fiscal Fiscal
FY Fiscal YTD YTD Dollar Percent
Forecast YTD Actual Forecast] Difference: Difference
Fiscal Year FY Actual % Fiscal Year % Fiscal YTD |Actual %] Fiscal YTD % Fiscal YTD % Actual less | Relative to
DESCRIPTION Actual Change Forecast Change Actual Change Actual Change Forecast Change Forecast Forecast
WINESSTAX(MBT)
MBT - NONFINANCIAL BUSINESSES (MBT-NFI)
MBT - Nonfinancial: Before Tax Credits $853,620,756 14.2%| $728,106,000 -14.7% $642,322,288  15.4%] $592,423,281 -7.8% $547,876,453 -14.7%| $44,546,828 8.1%)
Commerce Tax Credits -$61,033,687 N/A N/A N/A -$55,153,529 N/A -$54,759,542  -0.7% -$54,759,542 -0.7%) $0 0.0%)
MBT - Nonfinancial: After Commerce Tax Credits $792,587,068 13.2%] $728,106,000 -8.1% $587,168,759  14.1%] $537,663,739 -8.4% $493,116,911 -16.0%] $44,546,828 9.0%)|
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$739,637 $0 -$739,637 -$1,016,342 -$1,016,342 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 -$10,395,406 $0 -$8,635,980 -$6,417,518 -$6,417,518 $0
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] -$392 $0 -$158 -$199 -$199 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$11,135,436 $0 -$9,375,775 -$7,434,059 -$7,434,059 $0
MBT - Nonfinancial: After Tax Credit Programs $781.451.633 13.5%] $728.106.000 -6.8% $577.792.985 15.0%) $530.229.680 -8.2% $485.682.851 -15.9%] $44.546.828 9.2%
MBT - FINANCIAL BUSINESSES (MBT-FI)
MBT - Financial: Before Tax Credits $44,035,096 -6.2% $37,837,000 -14.1%) $34,165,487 -3.9%) $31,377,556  -8.2% $29,356,573 -14.1% $2,020,983 6.9%)
Commerce Tax Credits -$411,651 N/A N/A N/A -$408,247 N/A -$327,875 -19.7% -$327,875 -19.7% $0 0.0%)|
MBT - Financial: After Commerce Tax Credits $43,623,445 -5.9%) $37,837,000 -13.3%) $33,757,240 -19.3% $31,049,681 -8.0% $29,028,698 -14.0% $2,020,983 7.0%)|
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 -$404,890 $0 -$225,474 -$92,320 -$92,320 $0
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$404,890 $0 -$225,474 -$92,320 -$92,320 $0
MBT - Financial: After Tax Credit Programs $43,218,555 -6.2%) $37,837,000 - % $33,631,766  -3.5%] $30,957,361 -7.7% $28,936,378 -13.7%| $2.020,983 7.0%)|
MBT - MINING BUSINESSES (MBT-MINING)
MBT - Mining: Before Tax Credits $21,988,228 5.3% $18,962,000 -13.8% $17,047,029 9.7% $14,703,586 -13.7% $14,700,856 -13.8% $2,730 0.0%)|
Commerce Tax Credits -$78,774 N/A N/A N/A -$64,251 N/A -$89,912  39.9% -$89,912  39.9% $0 0.0%)
MBT - Mining: After Commerce Tax Credits $21,909,454 5.3% $18,962,000 -13.5%| $16,982,778 5.8% $14,613,674 -14.0% $14,610,944 -14.0% $2,730 0.0%)|
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
MBT - Mining - After Tax Credit Programs $21,909.454 5.3%)| $18.962.000 -13.5% $16.,982.778 9.8%)| $14.613.674 -14.0% $14.610.944 -14.0%) $2.730 0.0%
TOTAL MBT - NFI, FI, & MINING
TOTAL MBT: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $919,644,080 12.8%) $784,905.000 -14.7% $693,534.804  14.1%| $638.504.423 -7.9% $501,033.882 -14.6%] $46.570.541 2.9%
TOTAL COMMERCE TAX CREDITS -$61,524,113 N/A -$59,037.000 -4.0% -$55,626,026 N/A -$55,177,329  -0.8%) -$55,177,329 -0.8%)! $0 0.0%
TOTAL MBT: AFTER COMMERCE TAX CREDITS $858.119,967 11.8%) $725.868.000 -15.4% $637.908.778  11.6%| $583.327.094 -8.6% $536,756.553 -15.9%] $46.570.541 8.7%
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$739,637 $0 -$739,637 -$1,016,342 -$1,016,342 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 -$10,800,296 -$8,910,000 -$8,861,454 -$6,509,838 -$6,509,838 $0
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] -$392 -$550 -$158 -$199 -$199 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$11,540,325 -$8,910,550 -$9,601,249 -$7,526,379 -$7,526,379 $0
TOTAL MBT: AFTER TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS $646.579.642 120%] $716957.450 -153f] $628.307.500 13.7%| $575.800715 -84l $520230.174 -156%| sde570541  88%
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TABLE 6

State General Fund Revenues: Tax Credit Programs
FY 2024 Actual Compared to Forecast for Each Revenue Source Impacted by Tax Credit Programs [a.]

FY 2023 Actual FY 2024 Forecast FY 2023 Actual YTD FY 2024 Actual YTD FY 2024 Forecast YTD
Fiscal Fiscal
FY Fiscal YTD YTD Dollar Percent
Forecast YTD Actual Forecast] Difference: Difference
Fiscal Year FY Actual % Fiscal Year % Fiscal YTD |Actual %] Fiscal YTD % Fiscal YTD % Actual less | Relative to
DESCRIPTION Actual Change Forecast Change Actual Change Actual Change Forecast Change Forecast Forecast
Percent Fees - Gross Revenue: Before Tax Credits $970,128,567 0.6%| $955,776,900 -1.5% $970,128,567 0.6%| $999,947,104  3.1% $955,776,000  -1.6%| $44,170,204 4.6%
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$2,200,088 $0 -$2,200,088 -$1,842,482 -$1,842,482 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$2,200,088 $0 -$2,200,088 -$1,842,482 -$1,842,482 $0
Percent Fees - Gross Revenue: After Tax Credits 967,928,479 0.5%| 955,776,900 967,928,479 0.5%| 998,104,622 3.1% 053,934,418  -1.4% 44,170,204 4.6%
Insurance Premium Tax: Before Tax Credits $581,438,893 7.5%] $606,509,000 $425,184,700 8.9%| $469,766,347 10.5%) $443,517,539 4.3%] $26,248,808 5.9%)
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$2,936,809 $0 -$2,936,809 -$2,577,057 -$2,577,057 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$30,280,991 -$24,000,000 -$24,474,324 -$14,385,766 -$14,385,766 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] -$3,000,000 $0 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$36,217,799 -$24,000,000 -$30,411,133 -$19,962,823 -$19,962,823 $0
Insurance Premium Tax: After Tax Credit Programs $545,221,094 5.6%] $582,509,000 $394,773,567 6.2%) $449,803,524 13.9% iﬁg_gggﬁ 716 7.3%) $26,248.808 6.2%
TRACKING OF FY 2024 TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS ONLY
FY 2024 Year-to-Date Actual and Forecast
(Tax Credits Used)
Dollar Percent
Difference: | Difference
FY 2024 FY 2024 Actual less | Relative to
Actual YTD Forecast YTD Forecast Forecast
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$5,435,881 -$5,435,881 $0 0.0%)
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$14,385,766 -$14,385,766 $0 0.0%
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 -$6,509,838 -$6,509,838 $0 0.0%)
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] -$199 -$199 $0 0.0%
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000 $0 0.0%)
Total - Tax Credit Programs Fiscal Year-to-Date -$29,331,684 -$29,331,684 $0 0.0%)
TRACKING OF FY 2024 TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS ONLY
FY 2024 Forecast Compared to Actual Year-to-Date
(Tax Credits Remaining to be Used)
FY 2024
Tax Credits | Percent of
FY 2024 FY 2024 Remaining FY 2024
Forecast Actual YTD to be Used Forecast
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$8,500,000 -$5,435,881 -$3,064,119 36.0%
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] -$950,000 $0 -$950,000 100.0%
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$24,000,000 -$14,385,766 -$9,614,234 40.1%
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5 -$8,910,000 -$6,509,838 -$2,400,162 26.9%
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] -$550 -$199 -$351 63.8%
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] -$10,000,000 -$3,000,000 -$7,000,000 70.0%
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$52,360,550 -$29,331,684 -$23,028,866 44.0%

[a.] FY 2024 actual year-to-date reflects amounts obtained from the State Controller's system or reported by the agency responsible for administering the revenue source and may be subject to revision.
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Notes:

The Economic Forum's forecast shown reflects the forecast approved at the May 1, 2023, meeting adjusted for actions approved by the Legislature in the 2023 Session (82nd Session):

[1.] Sales and Use Tax: S.B. 428 requires the submission of a question on the November 2024 General Election ballot seeking approval to amend the Sales and Use Tax Act of 1955 to provide an exemption
from the State 2% sales and use tax for diapers for children and adults. If this question is approved by the voters, the sales tax exemption for these products will be effective January 1, 2025, until December
31, 2050.

S.B. 428 also provides that if the ballot question is approved by the voters, identical exemptions for these products from the Local School Support Tax and other state and local taxes would become
effective January 1, 2025, and would also expire on December 31, 2050. If approved, these exemptions would reduce the amount of the commission that is kept by the Department of Taxation and deposited in
the State General Fund for collection of these taxes.

[2.] Gaming Percentage Fees - Gross Gaming Revenue: S.B. 266 excludes, for the purposes of gross gaming revenue for the calculation of the percentage fee tax on gross gaming revenue, cash received
as entry fees for the right to participate in a contest or tournament conducted on the premises of a licensed gaming establishment with the participants physically present at those premises when participating
under certain circumstances, effective July 1, 2023. The effective date of July 1, 2023, results in a reduction of revenue of $1,563,100 for the last 11 months of FY 2024, and $1,705,200 for all twelve months of
FY 2025.

[3.] Insurance Premium Tax: S.B. 435 specifies that if an assessment against the operators of certain private medical providers in Nevada is imposed by the Division of Health Care Financing and Policy of
the Department of Health and Human Services, the proceeds must be used to provide additional support and services under Medicaid for Medicaid recipients with serious behavioral health conditions, effective
upon passage and approval (June 8, 2023).

If such an assessment is imposed, the use of these proceeds for Medicaid services is anticipated to increase capitation payments to contracted managed care organizations, which would increase insurance
premium tax collections (as these capitation payments are considered as net direct considerations for the calculation of the tax). However, as it is not known what the rate of assessment that may be imposed
or when such an assessment may begin, the effect on the State General Fund is not known at this time.

[4.] Real Property Transfer Tax: A.B. 448 clarifies that the exemption from the real property transfer tax for a mere change in identity, form or place of organization, does not apply if the business entity to
which the real property is transferred was formed for the purpose of avoiding those taxes, effective upon passage and approval (June 15, 2023). The effect upon the State General Fund is not known at this
time, as it is anticipated that the Department of Taxation will need to develop regulations to establish guidelines for determining which entities are formed for the purpose of avoiding the tax.

[5.] Governmental Services Tax: S.B. 452 requires 100% of the proceeds from the portion of the Governmental Services Tax (GST) generated from the 10% depreciation schedule change, approved in S.B.
429 (2009), to be permanently allocated to the State Highway Fund, effective July 1, 2023. As approved under this bill, the State General Fund will no longer receive proceeds from this tax beginning in FY
2024.

[6.] Other Tobacco Tax: A.B. 232 revises the tax on other tobacco products to specify that the tax on premium cigars, defined as a cigar that is rolled by hand, has a wrapper made of whole tobacco leaves,
and which does not have a filter or mouthpiece, is 30 percent of the wholesale price of the cigar, but cannot be less than 30 cents per premium cigar or more than 50 cents per premium cigar, effective July 1,
2023, until June 30, 2027. Estimated to reduce collections by $1,000,000 per fiscal year in FY 2024 and FY 2025.

[7.] Commercial Recordings: A.B. 260 provides an exemption from any fees imposed by the Secretary of State's Office under Title 7 of the NRS for veterans services organizations, as recognized by the
United States Secretary of Veterans Affairs, any agent or officer of such an organization, effective January 1, 2024. Estimated to reduce revenue by $650 in FY 2024 and $1,300 in FY 2025.

[8.] Total All Other General Fund Revenues: Includes all General Fund revenue sources not specifically listed under Major General Fund Revenues and Select Non-Major General Fund Revenues that were
authorized in statute to be collected in FY 2023 or FY 2024.

[8.11 NET PROCEEDS OF MINERALS TAX (S.B. 124)

S.B. 124 amends the provisions originally approved in S.B. 3 of the 31st Special Session (July 2020), which required the prepayment of the State General Fund portion of the Net Proceeds of Minerals
Tax for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023 based on the estimated mining activity during each of those calendar years, to revert the payment of the tax back to its former method (tax due based on actual
mining activity from the preceding calendar year) of taxing net proceeds on July 1, 2022, rather than on July 1, 2023, as originally approved in S.B. 3. The passage of S.B. 124 will require these tax
proceeds to be paid based on actual calendar year 2023 mining activity during FY 2024, and the proceeds will be deposited in the State Education Fund, pursuant to A.B. 495 (2021); thus, the resultant
forecast for this tax remains zero in FY 2024 and FY 2025, based on current law. Because this bill was signed by the Governor on February 27, 2023 and became effective upon passage and approval,
the Economic Forum's May 1, 2023, forecast includes the effect of this legislation.

[8.2] MISC. FINES/FORFEITURES (S.B. 145)
S.B. 145 revises the fine structure that may be imposed by the Labor Commissioner for violations of provisions relating to intentional misclassification of employees by an employer, removing the $2,500
fine that may be imposed upon an employer for a first offense of these provisions. Estimated to reduce revenue by $10,000 per fiscal year in FY 2024 and FY 2025.
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Notes:

[8.3] EITS REPAYMENT - I.T. SERVICE MANAGEMENT PROVIDER REPLACEMENT (A.B. 482)

A.B. 482 provides General Fund appropriations totaling $422,932 to the Office of Finance in the Office of the Governor as a loan to the Enterprise Application Services Unit of the Division of Enterprise
Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of the information technology service management provider and for the replacement of computer hardware and
associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the costs for these specified purposes per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

[8.4] EITS REPAYMENT - COMPUTER HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE REPLACEMENT (A.B. 487)

A.B. 487 provides a General Fund appropriation of $17,147 to the Office of Finance in the Office of the Governor as a loan to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the
Department of Administration for the replacement of computer hardware and associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the cost of the replacement
of the computer hardware and associated software per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

[8.5] EITS REPAYMENT - FIREWALL REPLACEMENT AND SECURITY UPGRADES (A.B. 488)

A.B. 488 provides General Fund appropriations totaling $1,611,624 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of computer
hardware and associated software; for the replacement of components of a security firewall; and for security upgrades to mountaintop microwave sites. The legislatively approved repayment of this
appropriation is 25 percent of the costs for these specified purposes per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

[8.6] EITS REPAYMENT - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INVESTMENTS TRACKING SYSTEM (A.B. 506)

A.B. 506 provides General Fund appropriations totaling $272,082 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of the system for
tracking information technology investments and for the replacement of computer hardware and associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the costs
for these specified purposes per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

[8.7] CITY OF NORTH LAS VEGAS REPAYMENT - WINDSOR PARK RELOCATION (S.B. 450)

S.B. 450 provides a General Fund appropriation of $12,000,000 to the Housing Division of the Department of Business and Industry to establish a program for the relocation of persons residing in the
Windsor Park neighborhood of the City of North Las Vegas whose residences have been damaged by the sinking of the ground beneath the residences. The legislatively approved repayment of this
appropriation, which must be withheld from the payment made from the Local Government Tax Distribution Account to the City of North Las Vegas, is $250,000 per month for each month beginning on
July 1, 2023, and ending in the month when the total amount withheld from the city equals 12,000,000.

[8.8] COURT ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT FEE (S.B. 448)

S.B. 448 eliminates the distribution of certain court administrative assessment fees to the Office of the Court Administrator and other functions pursuant to subsection 8 of NRS 176.059, and instead
requires that those proceeds be deposited in the State General Fund in addition to the $5 per assessment that is currently deposited pursuant to subsections 5 and 6 of NRS 176.059, effective July 1,
2023. The elimination of this revenue distribution additionally eliminates the provisions that require court administrative assessment revenue that was not used or distributed for these purposes to be
deposited in the State General Fund. Estimated to generate $15,569,000 per fiscal year in FY 2024 and FY 2025.

[8.9] COST RECOVERY PLAN
Adjustment to the Statewide Cost Allocation amount included in the Legislatively Approved budget after the May 1, 2023, approval of the General Fund revenue forecast by the Economic Forum.

[8.10] UNCLAIMED PROPERTY (A.B. 45)

A.B. 45 requires, by the end of each fiscal year, the transfer of $2,500,000 from the Abandoned Property Trust Account (Unclaimed Property) to the Account for Student Loan Repayment for Providers of
Health Care in Underserved Communities, effective January 1, 2024. This revenue must be transferred after the required transfer of the first $7.6 million to the Millennium Scholarship Trust Fund and the
next $1 million to the Grant Matching Account.

A.B. 45 additionally requires, if the Nevada Health Service Corps has been established pursuant to NRS 396.900, that $250,000 per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2024, be transferred to the University of
Nevada School of Medicine for the purpose of obtaining matching money for the Corps from the federal government. This transfer must occur after the $7.6 million transfer to the Millennium Scholarship
Trust Fund; the $1 million transfer to the Grant Matching Account; and the $2,500,000 transfer to the Account for Student Loan Repayment for Providers of Health Care in Underserved Communities.
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Notes:
TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS APPROVED BY THE LEGISLATURE

[TC-1] Pursuant to S.B. 165 (2013), the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) could issue up to $20 million per fiscal year for a total of $80 million for the four-year pilot program in transferrable
tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The provisions of the film tax credit program were amended in S.B. 1 (28th Special
Session (2014)) to reduce the total amount of the tax credits that may be approved by GOED to a total of $10 million.

Pursuant to A.B. 492 (2017), a total of $10 million per year in film tax credits may be awarded by GOED beginning in FY 2018, in addition to any remaining amounts from S.B. 1 of the 28th Special Session
(2014). Any portion of the $10 million per fiscal year that is not approved by GOED may be carried forward and made available during the next or any future fiscal year. The forecasts for FY 2023, FY 2024,
and FY 2025 are based on information provided by the Nevada Film Office of GOED.

[TC-2] Pursuant to S.B. 1 (28th Special Session (2014)), for certain qualifying projects, the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) is required to issue transferrable tax credits that may be used
against the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and the Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The amount of transferrable tax credits are equal to $12,500 for each qualified employee employed by the
participants in the project, to a maximum of 6,000 employees, plus 5 percent of the first $1 billion of new capital investment in the State made collectively by the participants in the qualifying project, plus an
additional 2.8 percent of the next $2.5 billion in new capital investment in the State made collectively by the participants in the project. The amount of credits approved by GOED may not exceed $45 million per
fiscal year (though any unissued credits may be issued in subsequent fiscal years), and GOED may not issue total credits in excess of $195 million. The forecast is $0 per fiscal year for FY 2023, FY 2024, and
FY 2025, because the entirety of the $195 million in transferrable tax credits that could be authorized pursuant to S.B. 1 have been awarded and used.

Pursuant to S.B. 1 (29th Special Session (2015)), for certain qualifying projects, the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) is required to issue transferrable tax credits that may be used against
the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and the Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The amount of transferrable tax credits are equal to $9,500 for each qualified employee employed by the participants
in the project, to a maximum of 4,000 employees. The amount of credits approved by GOED may not exceed $7.6 million per fiscal year (though any unissued credits may be issued in subsequent fiscal years),
and GOED may not issue total credits in excess of $38 million.

Pursuant to Senate Bill 410 of the 2019 Session, a project is eligible for the transferable tax credits only if the Interim Finance Committee approves a written request submitted by GOED for the issuance of the
transferable tax credits. The Interim Finance Committee may approve such a request only if the Interim Finance Committee determines that approval of the request will not impede the ability of the Legislature
to carry out its duty to provide for an annual tax sufficient to defray the estimated expenses of the State for each fiscal year as set forth in Article 9, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution; and will promote the
economic development of this State and aid the implementation of the State Plan for Economic Development developed by the Executive Director of GOED.

On January 31, 2023, the Interim Finance Committee, under the provisions required pursuant to Senate Bill 410 of the 2019 Session, approved a written request by the Office of Economic Development for the
issuance of $2,137,500 in transferable tax credits to Redwood Materials, Inc., the lead participant engaged in a qualified project in Storey County. The Board of Economic Development approved the application
for this project at its meeting on December 1, 2022. Based on information received from GOED, the estimated amount of credits that will be used is $950,000 in FY 2024, $475,000 in FY 2025, and $712,500 in
FY 2026.

[TC-3] Pursuant to S.B. 357 (2013), the Nevada New Markets Jobs Act allows insurance companies to receive a credit against the tax imposed on insurance premiums in exchange for making qualified equity
investments in community development entities, particularly those that are local and minority-owned. A total of $200 million in qualified equity investments may be certified by the Department of Business and
Industry. In exchange for making the qualified equity investment, insurance companies are entitled to receive a credit against the Insurance Premium Tax in an amount equal to 58 percent of the total qualified
equity investment that is certified by the Department. The credits, which were allowed to be taken by insurance companies beginning in the third quarter of FY 2015 under the provisions of S.B. 357, may be
taken in increments beginning on the second anniversary date of the original investment, as follows:

2 years after the investment is made: 12%; 3 years after the investment is made: 12%; 4 years after the investment is made: 12%; 5 years after the investment is made: 11%; and 6 years after the investment is
made: 11%.

Pursuant to A.B. 446 (2019), an additional $200 million in qualified equity investments could be certified by the Department of Business and Industry, effective July 1, 2019, with a total of $116 million of credits
that may be taken based on the increment percentages originally approved in S.B. 357 (2013). However, pursuant to A.B. 446, no credits could be taken against the Insurance Premium Tax before July 1, 2021
(FY 2022).

Pursuant to S.B. 450 (2023), an additional $170 million in qualified equity investments may be certified by the Department of Business and Industry, effective July 1, 2024, with a total of $98.6 million of credits
that may be taken based on the increment percentages originally approved in S.B. 357 (2013). However, pursuant to S.B. 450, no credits may be taken against the Insurance Premium Tax before July 1, 2026
(FY 2027).

S.B. 240 additionally allows the Department of Business and Industry, effective July 1, 2024, to certify $30 million in impact qualified equity investments, with a total of $22.5 million of credits that may be taken
based on the increment percentages in the bill (0% in the first two years, and 15% per year in the next five years). Pursuant to S.B. 240, none of these credits may be taken against the Insurance Premium Tax
before July 1, 2026 (FY 2027).

[TC-4] S.B. 507 (2015) authorizes the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) to approve transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax,
and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax to new or expanding businesses to promote the economic development of Nevada. As approved in S.B. 507, the total amount of transferrable tax credits that may be issued is
$500,000 in FY 2016, $2,000,000 in FY 2017, and $5,000,000 for FY 2018 and each fiscal year thereafter.

A.B. 1 of the 29th Special Session (2015) reduced the total amount of transferrable tax credits that may be issued by GOED to zero in FY 2016, $1 million in FY 2017, $2 million per year in FY 2018 and FY
2019, and $3 million in FY 2020. For FY 2021 and future fiscal years, the amount of credits that may be issued by GOED remains at $5 million per year. The forecasts for FY 2023, FY 2024, and FY 2025 are
based on information provided by GOED.



L)

Notes:

[TC-5] A.B. 165 (2015) allows taxpayers who make donations of money to certain scholarship organizations to receive a dollar-for-dollar credit against the taxpayer's liability for the Modified Business Tax
(MBT). The total amount of credits that may be approved by the Department of Taxation (Department) is $5 million in FY 2016, $5.5 million in FY 2017, and 110 percent of the total amount of credits authorized
in the previous year, for all subsequent fiscal years.

S.B. 555 (2017) authorized an additional $20 million in credits against the MBT under this program in Fiscal Year 2018 beyond those that were authorized in FY 2018 based on the provisions of A.B. 165
(2015). Any amount of the $20 million in credits that is not approved by the Department may be issued in future fiscal years.

A.B. 458 (2019) permanently eliminated the 10 percent increase in the amount of credits that may be authorized in each year, capping the total amount that may be authorized in each year at $6,655,000
beginning in FY 2020. The bill additionally clarified that the $6,655,000 limit per year applies to the combined credits that may be taken under both chapters of the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B), rather than
as a separate limit for each chapter.

S.B. 551 (2019) authorized an additional $4,745,000 in credits against the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B combined) under this program per year in FY 2020 and FY 2021 beyond those that were authorized in
those years based on the provisions of A.B. 458 (2019). Any amount of the $4,745,000 in credits that is not approved by the Department in each fiscal year may be issued in future fiscal years.

A.B. 495 (2021) authorized an additional $4,745,000 in credits against the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B combined) under this program per year in FY 2022 beyond those that are authorized in that year
based on the provisions of A.B. 458 (2019). Any amount of the $4,745,000 in credits that is not approved by the Department in FY 2022 may be issued in future fiscal years. The forecast for FY 2022 is based
on the maximum amount of $6,655,000 allowed pursuant to A.B. 458 (2019) plus the additional $4,745,000 per year authorized under A.B. 458 (2019) that are expected to be taken in this fiscal year. The
forecasts for FY 2023, FY 2024, and FY 2025 were prepared by the Governor's Finance Office and the Fiscal Analysis Division based on information provided by the Department of Taxation.

[TC-6] S.B. 412 (2015) provides a tax credit against the Modified Business Tax (MBT) to certain employers who match the contribution of an employee to one of the college savings plans offered through the
Nevada Higher Education Prepaid Tuition Program and the Nevada College Savings Program authorized under existing law. The amount of the tax credit is equal to 25 percent of the matching contribution, not
to exceed $500 per contributing employee per year, and any unused credits may be carried forward for 5 years. The provisions relating to the Nevada College Savings Program are effective January 1, 2016,
and the Higher Education Prepaid Tuition Program are effective July 1, 2016.

The forecasts for FY 2023, FY 2024, and FY 2025 are based on information provided by the Treasurer's Office on enrollment and contributions for the College Savings Program.

[TC-7] S.B. 448 (2019) authorizes the Housing Division of the Department of Business and Industry (Division) to approve a total of $40 million of transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified
Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. Under the provisions of S.B. 448, the Division may award up to $10 million in transferable tax credits per year to persons who develop
affordable housing projects in Nevada over the four years of the pilot program, but may award an additional $3 million in credits in any fiscal year if the issuance of the credits is necessary for the development
of additional affordable housing projects in the state. If the Division approves any credits in excess of $10 million in a fiscal year, the amount to be awarded in the next fiscal year must be reduced by the amount
in excess of $10 million that was issued in the previous fiscal year. If the Division does not issue all of the $10 million in credits authorized in a fiscal year, that amount is carried forward and may be issued in a
subsequent fiscal year.

S.B. 284 (2021) made several changes to this tax credit program, including revising the procedure for the issuance of transferable tax credits so that transferable tax credits are issued before, rather than after,
the project is completed; removing the 4-year sunset provisions originally established by S.B. 448 (2019), making the program permanent; and clarifying that the maximum amount of tax credits that may be
issued under the program remains at $40 million as established in S.B. 448 (2019).

The forecasts for FY 2023, FY 2024, and FY 2025 are based on information provided by the Division.
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TABLE 7

GENERAL FUND REVENUES - ACTUALS
FY 2020 THROUGH FY 2023 AND FY 2024 VERSUS FY 2023 YEAR-TO-DATE THROUGH JULY 2024
Joint Interim Standing Committee on Revenue - August 27, 2024, Meeting

YEAR-TO-DATE [a)]

FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change
TAXE
MINING TAX
3064 Net Proceeds of Minerals [1-21][1-24] $57,157,296 13.5%) $177,607,159  210.7%) $71,266,942  -59.9% $1,441,386 -98.0% $1,441,386 $0
3245 Centrally Assessed Penalties $1,684 $12,188 $423 $0 $0j $0
Mining Gross Revenue Tax - Gold and Silver [3-22] $36,921,487 $68,281,750 $67,829,170 $0
TOTAL MINING TAXES AND FEES $57.158,980 $177.619,347 $108,188,852 $69,723,135 $69,270,556 $0
SALES AND USE
3001 Sales & Use Tax [1-20][4-22][1-25] $1,214,701,336 $1,325,814,026 $1,613,341,781 $1,721,543,930 $1,571,040,881|| $1,639,779,414 4.4%)
3002 State Share - LSST [1-20][4-22][1-25] $11,770,188 $12,976,471 $15,666,269 $16,491,566 $15,071,912] $15,684,131 4.1%|
3003 State Share - BCCRT [1-20][4-22][1-25] $5,254,882 $5,783,773 $7,004,724 $7,384,228 $6,752,896 $7,014,379 3.9%)
3004 State Share - SCCRT [1-20][4-22][1-25] $18,387,225 $20,237,415 $24,509,793 $25,839,923 $23,629,844] $24,545,456 3.9%)
3005 State Share - PTT [1-20][4-22][1-25] $13,825,825 $15,761,379 $19,349,241 $20,426,887 $18.,685,833 $19,370,297 3.7%)
TOTAL SALES AND USE $1,263,939,457 $1,380,573,065 $1.679,871,809 $1,791,686,533 $1 $1.706,393,678 @
GAMING - STATE
3041 Percent Fees - Gross Revenue: Before Tax Credits [4-24] $619,269,825 -17.7%) $685,144,193 10.6%) $964,214,339  40.7%) $970,128,567 0.6%) $970,128,567 $999,947,104 3.1%|
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$337,637 -$1,030,589 -$664,260 -$2,200,088 -$2,200,088] -$1,842,482
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] -$21,912,501 $0 $0 $0 $0j $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] -$300,000 $0 $0 $0 $0j $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0j $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$22,550,138 -$1.030,589 -$664.260 -$2,200,088 -$2.200,088 -$1,842.482
Percent Fees - Gross Revenue: After Tax Credits $596,719,687  -15.8%) $684,113,604 14.6%) $963,550,079  40.8%) $967,928,479 0.5% $967,928,479 $998,104,622 3.1%)
3032 Pari-mutuel Tax $3,379 4.7% $0 -100.0%) $3,162 $3,858 $3,858] $3,580 -7.2%
3181 Racing Fees $9,286 24.5% $0 -100.0%] $10,102 $5,390 $5,390] $10,605 96.8%
3247 Racing Fines/Forfeitures $0 $0 $1,500 $3,900 $3,900) $750 -80.8%)
3042 Gaming Penalties $176,184  -99.2%) $761,164  332.0%) $361,734  -52.5%) $329,016 $329,016 $10,904,655 3214.3%)
3043 Flat Fees-Restricted Slots [2-20] $8,073,138 -2.9% $7,820,556 -3.1%) $8,466,294 8.3%) $8,481,030 $8,481,030 $8,406,369 -0.9%
3044 Non-Restricted Slots [2-20] $10,223,380 -1.9% $9,798,140 -4.2% $10,149,080 3.6% $10,246,840 $10,246,840) $10,151,645 -0.9%
3045 Quarterly Fees-Games $5,439,293  -13.2% $5,467,970 0.5%) $5,466,294 0.0%) $5,437,382 $5,437,382 $5,273,972 -3.0%
3046 Advance License Fees $1,173,154  -18.2%) $3,414,656  191.1%) $16,467,639  382.3%) $53,651 $53,651 $9,610,894  17814%
3048 Slot Machine Route Operator $32,000 0.0%) $30,000 -6.3% $26,000 -13.3%) $25,000 $25,000] $25,000 0.0%|
3049 Gaming Info Systems Annual $42,000  40.0%) $30,000 -28.6%) $49,000 63.3% $47,000 $47,000] $54,000 14.9%)
3028 Interactive Gaming Fee - Operator $500,000 0.0%) $937,500 87.5% $250,000 -73.3% $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 0.0%)|
3029 Interactive Gaming Fee - Service Provider $13,000 -75.5%) $11,000 -15.4%) $14,000 27.3%) $13,000 $13,000 $13,000 0.0%)|
3030 Interactive Gaming Fee - Manufacturer $75,000 -25.0%) $75,000 0.0%) $75,000 0.0%) $75,000 $75,000] $75,000 0.0%)|
3033 Equip Mfg. License $286,510 -1.7%) $288,020 0.5%) $287,480 -0.2% $279,490 $279,490 $300,000 7.3%)|
3034 Race Wire License $5,059 $2,248 $4,332 92.7% $3,402 $3,402] $7,788 128.9%
3035 Annual Fees on Games $132,153 $146,263 $84,550 $85,101 $85,101 $5,123
TOTAL GAMING - STATE: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $645,453,361 $713,926,710 $1,005,930,506 $995,717,627 $995,717.627|| $1.045,289.486 5.09
Tax Credit Programs -$22,550,138 1,030,589 -$664,260 -$2,200,088 -$2.200,088|| 81,842,482 j
TOTAL GAMING - STATE: AFTER TAX CREDITS $622,903,223 $712,896,121 $1,005,266,246 $993,517,539 $993,517,539| $1.043,447.004 5.09
LIVE ENTERTAINMENT TAX (LET)
3031G Live Entertainment Tax-Gaming [5-22] $72,175,787 $7,276,035 $99,353,405 $121,381,051 $121,381,051 $126,959,093 4.6%
3031NG Live Entertainment Tax-Nongaming [5-22] $19,159,947 $3,803,758 $39,802,290 $79,907,593 $71.908,929 $117,385,532 63.2%
TOTAL LET $91,335,734 $11.079,793 $139,155,695 $201,288,644 $193,289.981 $244,344,625 26.4"&]
COMMERCE TAX
Commerce Tax $204,983,790 -9.6% $221,958,301 8.3%) $281,881,659 $302,294,190 7.2%) $28,234,256 $38,233,046 35.4%
TRANSPORTATION CONNECTION EXCISE TAX
Transportation Connection Excise Tax $19,868,720 -34.2% $17,141,416  -13.7% $28,464,128 $39,978,332 40.5%) $36,426,035) $36,474,634 0.1%)|
CIGARETTE TAX
3052 Cigarette Tax [3-20] $156,694,742 -4.7% $152,701,797 -2.5% $144,068,816 $135,275,124 -6.1%) $122,922,840 $111,377,563 -9.4%
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TABLE 7
GENERAL FUND REVENUES - ACTUALS
FY 2020 THROUGH FY 2023 AND FY 2024 VERSUS FY 2023 YEAR-TO-DATE THROUGH JULY 2024

YEAR-TO-DATE [a)]

FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change
TAXES - CONTINUED
MODIFIED BUSINESS TAX (MBT)
MBT - NONFINANCIAL BUSINESSES (MBT-NFI) [4-20][6-22][3-24]
3069 MBT - Nonfinancial: Before Tax Credits $646,338,474 0.2% $579,937,865 -10.3% $747,602,083  28.9% $853,620,756 14.2%) $642,322,288] $592,423,281 -7.8%
Commerce Tax Credits -$49,894,345 -$42,636,492 -$47,232,337 -$61,033,687 -$55,153,529 -$54,759,542
MBT - Nonfinancial: After Commerce Tax Credits $596,444,129 -0.7% $537,301,372 -9.9% $700,369,745  30.3% $792,587,068 13.2%) $587,168,759 $537,663,739 -8.4%
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 -$44,808 -$104,621 -$739,637 -$1,016,342
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] -$11,069,828 -$6,934,892 -$11,462,423 -$10,395,406 -$6,417,518
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 -$499 -$473 -$392 -$199
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$11.069.828 -$6.980,200 -$11,567,517 -$11,135.436 -$7.434,059
MBT - Nonfinancial: After Tax Credit Programs $585,374,301 -0.5%|| $530.321.172 9.4%|| $688.802,229 29.9%|| $781.451,633 13.5%)] $530,229.680 -8.2%|
MBT - FINANCIAL BUSINESSES (MBT-FI) [4-20][6-22][3-24]
3069 MBT - Financial: Before Tax Credits $35,412,610 18.4%) $42,364,248 19.6%) $46,926,269 10.8%) $44,035,096 -6.2%) $31,377,556 -8.2%
Commerce Tax Credits -$875,623 -$413,186 -$548,227 -$411,651 -$327,875
MBT - Financial: After Commerce Tax Credits $34,536,987 16.7%) $41,951,062 21.5%) $46,378,041 10.6%) $43,623,445 -5.9% $31,049,681 -8.0%
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] -$230,000 -$179,723 -$320,277 -$404,890 -$92,320
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$230.000 -$179,723 -$320,277 -$404,890 -$92,320
MBT - Financial: After Tax Credit Programs $34,306,987  15.9%]| $41.771339  21.8%]| $46,057,764  10.3%]| $43218,555  -6.2%]| $30,957.361 7.7%|
MBT - MINING BUSINESSES (MBT-MINING) [4-20][6-22][3-24]
3069 MBT - Mining: Before Tax Credits $22,992,626 2.1% $19,152,769  -16.7% $20,878,094 9.0% $21,988,228 5.3% $14,703,586  -13.7%
Commerce Tax Credits -$70,648 -$56,890 -$66,316 -$78,774 -$89,912
MBT - Mining: After Commerce Tax Credits $22,921,979 2.2% $19,095,879  -16.7%) $20,811,778 9.0% $21,909,454 5.3% $14,613,674  -14.0%
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
MBT - Mining - After Tax Credit Programs $22.021979 229 $19.005879 -167%f| $20811.778  9.0%)| $21.900454  5.3% $14.613.674  -14.0%)
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TABLE 7

GENERAL FUND REVENUES - ACTUALS
FY 2020 THROUGH FY 2023 AND FY 2024 VERSUS FY 2023 YEAR-TO-DATE THROUGH JULY 2024
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YEAR-TO-DATE [a)]

FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change
TAXES - CONTINUED
TOTAL MBT - NFI, FI, & MINING
TOTAL MBT: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $704,743,710 1.1 $641,454,882 -9.0% $815,406,446 27.1Y $919,644,080 12.89 $638,504.423 -7.99
TOTAL COMMERCE TAX CREDITS 850,840,616 -$43.106,568 | -$47,846,881 861,524,113 -$55,177.329 |
TOTAL MBT: AFTER COMMERCE TAX CREDITS $653,903,094 0.29 $598,348,313 -8.5% $767,559,565 28.3% $858,119,967 11.89 $583,327,094 -8.69
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 -$44,808 -$104,621 -$739,637 -$739,637 -$1,016,342
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] -$11,299,828 -$7,114,615 -$11,782,700 -$10,800,296 -$8,861,454] -$6,509,838
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 -$499 -$473 -$392 -$199
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$11.299.828 -$7.159.923 -$11.887.794 -$11.540.325 -$7.526.379
TOTAL MBT: AFTER TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS $642,603.266  0.3%|| $591.188.391  -8.0%| $755671.771 21.8%|[ $846.579.642  12.0%) $575,800.715  -8.4%)
INSURANCE TAXES
3061 Insurance Premium Tax: Before Tax Credits [5-24] $458,514,238 3.7%) $491,567,091 7.2% $541,092,065 10.1%) $581,438,893 7.5% $425,184,700] $469,766,347 10.5%)
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] $0 -$2,788,983 -$714,842 -$2,936,809 -$2,936,809) -$2,577,057
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] $0 $0 -$350,000 $0 $0
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$7,775,281 -$912,027 -$23,671,913 -$30,280,991 -$24,474,324] -$14,385,766
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000] -$3,000,000
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$7.775,281 -$3.701.009 -$24,736.755 -$36.217,799 -$19,962.823
Insurance Premium Tax: After Tax Credit Programs $450,738,957 $487,866,081 $516,355,310 5.8%| $545,221,094 5.6%|| $394,773,567|| $449,803,524  13.9%
3062 Insurance Retaliatory Tax $378,126 $271,532 $502,182 84.9% $408,026 -18.7% $369,787  -12.1%
3067 Captive Insurer Premium Tax $1,244,273 $1,131,457 $1,161,859 2.7% $1,268,717 9.2% $1,143,526 -9.9%
TOTAL INSURANCE TAXES: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $460,136,638 $492,970,080 $542,756,106 10.19 $583,115,636 7.49 $471,279,659 10.4Y
TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS $7.775.281 -$3.701,009 -$24,736.755 -$36,217,799 -$16,962,823
TOTAL INSURANCE TAXES: AFTER TAX CREDITS $452,361,356 $489,269,070 $518,019,351 5.99 $546,897,837 5.69 $454,316.836 14.69
REAL PROPERTY TRANSFER TAX (RPTT)
3055 Real Property Transfer Tax [6-24] $100,266,873 -0.8% $133,907,671 33.6% $177,690,923 32.7% $110,612,300 -37.8%) $82,316,033] $78,031,312 -5.2%
GOVERMENTAL SERVICES TAX (GST)
3051 Governmental Services Tax [5-20][2-21][7-24] $21,307,879 -0.8% $101,417,370  376.0% $26,430,864  -73.9% $27,035,866 2.3% $26,847,707| $0
OTHER TAXES
3113 Business License Fee $103,062,659 $113,217,289 9.9% $119,544,202 5.6% $118,270,353 $122,656,912 3.7%
3050 Liquor Tax $42,312,940 $43,548,721 2.9% $50,392,542 15.7%) $46,007,920 $44,935,335 3.0%)
3053 Other Tobacco Tax [6-20][8-24] $23,200,047 $32,336,890  39.4% $35,755,018 10.6%) $35,158,816 $30,142,819 -6.4%
4774 HECC Transfer $5,000,000 $5,000,000 0.0%) $5,000,000 0.0%) $5,000,000 $0
3068 Branch Bank Excise Tax $2,608,720 $2,594,677 $2,336,987 $2,250,520 $1,624,280
TOTAL TAXES: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $3,902,074,250 $4,241,448,008 $5,162,874,552 $5,383,059,077 $4,569,287,773
TOTAL COMMERCE TAX CREDITS -$50,840,616 -$43,106,568 -$47,846,881 -$61,524,113 -$55,177,329
TOTAL TAXES: AFTER COMMERCE TAX CREDITS $3,851,233,634 $4,198,341,440 $5,115,027,671 $5,321,534,964 $4,514,110.444
Tax Credit Programs:
Film Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-1] -$337,637 -$3,864,380 -$1,483,723 -$5,876,534 -$5,435,881
Economic Development Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-2] -$21,912,501 $0 $0 $0 $0
Catalyst Account Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-4] -$300,000 $0 -$350,000 $0 $0
Nevada New Markets Job Act Tax Credits [TC-3] -$7,775,281 -$912,027 -$23,671,913 -$30,280,991 -$24,474,324 -$14,385,766
Education Choice Scholarship Tax Credits [TC-5] -$11,299,828 -$7,114,615 -$11,782,700 -$10,800,296 -$8,861,454] -$6,509,838
College Savings Plan Tax Credits [TC-6] $0 -$499 -$473 -$392 -$199
Affordable Housing Transferrable Tax Credits [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000] -$3,000,000
Total - Tax Credit Programs -$41,625,247 -$11,891,022 -$37,288.809 -$49,958,212 -$29,331,684
TOTAL TAXES: AFTER TAX CREDITS $3.809.608,386 -5.1%]l| $4.186.450,418 9.9%]|| $5.077.738.862  21.3%I| $5.271.576.75 3.8%l
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TABLE 7
GENERAL FUND REVENUES - ACTUALS

FY 2020 THROUGH FY 2023 AND FY 2024 VERSUS FY 2023 YEAR-TO-DATE THROUGH JULY 2024
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YEAR-TO-DATE [a.]
FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change
LICENSES
3101 Insurance Licenses $23,569,572 7.5% $27,118,191 15.1%) $29,419,100 8.5% $28,869,901 -1.9% $29,975,222 3.8%
3120 Marriage License $267,159  -19.4%) $336,350 25.9%) $345,163 2.6% $339,664 -1.6% $245131  -26.5%)
SECRETARY OF STATE
3105 UCC $3,057,329 27.0% $3,835,489 25.5% $3,454,770 -9.9% $3,243,588 -6.1% $3,482,261 7.4%
3129 Notary Fees $464,366  -11.4%) $659,232  42.0%) $717,235 8.8% $783,890 9.3% $788,148 0.5%
3130 Commercial Recordings [9-24] $72,629,712 -4.7%) $84,354,074 16.1%) $88,574,485 5.0% $85,644,772 -3.3%) $89,170,782 4.1%)
3131 Video Service Franchise $2,950 -89.4%) $26,250 789.8%) $300 -98.9% $150 -50.0% $250 66.7%)|
3121 Domestic Partnership Registry Fee $33,998 -28.4%) $55,790 64.1% $62,391 11.8%) $59,221 -5.1%) $0
3152 Securities [7-22] $30,131,586 $32,033,172 $35,068,024 $36,480,299 $36,668,572 0.5%
TOTAL SECRETARY OF STATE $106,319,941 $120,964,007 $127,877,205 $126,211,920 $130,110.012 3.19
3172 Private School Licenses $194,318 $237,873 $217,461 $223,463 $207,934 7.8%
3173 Private Employment Agency $19,700 5.9%) $17,000 -13.7%) $20,100 18.2%) $18,700 -7.0% $19,500 4.3%)
REAL ESTATE
3161 Real Estate License $2,533,241 $2,965,619 $2,936,854 $2,852,290 $2,710,525 -5.0%
3162 Real Estate Fees $1,650 $1,950 $2,850 $3,300 $3,140
TOTAL REAL ESTATE $2,534,891 $2,967.569 $2,939,704 $2,855,590 $2,713.665
3102 Athletic Commission Fees $4,021,180 $91,559 $5,846,931 $5,280,420 $7,584,145
TOTAL LICENSES
3203 Divorce Fees $144,113 -9.2% $158,109 9.7%) $152,694 -3.4% $139,010 -9.0% $137,678 0.3%
3204 Civil Action Fees $1,226,220 -4.7% $1,360,985 11.0%) $1,259,803 -7.4% $1,224,759 -2.8%) $991,076  -16.5%
3242 Insurance Fines $390,033  -19.1% $447,172 14.6%) $367,121  -17.9%) $342,015 -6.8% $891,023  161.6%)
3242LC Investigative Costs Recovery - Labor Commission $18,000 $34,000  88.9%) $69,050 103.1%) $28,804 -58.3% $6,500  -77.4%)
3103MD Medical Plan Discount Reg. Fees $0 $500 $500 0.0%) $0 -100.0%] $0
REAL ESTATE FEES
310710S 10S Application Fees $6,600 -4.1%) $8,300 25.8% $8,020 -3.4% $5,220  -34.9%) $5,220] $3,500 -33.0%
3165 Land Co Filing Fees $19,400 -30.5% $29,150  50.3%) $36,175  24.1%) $35,775 -1.1% $35,775 $28,425 -20.5%
3169 Real Estate Reg Fees $14,450 48.6%) $25,700 77.9% $26,750 4.1% $5,150  -80.7%) $5,150] $5,175 0.5%
4741 Real Estate Exam Fees $442,139  -24.7% $866,492  96.0%) $801,447 -7.5% $580,723  -27.5%) $580,723 $548,419
3178 Real Estate Accred Fees $100,475 -12.8% $105,054 4.6%) $112,750 7.3% $117,925 4.6%) $117,925 $123,450 4.7%)|
3254 Real Estate Penalties $83,050 -20.8%) $112,460  35.4% $93,843  -16.6%) $94,843 1.1%j $82,660 -12.8%
3190 A.B. 165, Real Estate Inspectors $62,730 7.5%] $67,875 8.2%] $62,320 -8.2% $57,695 -7.4% $49.460 -14.3%
TOTAL REAL ESTATE FEES $728.844  -19.9%) $1.215031 66.7%)| $1.141,305  -6.1%)| $897,330  -21.4%) $841,089  -6.3Y
3066 Short Term Car Lease [8-22] $45,208,997 -21.1% $45,687,019 1.1%) $74,584,103 63.3% $81,417,029 9.2%) $60,913,109 4.9%)
3103AC Athletic Commission Licenses/Fines $135,750 -2.7% $163,775  20.6%) $183,965 12.3%) $171,847 -6.6% $171,847| $204,050 18.7%)
3150 Navigable Water Permit Fees $65,000 0.0%) $65,000 0.0% $65,000 0.0% $65,000 0.0% $65,000] $0 -100.0%)
3205 State Engineer Sales $3,731,855 -4.0% $3,848,492 3.1% $3,721,744 -3.3% $3,993,998 7.3% $4,009,558] $3,462,107  -13.7%|
3206 Supreme Court Fees $205,770  -18.5%) $177,805 -13.6%) $190,495 7.1%)| $190,265 -0.1%) $190,26 $26,200 -86.2%)
3115 Notice of Default Fee $487,642  -17.5%) $193,735  -60.3%) $355,350  83.4%) $475,177  33.7%) $461,056 $393,314  -14.7%
3601 Professional Employer Organization Fee [9-22] $0 $0 $92,500 $108,500 17.3%) $108,500 $106,500 -1.8%
3271 Misc Fines/Forfeitures [10-24] $1,671,151 -52.2% $2,828,409  69.2% $2,060,891 -27.1% $2,629,670  27.6% 2,503,69 $2,843,742 13.6%
TOTAL FEES AND FINES $54.013.376 .Ei E‘%" $56,180,032 ; é‘%" $84.244 519 55 é‘%" $91,683,403 é é‘%l 68,177,271 $70,816,388 0 |
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TABLE 7

GENERAL FUND REVENUES - ACTUALS
FY 2020 THROUGH FY 2023 AND FY 2024 VERSUS FY 2023 YEAR-TO-DATE THROUGH JULY 2024

YEAR-TO-DATE [a.]
FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change
USE OF MONEY AND PROP
OTHER REPAYMENTS
4403 Forestry Nurseries Fund Repayment (05-M27) $20,670 $20,670 $20,670 $20,670 $20,670
4408 Comp/Fac Repayment $13,032 $13,032 $13,032 $13,032 $13,032
4408 EITS Repayment - State Microwave Communications System $57,900 $57,900 $266,914 $266,914 $266,914
4408 EITS Repayment - Cyber Security Resource Enhancement $201,079 $178,351 $124,406 $0 $0
4408 EITS Repayment - Wide-Area Network Upgrade $499,724 $499,723 $223,808 $0 $0
4408 EITS Repayment - Enterprise Cloud Application [1-22] $448,209 $448,209 $448,209
4408 EITS Repayment - Firewall Replacement [2-22] $677,637 $677,635 $677,635
4408 EITS Repayment - Content Management and Portal Platform [2-24]
4408 EITS Repayment - IT Service Management Provider Replacement [1-26]
4408 EITS Repayment - Computer Hardware and Software Replacement [2-26]
4408 EITS Repayment - Firewall Replacement and Security Upgrades [3-26]
4408 EITS Repayment - IT Investments Tracking System [4-26]
4102 City of North Las Vegas Repayment - Windsor Park Relocation [11-24] $2,750,000
4409 Motor Pool Repay - LV $125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000
TOTAL OTHER REPAYMENTS $917,405 9 $894,676 $1,890.676 $1,551.460 $4.301.460 2852.9%]
INTEREST INCOME
3290 Treasurer $20,026,728  10.0%) $8,789,668  -56.1% $24,192,051 175.2%|| $142,585,710 489.4% $179,587,581  121.2%
3291 Other $177,821  -13.8%) $19,693 -88.9% $11,780 -40.2% $423,700 3496.8%) $765,210 80.6%
TOTAL INTEREST INCOME $20.204,550 9 $8.800.361 $24.203.830 $143,000,409 9 $180,352,791 b
TOTAL USE OF MONEY & PROP 9 9
3059 Hoover Dam Revenue $300,000 0.0%) $275,595 -8.1%) $324,405 17.7%)| $300,000 -7.5% $300,000
MISC SALES AND REFUNDS
3047 Expired Slot Machine Wagering Vouchers $10,821,026 4.3% $8,755,404  -19.1% $16,506,340 88.5% $19,316,120 17.0%) $18,307,645 -5.2%
3107 Misc Fees [7-22] $410,057 -2.1%| $520,655  27.0%) $695,658  33.6%) $732,209 5.3%) $1,037,820  41.7%
3109 Court Admin Assessments [7-20][12-24] $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
3114 Court Administrative Assessment Fee $1,831,501  -14.6%) $1,582,424  -13.6%) $1,419,507  -10.3%| $1,449,420 2.1%| $15,574,401  980.5%
3168 Declare of Candidacy Filing Fee $20,405 -44.6%) $24,000 17.6%) $58,241  142.7%) $55,208 -5.2% $82,090 48.7%
3202 Fees & Writs of Garnishments $1,295 -80.1%) $755  -41.7% $570  -24.5% $500 -12.3% $715  43.0%
3220 Nevada Report Sales $3,450 -69.4% $6,050 75.4% $1,215  -79.9%) $3,810 213.6%) $14,695 381%)
3222 Excess Property Sales $6,446  -32.3%) $18,447 186.2%) $12,878  -30.2%) $0 -100.0%| $0
3240 Sale of Trust Property $573  -83.7% $0 $0 $0 $0
3243 Insurance - Misc $364,448 2.7%) $395,481 8.5%) $391,986 -0.9%| $374,159 -4.5%) $400,660 7.1%|
3274 Misc Refunds $30,139  -19.6%) $38,342 27.2% $32,662 $30,224 -7.5% $2,919,728 9560.3%)
3276 Cost Recovery Plan [8-20][10-22][13-24] $10,588,533 $10,968,431 $9,079,171 $8,575,644 $8,463,081
TOTAL MISC SALES & REF $24,077,873 $22,309,988 $28,198,227 $30,537,293 $46,800,834
3255 Unclaimed Property [11-22][14-24] $31,198,989 $47,672,493 $56,059,921 $60,022,800 $0
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE $55,576.862 $70,258,076 $84,582,554 $90.860,094 $47,100.834
[TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE: BEFORE TAX CREDITS $4,169,713,203 $4,529,322,702 $5,524,470,795 $5,873,963,101
TOTAL COMMERCE TAX CREDITS -$50,840,616 -$43,106,568 -$47,846,881 -$61,524,113 -$55,177,329
[TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE: AFTER COMMERCE TAX CREDITS $4,118,872,587 $4,486,216,133 $5,476,623,914 $5,812,438,988 $4,987,537,526
[TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS:
FILM TRANSFERRABLE TAX CREDITS [TC-1] -$337,637 -$3,864,380 -$1,483,723 -$5,876,534 -$5,876,534] -$5,435,881
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT TRANSFERRABLE TAX CREDITS [TC-2] -$21,912,501 $0 $0 $0 $0
CATALYST ACCOUNT TRANSFERRABLE TAX CREDITS [TC-4] -$300,000 $0 -$350,000 $0 $0
NEVADA NEW MARKET JOBS ACT TAX CREDITS [TC-3] -$7,775,281 -$912,027 -$23,671,913 -$30,280,991 -$24,474,324 -$14,385,766
EDUCATION CHOICE SCHOLARSHIP TAX CREDITS [TC-5] -$11,299,828 -$7,114,615 -$11,782,700 -$10,800,296 -$8,861,454] -$6,509,838
COLLEGE SAVINGS PLAN TAX CREDITS [TC-6] $0 -$499 -$473 -$392 -$158 -$199
AFFORDABLE HOUSING TRANSFERRABLE TAX CREDITS [TC-7] $0 $0 $0 -$3,000,000 -$3,000,000] -$3,000,000
[TOTAL- TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS -$41,625,247 -$11,891,521 -$37,288,809 -$49,958.212

[TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE: AFTER TAX CREDITS

$4.077.247.340 -4.9%I

4.474.324.612

9.79

| $5439.335105  21.6%|

5.762.480.775
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| YEAR-TO-DATE [a.]

FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %

DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change

NOTES:

[a.] The fiscal year-to-date amounts for Sales and Use Tax, Cigarette Tax, Liquor Tax, Other Tobacco Tax, Live Entertainment Tax-Nongaming and Gaming, and all of the taxes and fees listed under Gaming-State are based on actual amounts
reported by the Department of Taxation and Gaming Control Board. The fiscal year-to-date amounts for the Secretary of State License revenues are based on actual amounts reported by the Secretary of State. The fiscal-year-to-date amounts for
all other General Fund revenue sources shown in the table represent the figures obtained from the Controller's system through July 31, 2023 and July 31, 2024. The amounts for revenue sources from the Department of Taxation represent the fiscal-
year-to-date amount through the first eleven months (for monthly tax sources) and through the first three quarters (for all quarterly tax sources).

FY 2020: Notes 1 through 8 represent legislative actions approved during the 2019 Legislative Session.

[1-20] A.B. 445 requires a marketplace facilitator, defined as a person who facilitates the sale of tangible personal property by a marketplace seller in the state of Nevada, to collect and remit sales and use taxes on certain sales that are
facilitated on behalf of the marketplace seller, effective October 1, 2019. Estimated to generate $16,459,000 in FY 2020 and $21,945,000 in FY 2021 for the State 2% rate. This requirement is also estimated to increase collections for the
General Fund Commissions by $668,000 in FY 2020 (LSST: $160,000; BCCRT: $72,000; SCCRT: $252,000; PTT: $184,000) and $892,000 in FY 2021 (LSST: $214,000; BCCRT: $96,000; SCCRT: $336,000; PTT: $246,000).

[2-20] S.B. 535 removes the requirement that an amount equal to $2 per slot machine collected from quarterly restricted and non-restricted slot machine fees be allocated to the Account to Support Programs for the Prevention and Treatment of
Problem Gambling. Estimated to generate $1,303,100 in FY 2020 (Non-restricted: $1,149,400; Restricted: $153,700) and $1,298,800 in FY 2021 (Non-restricted: $1,143,900; Restricted: $154,900).

[3-20] A.B. 535 increases the existing license fee on wholesale dealers of cigarettes, which is currently distributed between the State General Fund and local governments, and establishes new license fees for manufacturers, wholesale dealers
of other tobacco products, and tobacco retailers. This bill requires all license fee proceeds to be retained by the Department of Taxation to administer and enforce the cigarette and OTP statutes. This action to require the license fees on
wholesale dealers of cigarettes to be retained by the Department is estimated to reduce General Fund revenue by less than $10,000 per year in FY 2020 and FY 2021; thus, no adjustment is made to the forecast.

[4-20] S.B. 551 permanently repeals the provisions requiring the Modified Business Tax (MBT) tax rates on nonfinancial institutions (MBT-NF1), financial institutions (MBT-FI), and mining companies (MBT-Mining) to be reduced by the Department
of Taxation if actual collections from these taxes, in combination with collections from the Commerce Tax and Branch Bank Excise Tax and tax credits taken against the MBT, are more than 4% above the Economic Forum's May forecast in
any even-numbered fiscal year.

As a result of the passage of this bill, the rates for the MBT-NFI, which was to be reduced to 1.378% for all taxable wages in excess of $50,000 per calendar quarter, and the MBT-FI and MBT-Mining, which were to be reduced to 1.853%
for all taxable wages, effective July 1, 2019, will remain at the current rates of 1.475% (for the MBT-NFI) and 2% (for the MBT-FI and MBT-Mining), on and after that date. Estimated to generate $48,166,000 in FY 2020 (MBT-NFI:
$44,101,000; MBT-FI: $2,335,000; MBT-Mining: $1,730,000) and $49,998,000 in FY 2021 (MBT-NFI: $45,827,000; MBT:FI: $2,420,000; MBT-Mining: $1,751,000).

[5-20] S.B. 541 requires 25% of the proceeds from the portion of the Governmental Services Tax (GST) generated from the 10% depreciation schedule change, approved in S.B. 429 (2009), to be allocated to the State General Fund on a
permanent basis, effective July 1, 2019. The remaining 75% portion of these proceeds are to be deposited in the State Highway Fund. Estimated to generate $21,954,000 in FY 2020 and $22,321,000 in FY 2021.

[6-20] S.B. 263 specifies that alternative nicotine products and vapor products, including e-cigarettes and their components, are subject to the 30 percent wholesale tax on other tobacco products, effective January 1, 2020. Estimated to generate
$3,699,000 in FY 2020 and $7,931,000 in FY 2021.

[7-20] Estimated portion of the revenue generated from Court Administrative Assessment Fees to be deposited in the State General Fund (pursuant to subsection 9 of NRS 176.059), based on the legislatively approved projections and the
authorized allocation for the Court Administrative Assessment Fee revenues (pursuant to subsection 8 of NRS 176.059) for FY 2020 and FY 2021. Estimated to generate $351,220 in FY 2020 and $270,166 in FY 2021.

[8-20] Adjustment to the Statewide Cost Allocation amount included in the Legislatively Approved budget after the May 1, 2019, approval of the General Fund revenue forecast by the Economic Forum.

FY 2021: Notes 1 through 3 represent legislative actions approved during the 31st Special Session (July 2020).

[1-21] S.B. 3 requires the advance payment on the net proceeds of minerals (NPM) tax in FY 2021 based on the estimated net proceeds for the current calendar year 2021. This additional NPM tax payment in FY 2021 is estimated to generate
$54,500,000 from the General Fund portion of the tax due on the estimated net proceeds for calendar year 2021 based on the consensus estimate prepared by the Department of Taxation, Budget Division, and the Fiscal Analysis Division.
The provisions of S.B. 3 also apply to FY 2022 and FY 2023, but the NPM tax reverts back to the former method (tax due based on actual mining activity from the preceding calendar year) of taxing net proceeds on July 1, 2023.

[2-21] S.B. 3 requires 100% of the proceeds from the portion of the Governmental Services Tax (GST) generated from the 10% depreciation schedule change, approved in S.B. 429 (2009), to be allocated to the State General Fund in FY 2021
only. Beginning in FY 2022, the distribution reverts to 75% of the additional revenue generated from the GST 10% depreciation schedule change deposited in the State Highway Fund and 25% deposited in the State General Fund, as
approved in S.B. 541 (2019). Estimated to generate an additional $71,346,000 in FY 2021 for the State General Fund, based on the consensus estimate prepared by the Budget Division and the Fiscal Analysis Division.

[3-21] S.B. 3 requires the Department of Taxation to establish and conduct a tax amnesty program by which taxpayers may pay a fee, tax, or assessment required to be paid to the Department without incurring any penalties or interest that would
otherwise be required as a result of the unpaid fee, tax, or assessment. This program is required to be conducted by the Department for a period of not more than 90 calendar days and must be concluded no later than June 30, 2021.
Estimated to generate $14,000,000 to the State General Fund and $7,000,000 to the Distributive School Account (DSA) in FY 2021 based on the consensus estimate prepared by the Department of Taxation, Budget Division, and the
Fiscal Analysis Division.
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| YEAR-TO-DATE [a.]
FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %
DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change

FY 2022:
[1-22]

[2-22]

FY 2022:
[3-22]

[4-22)

[5-22]

[6-22]

[7-22]

[8-22]

[9-22]

[10-22]

[11-22]

Notes 1 and 2 represent legislative actions approved during the 2019 Legislative Session.

Section 1 of A.B. 512 provides a General Fund appropriation of $2,138,800 in FY 2020 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the implementation of an enterprise cloud
electronic mail and business productivity application. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the cost of the implementation of an enterprise cloud electronic mail and business productivity application per
year, beginning in FY 2022.

Section 2 of A.B. 512 provides a General Fund appropriation of $4,186,202 in FY 2020 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of firewalls. The legislatively
approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the cost of the replacement of the firewalls per year, beginning in FY 2022.

Notes 3 through 11 represent legislative actions approved during the 2021 Legislative Session.

A.B. 495 imposes an annual tax on each business entity engaged in the business of extracting gold or silver in this State whose Nevada gross revenue in a taxable year exceeds $20 million, effective July 1, 2021. The tax rate is 0.75% of
all taxable revenue in excess of $20 million, but not more than $150 million; and 1.1% of all Nevada gross revenue in excess of $150 million. The proceeds from this tax are to be deposited in the State General Fund in FY 2022 and FY
2023, but will be deposited in the State Education Fund as a dedicated state funding source for the benefit of K-12 education under the Pupil-Centered Funding Plan beginning in FY 2024. Estimated to generate $83,802,000 in FY 2022
and $80,996,000 in FY 2023.

S.B. 440 provides an exemption from sales and use taxes on purchases of tangible personal property by members of the Nevada National Guard who are on active status and who are residents of this State and certain relatives of such
members, if the purchase occurs on the date on which Nevada Day is observed or the immediately following Saturday or Sunday, between July 1, 2021, and June 30, 2031. The bill also revises the eligibility requirements for the current
exemption that is authorized for members of the Nevada National Guard called into active service to provide that this exemption is available to these members and certain relatives, if the member has been called into active duty for a
period of more than 30 days outside of the United States. The exemption is anticipated to reduce sales and use tax revenue for the state and local governments; however, an estimate of the potential reduction was not prepared.

S.B. 367 provides an exemption from the Live Entertainment Tax for live entertainment that is provided by or entirely for the benefit of a governmental entity, effective upon passage and approval (June 4, 2021). Because this exemption is
expected to provide a minimal reduction to LET revenues, no adjustment to the forecast was made.

On May 13, 2021, the Nevada Supreme Court upheld a First Judicial District Court ruling that certain actions by the Legislature in Senate Bill 551 (2019) were unconstitutional, as that legislation was approved without the two-thirds majority
in each house required in Article 4, Section 18 of the Nevada Constitution. As a result, the tax rates for the Modified Business Tax were reduced effective April 1, 2021 to the rates determined by the Department of Taxation on or before
September 30, 2018, that were to become effective on July 1, 2019, pursuant to the provisions of NRS 360.203. The rate for the MBT-NFI was reduced from 1.475% to 1.378% for all taxable wages in excess of $50,000 per calendar
quarter and the rate for the MBT-FI and MBT-Mining was reduced from 2.0% to 1.853% on all quarterly taxable wages. The court ruling additionally requires the Department of Taxation to issue refunds for all MBT that was collected at the
higher rates, between July 1, 2019, and March 31, 2021, based on the difference between the rate approved in S.B. 551 and the reduced rate determined by the Department in September 2018, as well as interest on the excess amount
collected.

The adjustments to the May 2021 Economic Forum forecast reflect the estimated combined negative impact for each fiscal year for the refund and interest attributable to FY 2020 and FY 2021 overpayments as allocated to FY 2021 and FY
2022 and the tax rate reduction for the fourth quarter of FY 2021 and all four quarters of FY 2022 and FY 2023. The estimated negative impact to total MBT collections attributable to the refund and interest on tax overpayments for FY
2020 and FY 2021 allocated to FY 2021 is $75,575,000 (MBT-NFI: $68,066,000, MBT-FI: $4,647,000, MBT-Mining: $2,862,000) and allocated to FY 2022 is $4,717,000 (MBT-NFI: $3,722,000, MBT-FI: $943,000, MBT-Mining: $52,000).
The estimated negative impact to total MBT collections attributable to the reduction in the tax rates for FY 2021 is $12,128,000 (MBT-NFI: $10,917,000, MBT-FI: $785,000, MBT-Mining: $426,000), for FY 2022 is $50,573,000 (MBT-NFI:
$45,445,000, MBT-FI: $3,386,000, MBT-Mining: $1,742,000), and for FY 2023 is $53,659,000 (MBT-NFI: $48,238,000, MBT-FI: $3,637,000, MBT-Mining: $1,784,000). The estimates for the refund and interest are based on information
provided by the Department of Taxation, based on an analysis of actual taxpayer accounts, regarding the potential total refund and interest amounts for the four quarters of FY 2020 and the three quarters of FY 2021 and the actual refund
and interest amounts issued for each fiscal year in FY 2021 by each component of the MBT.

S.B. 9 provides an exemption from licensure for investment advisers to certain qualifying private funds, effective July 1, 2022, if: (1) the investment adviser solely advises one or more qualifying private funds; (2) the investment adviser is
not required to register with the Securities and Exchange Commission; (3) neither the investment adviser nor any of its advisory affiliates have engaged in certain bad acts; (4) the investment adviser files certain reports with the
Administrator, who is the Deputy of Securities appointed by the Secretary of State; and (5) the investment adviser pays a fee prescribed by the Administrator. Estimated to reduce revenue by $12,000 in FY 2023.

S.B. 389 provides for the regulation and licensing of peer-to-peer car sharing programs by the Department of Motor Vehicles, and also provides that passenger cars that are shared through such a program are subject to a Short Term Car
Lease Fee that is identical to the fee already collected by the Department of Taxation on the rental of other passenger cars in this state, effective October 1, 2021. Estimated to generate $750,000 in FY 2022 and $1.0 million in FY 2023.

The proceeds from the licensure of certain professional employer organizations (employee leasing companies), which were being retained by the Division of Industrial Relations in the Department of Business and Industry, were going to be
deposited in the State General Fund beginning on July 1, 2021. The Economic Forum May 4, 2021, forecast accounted for this action by including an estimate of $103,500 in G.L. 3107. Senate Bill 55 transfers the duties for regulating and
licensing professional employer organizations from the Division to the Labor Commissioner, effective July 1, 2021. It was determined after the passage of S.B. 55 that the Labor Commissioner will post the revenues from the licensing fees
in G.L. 3601, not G.L. 3107. Thus, a new line for G.L. 3601 — Professional Employer Organization Fee is added to the table and $103,550 is transferred from the forecast for G.L. 3017 to this new G.L., resulting in a net zero change to the
Economic Forum May 4, 2021, forecast.

Adjustment to the Statewide Cost Allocation amount included in the Legislatively Approved budget after the May 4, 2021, approval of the General Fund revenue forecast by the Economic Forum.

A.B. 445 requires the State Controller, as soon as practicable after the close of FY 2021, to transfer $1,000,000 from the Abandoned Property Trust Account (Unclaimed Property) to the Grant Matching Account for the purpose of providing
grants or satisfying matching requirements for nongovernmental organizational grants by the Office of Federal Assistance in the Office of the Governor. For FY 2023 and all subsequent years, the first $1.0 million of revenue from
Unclaimed Property that is generated after the required transfer of the first $7.6 million to the Millennium Scholarship Trust Fund must be transferred to the Grant Matching Account. The actions in A.B. 445, therefore, reduce the forecast
for this revenue source by $1.0 million per year in FY 2022, FY 2023, and all future fiscal years.
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| YEAR-TO-DATE [a.]

FY 2023 FY 2024
FY 2020 % FY 2021 % FY 2022 % FY 2023 % JULY JULY %

DESCRIPTION ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change ACTUAL Change Change

[1-24]

[2-24]

[3-24]

[4-24]

[5-24]

[6-24]

[7-24]

[8-24]

[9-24]

[10-24]

[11-24]

[12-24]

[13-24]

EY 2024: Notes 1 and 2 represent legislative actions approved during the 2021 Legislative Session.

A.B. 495 provides that, beginning in FY 2024, the portion of the Net Proceeds of Minerals Tax currently deposited in the State General Fund be instead deposited in the State Education Fund as a dedicated state funding source for the
benefit of K-12 education under the Pupil-Centered Funding Plan. This action does not affect the Economic Forum's forecast for FY 2022 or FY 2023.

S.B. 426 provides a General Fund appropriation of $1,784,500 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of the content management and portal platform. The
legislatively approved annual repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the cost of the replacement of the content management and portal platform per year, beginning in FY 2024.

EY 2024: Note 3 represents actions resulting from the Department of Taxation's September 2022 Modified Business Tax rate reduction determination, as required pursuant to NRS 360.203.

S.B. 483 (2015) enacted a rate reduction mechanism, codified in NRS 360.203, by which the rates for the Modified Business Tax are to be lowered if combined collections from the MBT, Commerce Tax, and Branch Bank Excise Tax in
any even-numbered fiscal year exceed the May 1 forecast for the Economic Forum, adjusted for any actions approved by the Legislature, for that fiscal year by more than 4%, as determined by the Department of Taxation on or before
September 30 of each even-numbered year. The rate reduction under this mechanism is to become effective at the beginning of the fiscal year following the determination by the Department.

On September 30, 2022, the Department of Taxation determined that actual collections for these taxes in FY 2022 exceeded the Economic Forum's May 4, 2021, forecasts, adjusted for legislative actions and court decisions, by more than
4%. As aresult, the tax rate reduction mechanism approved in S.B. 483 requires the MBT-Nonfinancial rate to be reduced from 1.378% to 1.17% on all taxable wages in excess of $50,000 per calendar quarter, and the MBT-Financial
and MBT-Mining rates to be reduced from 1.853% to 1.554% on all taxable wages, effective at the beginning of FY 2024 (July 1, 2023). The rate reduction determined by the Department on September 30, 2022, reduces the MBT-
Nonfinancial rate to the minimum by which this may be reduced pursuant to NRS 360.203; thus, no further rate reductions may occur under these provisions based on current law.

FY 2024: Notes 4 through 14 represent legislative actions approved during the 2023 Legislative Session.

S.B. 266 excludes, for the purposes of gross gaming revenue for the calculation of the percentage fee tax on gross gaming revenue, cash received as entry fees for the right to participate in a contest or tournament conducted on the
premises of a licensed gaming establishment with the participants physically present at those premises when participating under certain circumstances, effective July 1, 2023. The effective date of July 1, 2023, results in a reduction of
revenue of $1,563,100 for the last 11 months of FY 2024, and $1,705,200 for all twelve months of FY 2025.

S.B. 435 specifies that if an assessment against the operators of certain private medical providers in Nevada is imposed by the Division of Health Care Financing and Policy of the Department of Health and Human Services, the proceeds
must be used to provide additional support and services under Medicaid for Medicaid recipients with serious behavioral health conditions, effective upon passage and approval (June 8, 2023).

If such an assessment is imposed, the use of these proceeds for Medicaid services is anticipated to increase capitation payments to contracted managed care organizations, which would increase insurance premium tax collections (as
these capitation payments are considered as net direct considerations for the calculation of the tax). However, as it is not known what the rate of assessment that may be imposed or when such an assessment may begin, the effect on the
State General Fund is not known at this time.

A.B. 448 clarifies that the exemption from the real property transfer tax for a mere change in identity, form or place of organization, does not apply if the business entity to which the real property is transferred was formed for the purpose of
avoiding those taxes, effective upon passage and approval (June 15, 2023). The effect upon the State General Fund is not known at this time, as it is anticipated that the Department of Taxation will need to develop regulations to
establish guidelines for determining which entities are formed for the purpose of avoiding the tax.

S.B. 452 requires 100% of the proceeds from the portion of the Governmental Services Tax (GST) generated from the 10% depreciation schedule change, approved in S.B. 429 (2009), to be permanently allocated to the State Highway
Fund, effective July 1, 2023. As approved under this bill, the State General Fund will no longer receive proceeds from this tax beginning in FY 2024.

A.B. 232 revises the tax on other tobacco products to specify that the tax on premium cigars, defined as a cigar that is rolled by hand, has a wrapper made of whole tobacco leaves, and which does not have a filter or mouthpiece, is 30
percent of the wholesale price of the cigar, but cannot be less than 30 cents per premium cigar or more than 50 cents per premium cigar, effective July 1, 2023, until June 30, 2027. Estimated to reduce collections by $1,000,000 per fiscal
year in FY 2024 and FY 2025.

A.B. 260 provides an exemption from any fees imposed by the Secretary of State's Office under Title 7 of the NRS for veterans services organizations, as recognized by the United States Secretary of Veterans Affairs, any agent or officer
of such an organization, effective January 1, 2024. Estimated to reduce revenue by $650 in FY 2024 and $1,300 in FY 2025.

S.B. 145 revises the fine structure that may be imposed by the Labor Commissioner for violations of provisions relating to intentional misclassification of employees by an employer, removing the $2,500 fine that may be imposed upon an
employer for a first offense of these provisions. Estimated to reduce revenue by $10,000 per fiscal year in FY 2024 and FY 2025.

S.B. 450 provides a General Fund appropriation of $12,000,000 to the Housing Division of the Department of Business and Industry to establish a program for the relocation of persons residing in the Windsor Park neighborhood of the
City of North Las Vegas whose residences have been damaged by the sinking of the ground beneath the residences. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is $250,000 per month, which must be withheld from the
payment made from the Local Government Tax Distribution Account to the City of North Las Vegas for each month beginning on July 1, 2023, until the month when the total amount withheld from the city equals $12,000,000.

S.B. 448 eliminates the distribution of certain court administrative assessment fees to the Office of the Court Administrator and other functions pursuant to subsection 8 of NRS 176.059, and instead requires that those proceeds be
deposited in the State General Fund in addition to the $5 per assessment that is currently deposited pursuant to subsections 5 and 6 of NRS 176.059, effective July 1, 2023. The elimination of this revenue distribution additionally
eliminates the provisions that require court administrative assessment revenue that was not used or distributed for these purposes to be deposited in the State General Fund. Estimated to generate $15,569,000 per fiscal year in FY 2024
and FY 2025.

Adjustment to the Statewide Cost Allocation amount included in the Legislatively Approved budget after the May 1, 2023, approval of the General Fund revenue forecast by the Economic Forum.
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[14-24]

EY 2025:
[1-25]

FY 2026:
[1-26]

[2-26]

[3-26]

[4-26]

A.B. 45 requires, by the end of each fiscal year, the transfer of $2,500,000 from the Abandoned Property Trust Account (Unclaimed Property) to the Account for Student Loan Repayment for Providers of Health Care in Underserved
Communities, effective January 1, 2024. This revenue must be transferred after the required transfer of the first $7.6 million to the Millennium Scholarship Trust Fund and the next $1 million to the Grant Matching Account.

A.B. 45 additionally requires, if the Nevada Health Service Corps has been established pursuant to NRS 396.900, that $250,000 per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2024, be transferred to the University of Nevada School of Medicine for the
purpose of obtaining matching money for the Corps from the federal government. This transfer must occur after the $7.6 million transfer to the Millennium Scholarship Trust Fund; the $1 million transfer to the Grant Matching Account; and
the $2.5 million transfer to the Account for Student Loan Repayment for Providers of Health Care in Underserved Communities.

Note 1 represents legislative actions approved during the 2023 Legislative Session.
S.B. 428 requires the submission of a question on the November 2024 General Election ballot seeking approval to amend the Sales and Use Tax Act of 1955 to provide an exemption from the State 2% sales and use tax for diapers for
children and adults. If this question is approved by the voters, the sales tax exemption for these products will be effective January 1, 2025, until December 31, 2050.

S.B. 428 also provides that if the ballot question is approved by the voters, identical exemptions for these products from the Local School Support Tax and other state and local taxes would become effective January 1, 2025, and would
also expire on December 31, 2050. If approved, these exemptions would reduce the amount of the commission that is kept by the Department of Taxation and deposited in the State General Fund for collection of these taxes.

Notes 1 through 4 represent legislative actions approved during the 2023 Legislative Session.

A.B. 482 provides General Fund appropriations totalling $422,932 to the Office of Finance in the Office of the Governor as a loan to the Enterprise Application Services Unit of the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of
the Department of Administration for the replacement of the information technology service management provider and for the replacement of computer hardware and associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this
appropriation is 25 percent of the costs for these specified purposes per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

A.B. 487 provides a General Fund appropriation of $17,147 to the Office of Finance in the Office of the Governor as a loan to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the
replacement of computer hardware and associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the cost of the replacement of the computer hardware and associated software per fiscal year,
beginning in FY 2026.

A.B. 488 provides General Fund appropriations totalling $1,611,624 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of computer hardware and associated software;
for the replacement of components of a security firewall; and for security upgrades to mountaintop microwave sites. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the costs for these specified purposes per
fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

A.B. 506 provides General Fund appropriations totalling $272,082 to the Division of Enterprise Information Technology Services of the Department of Administration for the replacement of the system for tracking information technology
investments and for the replacement of computer hardware and associated software. The legislatively approved repayment of this appropriation is 25 percent of the costs for these specified purposes per fiscal year, beginning in FY 2026.

TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS APPROVED BY THE LEGISLATURE

[TC-1]

[rc-2)

[TC-3]

Pursuant to S.B. 165 (2013), the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) could issue up to $20 million per fiscal year for a total of $80 million for the four-year pilot program in transferrable tax credits that may be used against
the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The provisions of the film tax credit program were amended in S.B. 1 (28th Special Session (2014)) to reduce the total amount of the tax credits that
may be approved by GOED to a total of $10 million.

Pursuant to A.B. 492 (2017), a total of $10 million per year in film tax credits may be awarded by GOED beginning in FY 2018, in addition to any remaining amounts from S.B. 1 of the 28th Special Session (2014). Any portion of the $10
million per fiscal year that is not approved by GOED may be carried forward and made available during the next or any future fiscal year. The forecasts for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023 are based on information provided by the Nevada
Film Office of GOED.

Pursuant to S.B. 1 (28th Special Session (2014)), for certain qualifying projects, the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) is required to issue transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax,
Insurance Premium Tax, and the Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The amount of transferrable tax credits are equal to $12,500 for each qualified employee employed by the participants in the project, to a maximum of 6,000 employees, plus
5 percent of the first $1 billion of new capital investment in the State made collectively by the participants in the qualifying project, plus an additional 2.8 percent of the next $2.5 billion in new capital investment in the State made collectively
by the participants in the project. The amount of credits approved by GOED may not exceed $45 million per fiscal year (though any unissued credits may be issued in subsequent fiscal years), and GOED may not issue total credits in
excess of $195 million. The forecast is $0 per fiscal year for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023, because the entirety of the $195 million in transferrable tax credits that could be authorized pursuant to S.B. 1 have been awarded and used.

Pursuant to S.B. 1 (29th Special Session (2015)), for certain qualifying projects, the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) is required to issue transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax,
Insurance Premium Tax, and the Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. The amount of transferrable tax credits are equal to $9,500 for each qualified employee employed by the participants in the project, to a maximum of 4,000 employees. The
amount of credits approved by GOED may not exceed $7.6 million per fiscal year (though any unissued credits may be issued in subsequent fiscal years), and GOED may not issue total credits in excess of $38 million. Because there are
currently no eligible projects under this program, the forecast for these tax credits is $0 per fiscal year for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023.

Pursuant to S.B. 357 (2013), the Nevada New Markets Jobs Act allows insurance companies to receive a credit against the tax imposed on insurance premiums in exchange for making qualified equity investments in community
development entities, particularly those that are local and minority-owned. A total of $200 million in qualified equity investments may be certified by the Department of Business and Industry. In exchange for making the qualified equity
investment, insurance companies are entitled to receive a credit against the Insurance Premium Tax in an amount equal to 58 percent of the total qualified equity investment that is certified by the Department. The credits, which were
allowed to be taken by insurance companies beginning in the third quarter of FY 2015 under the provisions of S.B. 357, may be taken in increments beginning on the second anniversary date of the original investment, as follows:

2 years after the investment is made: 12%; 3 years after the investment is made: 12%; 4 years after the investment is made: 12%; 5 years after the investment is made: 11%; and 6 years after the investment is made: 11%.

Pursuant to A.B. 446 (2019), an additional $200 million in qualified equity investments may be certified by the Department of Business and Industry, effective July 1, 2019, with a total of $116 million of credits that may be taken based on
the increment percentages originally approved in S.B. 357 (2013). However, pursuant to A.B. 446, no credits may be taken against the Insurance Premium Tax before July 1, 2021 (FY 2022).
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[TC-4]

[TC-5]

[TC-6]

[Tc-7]

S.B. 507 (2015) authorizes the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) to approve transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium Tax, and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax to
new or expanding businesses to promote the economic development of Nevada. As approved in S.B. 507, the total amount of transferrable tax credits that may be issued is $500,000 in FY 2016, $2,000,000 in FY 2017, and $5,000,000 for
FY 2018 and each fiscal year thereafter. The amounts shown are the estimate based on the maximum amount that can be issued in each fiscal year.

A.B. 1 of the 29th Special Session (2015) reduced the total amount of transferrable tax credits that may be issued by GOED to zero in FY 2016, $1 million in FY 2017, $2 million per year in FY 2018 and FY 2019, and $3 million in FY 2020.
For FY 2021 and future fiscal years, the amount of credits that may be issued by GOED remains at $5 million per year. The forecasts for FY 2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023 are based on information provided by GOED.

A.B. 165 (2015) allows taxpayers who make donations of money to certain scholarship organizations to receive a dollar-for-dollar credit against the taxpayer's liability for the Modified Business Tax (MBT). The total amount of credits that
may be approved by the Department of Taxation (Department) is $5 million in FY 2016, $5.5 million in FY 2017, and 110 percent of the total amount of credits authorized in the previous year, for all subsequent fiscal years. The amounts
shown reflect the estimate based on the assumption that the total amount authorized for each fiscal year will be donated to a qualified scholarship organization and taken as credits against the MBT.

S.B. 555 (2017) authorized an additional $20 million in credits against the MBT under this program in Fiscal Year 2018 beyond those that were authorized in FY 2018 based on the provisions of A.B. 165 (2015). Any amount of the $20
million in credits that is not approved by the Department may be issued in future fiscal years. The forecast for FY 2019 is based on the amount of this $20 million that was awarded in FY 2018, but not used against the MBT in that fiscal
year, plus the maximum amount of annual credits allowed based on the statutory formula adopted in A.B. 165 (2015). The forecasts for FY 2020 and FY 2021 are based on the maximum amount of annual credits allowed based on the
statutory formula in A.B. 165 only.

A.B. 458 (2019) permanently eliminated the 10 percent increase in the amount of credits that may be authorized in each year, capping the total amount that may be authorized in each year at $6,655,000 beginning in FY 2020. The bill
additionally clarified that the $6,655,000 limit per year applies to the combined credits that may be taken under both chapters of the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B), rather than as a separate limit for each chapter.

S.B. 551 (2019) authorized an additional $4,745,000 in credits against the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B combined) under this program per year in FY 2020 and FY 2021 beyond those that were authorized in those years based on the
provisions of A.B. 458 (2019). Any amount of the $4,745,000 in credits that is not approved by the Department in each fiscal year may be issued in future fiscal years.

A.B. 495 (2021) authorized an additional $4,745,000 in credits against the MBT (Chapters 363A and 363B combined) under this program per year in FY 2022 beyond those that are authorized in that year based on the provisions of A.B.
458 (2019). Any amount of the $4,745,000 in credits that is not approved by the Department in FY 2022 may be issued in future fiscal years. The forecast for FY 2022 is based on the maximum amount of $6,655,000 allowed pursuant to
A.B. 458 (2019) plus the additional $4,745,000 per year authorized under A.B. 458 (2019) that are expected to be taken in this fiscal year. Although the provisions of A.B. 495 (2021) authorized an additional $4,745,000 in credits in FY
2022, the Fiscal Analysis Division has increased the amount of credits that will be taken by $4,745,000 in FY 2023, because of the timing on when these credits are anticipated to be awarded and used.

S.B. 412 (2015) provides a tax credit against the Modified Business Tax (MBT) to certain employers who match the contribution of an employee to one of the college savings plans offered through the Nevada Higher Education Prepaid
Tuition Program and the Nevada College Savings Program authorized under existing law. The amount of the tax credit is equal to 25 percent of the matching contribution, not to exceed $500 per contributing employee per year, and any
unused credits may be carried forward for 5 years. The provisions relating to the Nevada College Savings Program are effective January 1, 2016, and the Higher Education Prepaid Tuition Program are effective July 1, 2016. The amounts
shown are estimates based on information provided by the Treasurer's Office on enroliment and contributions for the college savings plans.

S.B. 448 (2019) authorizes the Housing Division of the Department of Business and Industry (Division) to approve a total of $40 million of transferrable tax credits that may be used against the Modified Business Tax, Insurance Premium
Tax, and Gaming Percentage Fee Tax. Under the provisions of S.B. 448, the Division may award up to $10 million in transferable tax credits per year to persons who develop affordable housing projects in Nevada over the four years of
the pilot program, but may award an additional $3 million in credits in any fiscal year if the issuance of the credits is necessary for the development of additional affordable housing projects in the state. If the Division approves any credits
in excess of $10 million in a fiscal year, the amount to be awarded in the next fiscal year must be reduced by the amount in excess of $10 million that was issued in the previous fiscal year. If the Division does not issue all of the $10
million in credits authorized in a fiscal year, that amount is carried forward and may be issued in a subsequent fiscal year.

S.B. 284 (2021) made several changes to this tax credit program, including revising the procedure for the issuance of transferable tax credits so that transferable tax credits are issued before, rather than after, the project is completed;
removing the 4-year sunset provisions originally established by S.B. 448 (2019), making the program permanent; and clarifying that the maximum amount of tax credits that may be issued under the program remains at $40 million as
established in S.B. 448 (2019). These changes to the program do not affect the forecasts approved by the Economic Forum for this tax credit program for FY 2021, FY 2022, or FY 2023, which are based on information provided by the
Division.
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